

Ana Cristina Pais Mega de Andrade

EFFECTS OF SITAGLIPTIN THERAPY ON THE EVOLUTION OF PANCREATIC AND RENAL LESIONS IN TYPE 2 DIABETES - EXPERIMENTAL STUDY IN THE ZUCKER DIABETIC FATTY RAT MODEL

Doctoral Thesis in Health Sciences, supervised by Doctor Flávio Reis, Doctor Rosa Fernandes and Professor Edite Teixeira de Lemos, presented to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra.

February, 2017



Universidade de Coimbra

Ana Cristina Pais Mega de Andrade

Effects of sitagliptin therapy on the evolution of pancreatic and renal lesions in type 2 diabetes - experimental study in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat model

Efeitos da terapêutica com sitagliptina na evolução das lesões pancreáticas e renais na diabetes tipo 2 - Estudo experimental em ratos *Zucker Diabetic Fatty*

Doctoral Thesis in Health Sciences, supervised by Doctor Flávio Reis, Doctor Rosa Fernandes and Professor Edite Teixeira de Lemos, presented to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra.

Tese de Doutoramento em Ciências da Saúde, orientada pelo Doutor Flávio Reis, Doutora Rosa Fernandes e Professora Doutora Edite Teixeira de Lemos, apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra

February, 2017



Universidade de Coimbra

Experimental studies were conducted in the Laboratory of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, and in the Laboratory of Histopathology, Superior Agrarian School, Superior Polytechnic Institute of Viseu.

The presented work was supported by the Superior Polytechnic Institute of Viseu, the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), COMPETE-FEDER and POPH-QREN, through the following grants: PhD fellowship Ref: PROTEC-SFRH/BD/50139/2009 and FCT Strategic Projects PEst-C/SAU/UI3282/2013 (COMPETE: FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-03-7299) and UID/NEU/04539/2013 (Compete: POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007440).

Trabalho experimental realizado no Laboratório de Farmacologia e Terapêutica Experimental, Instituto de Imagem Biomédica e Ciências da Vida, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Coimbra, e no Laboratório de Anatomia Patológica, Escola Superior Agrária, Instituto Superior Politécnico de Viseu.

O presente trabalho foi apoiado pelo Instituto Superior Politécnico de Viseu, Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT), COMPETE-FEDER e POPH-QREN, através dos seguintes apoios: Bolsa de doutoramento Ref^a: PROTEC-SFRH/BD/50139/2009 e Projectos Estratégicos FCT PEst-C/SAU/UI3282/2013 (COMPETE: FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-03-7299) e UID/NEU/04539/2013 (Compete: POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007440).



Publications

The content of this thesis was partially or totally published in the following indexed international peer-reviewed scientific journals:

Mega C, Teixeira de Lemos E, Vala H, Fernandes R, Oliveira J, Mascarenhas-Melo F, Teixeira F, Reis F. Diabetic nephropathy amelioration by a low dose sitagliptin in an animal model of type 2 diabetes (Zucker diabetic fatty rat). *Experimental Diabetes Research* 2011; 2011:162092.

Mega C, Vala H, Rodrigues-Santos P, Oliveira J, Teixeira F, Fernandes R, Reis F, Teixeira de Lemos E. Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of endocrine and exocrine pancreatic damage in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat - focus on amelioration of metabolic profile and tissue cytoprotective properties. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome* 2014; 6: 42.

Marques C, **Mega C**, Gonçalves A, Rodrigues-Santos P, Teixeira-Lemos E, Teixeira F, Fontes-Ribeiro C, Reis F, Fernandes R. Sitagliptin prevents inflammation and apoptotic cell death in the kidney of type 2 diabetic animals. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2014; 2014: 538737.

Godinho R, **Mega C**, Teixeira-de-Lemos E, Carvalho E, Teixeira F, Fernandes R, Reis F. The Place of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes therapeutics: a "me too" or "the special one" antidiabetic class?" *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2015; 2015: 806979.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS/AGRADECIMENTOS

Aos meus Orientadores

Ao **Doutor Flávio Reis**, pela competência científica no acompanhamento do trabalho, pela disponibilidade, generosidade e compreensão reveladas ao longo destes anos, assim como, pelas críticas construtivas, correcções e sugestões que me nortearam pela imensidão do conhecimento. Pela liberdade que me concedeu em vários ponto de vista, pela consideração de opiniões e da minha maneira particular de estar e fazer, por me moldar e não formatar. Pela sua presença companheira e constante, essencial para a persecução deste projecto, foi a minha bússola científica e a minha rede de sustentação. Tenho por si a mais profunda admiração científica e humana, uma profunda amizade!

À **Doutora Rosa Fernandes**, que me transportou do mundo macro em que vivia para o mundo mágico da microquímica e, cuja preocupação com o detalhe, fez de mim uma melhor executante, atributos que me asseguraram o salvo-conduto pela selva intricada das micropipetas. Pela paciência com que transformou as minhas mãos sestras numas destras capazes. Por nos mandar comprar óculos. Pelo rigor da escrita. Pela preocupação e a constância do apoio, por questionar o meu trabalho sempre dum ângulo que não tinha previsto e pelo rigor científico oferecido. Pela força que me deu e que me impediu de cair quando as forças da vida assim o queriam. Tenho por si um imenso respeito científico e uma amizade sincera!

À **Professora Doutora Edite Teixeira de Lemos**, pelo desafio e convite para integrar o grupo de investigação, pela visão científica e objectiva que sempre colocou à minha disposição. Por me dar olhos maiores para descobrir os segredos da diabetes mellitus tipo 2. Por me relembrar a resiliência e a vontade de vencer que trazia em mim. Pelas mil palavras que poderia escrever, mas que na falta de espaço, ficam representadas no embrulho semântico da vivência que partilhámos. Tenho por si uma incomparável admiração!

i

Às minhas Instituições

Ao IBILI, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra:

Aos Excelentíssimos Senhores Directores do Laboratório de Farmacologia e Terapêutica Experimental, **Prof. Doutor Frederico Teixeira** e posteriormente, **Prof. Fontes Ribeiro**, a minha gratidão por me terem permitido ingressar e desenvolver o meu projecto científico. Pelo apoio, entusiasmo e simpatia sempre presentes que contribuíram significativamente para um excelente ambiente de trabalho.

Aos investigadores, docentes, funcionários do IBILI, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra, agradeço todo o apoio logístico e simpatia recebidos.

Ao Instituto Superior Politécnico de Viseu (ISPV):

Agradeço o apoio concedido através da Bolsa PROTEC-SFRH/BD/50139/2009.

À **Presidência do ISPV,** agradeço na pessoa do seu Presidente, **Professor Fernando Sebastião**, e ao seu Vice-Presidente, **Professor Doutor Pedro Rodrigues**, o incentivo, as palavras de apoio e amizade recebidas durante este percurso.

À **Presidência da ESAV**, agradeço a disponibilização do Laboratório de Anatomia Patológica para o desenvolvimento dos estudos histológicos e o apoio pessoal demonstrado durante todo este percurso.

Ao **Conselho Técnico-Científico da ESAV**, agradeço todos os esclarecimentos, apoio e simpatia recebidos no tratamento dos meus assuntos.

Ao **Departamento de Zootecnia, Engenharia Rural e Veterinária (DZERV),** na pessoa do seu Director, **Prof. Doutor José Luís Pereira** o meu agradecimento pela facilitação da organização das tarefas de modo a serem compatíveis com este projecto.

Às melhores funcionárias do mundo, as **Sras. Dª. Olinda Pais** e **Dª. Ilda Farias,** as minhas "bonecas", bem-haja pelos cafés, sorrisos e miminhos.

A todos os colegas e funcionários da ESAV/ISPV que de algum modo me ajudaram a poupar tempo ou me fizeram sorrir.

Aos meus **alunos**, pela alegria contagiante e por me mostrarem que o futuro está entregue em boas mãos. Despertam em mim toda a esperança e confiança do mundo!

ii

Aos meus anjos de laboratório

À **Professora Doutora Helena Vala**, pela colaboração nos estudos histopatológicos e pelas horas infinitas passadas ao microscópio para aclarar as incertezas das minhas observações. Por me elevar duma aprendiza de patologia a uma observadora segura. Pela partilha dos seus conhecimentos técnico-científicos e por confiar nos moldes em que desejava realizar os estudos histológicos. Pela paciência, pelo apoio, pelo respeito pessoal e científico. Tenho por si um respeito e uma amizade incondicional!

À **Professora Doutora Lina Carvalho** por me colocar certezas no lugar das dúvidas na avaliação da estrutura vascular do rim.

Ao **Doutor Paulo Rodrigues Santos** e **Doutora Isabel Velada** pelo apoio recebido durante os estudos realizados no Centro de Histocompatibilidade de Coimbra e no Laboratório de Biologia Molecular.

À **Mestre Carla Garcia**, pela paciência de tentar todos os tipos de recuperação antigénica à face da Terra, inclusivamente a temida panela de pressão; por me ter impedido de destruir milhares de lâminas e de pintar as bancadas do laboratório de roxo e fúcsia. Pela companhia, pela simpatia!

A um amigo bibliotecário

Ao **Dr. Luís Carneiro** pela ajuda na formatação das referências bibliográficas.

À minha designer preferida

À **Luísa Nogueira** pela criação dos efeitos artísticos na foto de capa, agradeço o talento que colocou ao meu dispor.

Aos meus amores

Aos **meus Pais**, pelo vosso amor incondicional! Por me terem educado numa perspectiva de trabalho, honestidade e resiliência. Por partilharem o vosso exemplo científico, profissional e pessoal, feito de dedicação, competência e integridade. Por terem sido mãe e pai dos meus filhos quando o ser estudante e trabalhadora não mo permitiam, por me substituírem com todo o amor e carinho que só os avós excepcionais sabem ter. Que este trabalho corresponda ao que esperam de mim e seja um motivo de orgulho para ambos. Tenho em vós um farol que me guia e o porto seguro que me acolhe!

Aos meus filhos, **João Maria** e **José Miguel**, por compreenderem as ausências ou a presença distante da mãe. Por entenderem que este projecto não é só meu, mas a via para estabilização da nossa família. Por nunca me condenarem por ser uma mãe diferente das outras, pela falta de bolos, mousse de chocolate, férias, fins-de-semana, passeios, histórias e outros divertimentos. Por entenderem os "Agora, não!". Pelo orgulho que sentem na mãe, não tanto pelas conquistas, mas por nunca desistir. Pela vossa alegria, carinho e apoio incondicional. Pelos vossos sorrisos que amo de paixão! Que o meu percurso seja um exemplo de resiliência para o vosso futuro. Tenho nos dois a minha força!

À **Gaby**, minha irmã, e ao **Nuno**, meu cunhado, por tudo aquilo que só vós sabem ser, irmãos, amigos, tios feitos mãe e pai. Pelo ombro, pelo carinho, pelo socorro sempre presente. Tenho em vós o maior apoio do mundo!

À minha **Avó Bertolina** e **Avó Aida**, pelo interesse e incentivo nos estudos da netinha. A vossa perda recente foi dolorosa, mas o vosso imenso carinho perdurará na minha vida. Tenho em vós duas lindas estrelas no céu!

Ao meu **Avô Zé Pais** pelo supremo exemplo de lutar e viver com integridade e justiça. Desde sempre a chama que me guia, o anjo que me protege. Tenho em si a coluna vertebral!

À minha restante família.

iv

Aos nossos colegas e amigos

Aos nossos colegas de doutoramento, os amigos **Filipa Melo**, **Patrícia Garrido** e **José Sereno**, por me fazerem sentir em casa, pela boa disposição, pela colaboração e entreajuda. Por finalmente me tratarem por "tu". Pelos almoços, jantares e viagens partilhadas, por algumas loucuras, pela vossa amizade e carinho. Tenho por todos uma amizade inesquecível!

À **Margarida Teixeira**, colega de doutoramento, por me ajudar a domar o epMotion e outros robôs igualmente infernais. Pelos SMS infindáveis acerca de comandos e botões. Pela alegria e amizade vividas entre micropipetas e Eppendorfs. Tenho por ti uma amizade anti-apoptótica!

Aos meus amigos que me apoiaram durante o percurso, pela paciência, a amizade e o carinho que recebi. Pela compreensão da minha ausência em infinitas ocasiões festivas. Pelo esforço de me providenciarem momentos de alegria, pela disponibilidade e encorajamento. Cármen Nóbrega, Adelaide Perdigão, Catarina Coelho, Carla Santos, Helena Vala, João Mesquita, Isabel Brito, Luísa Nogueira, Helena Esteves Correia, Abna Marques, Jorge Azevedo, Paulo Gomes, José Amaral e Hélder Viana. Tenho em vós uma permanente fonte de alegria!

Aos meus colegas e amigos de trabalho Helena Vala, Fernando Esteves, Carla Santos, João Mesquita, Rita Cruz, Diogo Themudo e Cármen Nóbrega, pela disponibilidade sempre presente para me facilitarem a organização das tarefas de modo a dispor de mais tempo para a concretização deste projecto, por serem a melhor equipa de trabalho do Mundo, pela vossa amizade e companheirismo. "Quando se trabalha com uma verdadeira equipa, não há obstáculo que não seja superado nem sucesso que não seja alcançado". Tenho em vós uma fonte de inspiração e orgulho!

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of figures List of tables Abbreviations and acronyms Abstract Resumo	xi xiii xv xix xxi 1 3 5 7 9
List of tables Abbreviations and acronyms Abstract Resumo S	xiii xv xix xxi 1 3 5 7 9
Abbreviations and acronyms Abstract 22 Resumo 23	xv xix xxi 1 3 5 7 9
Abstract Resumo	xix xxi 1 3 5 7 9
Resumo	xxi 1 3 5 7 9
	1 3 5 7 9
	1 3 5 7 9
PART I – INTRODUCTION AND AIMS	3 5 7 9
	3 5 7 9
Chapter 1 - The global burden of type 2 diabetes	5 7 9
1.1 Overview	7 9
1.2 Epidemiological data	9
1.3 Major features of T2DM pathophysiology	
1.3.1 The ominous octet	9
1.3.2 Clinical evolution	11
1.3.3 Effects of gluco-lipotoxicity on the β –cell	12
1.3.4 Insulin resistance	16
1.4 Major complications of T2DM – focus on diabetic nephropathy	17
1.4.1 Diabetic nephropathy	18
Chapter 2 - The incretin defect in T2DM pathophysiology	23
2.1. History of incretins	25
2.2 The role of natural incretins in glucose homeostasis	27
2.2.1 Insulinotropic and non-insulinotropic effects of incretins on	
pancreatic islet cells	29
2.2.2 Extrapancreatic effects of incretins	33
2.3 The incretin defect in T2DM	36
Chapter 3 – Incretin-based therapies - focus on sitagliptin	39
3.1 Main clinical features of sitagliptin	41
3.1.1 Pharmacodynamic	41
3.1.2 Pharmacokinetics	42
3.1.3 Clinical efficacy	43
3.1.4 Tolerability and safety	44
3.2 Cytoprotective effects of sitagliptin beyond glycaemic control	46
Chapter 4 – Aims	49

PART II – EXPERIMENTAL WORK

Chapter 5 – Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of endocrine and exocrine	
pancreatic damage in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat - focus on amelioration	
of metabolic profile and tissue cytoprotective properties	55
5.1 Background and aims	57
5.2 Methods	59
5.2.1 Animals and experimental design	59
5.2.2 Sample collection and preparation	60
5.2.3 Glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profile assays	61
5.2.4 Endocrine and exocrine pancreas lesions analysis by histopathology	61
5.2.5 Pancreatic protein expression by immunohistochemistry	62
5.2.6 Pancreatic gene (mRNA) expression analysis by RT-qPCR	63
5.2.7 Statistical analysis	64
5.3 Results	65
5.3.1 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profiles	65
5.3.2 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of endocrine and exocrine pancreas	67
lesions	67
5.3.3 Cytoprotective effects of sitagliptin against pancreatic damage	70
progression E.4. Discussion	70
5.4. Discussion	/5
Charter C. Citaglistic exclinates disketic werkverethy in the Zysker	
Diabetic Fatty Pat due to anti inflammatory and anti apontotic properties	Q1
6.1 Background and aims	83
6.2 Mothods	85
6.2.1 Animals and experimental design	00 06
6.2.2 Sample collection and proparation	00 06
6.2.2 Sample conection and preparation	00
6.2.3 Kidney function and trophism	80
6.2.4 Kidney lipid peroxidation	80
6.2.5 Histopathological analysis	8/
6.2.6 Kidney gene (mRNA) expression	88
6.2.7 Kidney Immunohistochemistry and fluorescence microscopy	88
6.2.8 Western blotting	89
6.2.9 Apoptosis assay	89
6.2.10 Statistical analysis	90
6.3. Results	91
6.3.1 Sitagliptin treatment partially improves kidney function	91
6.3.2 Sitagliptin treatment improves kidney lipidic peroxidation	92
6.3.3 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of renal lesions	92
6.3.4 Sitagliptin decreases the inflammatory state in the diabetic kidney	102
6.3.5 Sitagliptin protects the kidney against apoptotic cell death induced by	
diabetes	104
6.4. Discussion	106

Chapter 7 – General discussion	113
Chapter 8 – Main conclusions	127
REFERENCES	131

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 – Hormonal and organ dysfunctions that constitute the ominous octet.

Figure 1.2 – Effects of hyperglycaemia/glucotoxicity and hyperlipidaemia/lipotoxicity on the β -cell.

Figure 1.3 – Interconnection between metabolic and hemodynamic abnormalities involved in the pathophysiology of diabetic nephropathy.

Figure 2.1 – Main historic events that led to the development of incretin based therapies.

Figure 2.2 – Regulation of energy homeostasis.

Figure 2.3 – Glucose-mediated insulin secretion and insulinotropic effects of GLP-1 and GIP.

Figure 2.4 – Pancreatic and extrapancreatic effects of GLP-1 on glucose control.

Figure 3.1 – Hypoglycaemic actions of sitagliptin.

Figure 5.1 – Sitagliptin effects on inflammation and fibrosis of endocrine pancreas of diabetic ZDF rats.

Figure 5.2 – Sitagliptin effects on inflammation and fibrosis of exocrine pancreas of diabetic ZDF rats.

Figure 5.3 – Sitagliptin protects the diabetic ZDF rats against endocrine pancreas apoptotic cell death.

Figure 5.4 – Effects of sitagliptin treatment on pancreatic mRNA expression of mediators of inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation: IL-1 β , VEGF and PCNA.

Figure 5.5 – Sitagliptin prevents TRIB3 protein overexpression in pancreas of ZDF diabetic rats.

Figure 6.1 – Kidney lipidic peroxidation (MDA).

Figure 6.2 – Evolution of renal lesions with diabetes and age and in lean control and diabetic ZDF rats.

Figure 6.3 – Effects of chronic treatment with sitagliptin on glomerular lesions of diabetic ZDF rats.

Figure 6.4 – Effects of sitagliptin treatment on glomerular atrophy in diabetic (ZDF) rats.

Figure 6.5 – Effects of sitagliptin treatment on IFTA in diabetic (ZDF) rats.

Figure 6.6 – Effects of chronic sitagliptin treatment on glomerular and tubulointerstitial lesions.

Figure 6.7 – Sitagliptin decreases the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α in the diabetic kidney.

Figure 6.8 – Effect of sitagliptin treatment in Bax, Bcl-2, and Bid content and TUNEL-positive cells in the diabetic kidney.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 – Diagnostic criteria for intermediate hyperglycaemia and diabetes.

Table 5.1 – Body weight and glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profile in the rats under study at the initial and final times.

Table 6.1 – Effects of sitagliptin on renal trophism and function parameters.

Table 6.2 – Scoring and distribution of glomerular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rats' kidneys at the final time, 26 weeks of age (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment).

Table 6.3 – Scoring and distribution of tubular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rat's kidneys at the final time, 26 weeks of age (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment).

Table 6.4 – Scoring and distribution of vascular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rat's kidneys, at the final time, 26 weeks of age (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment).

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ADAAmerican Diabetes AssociationAIDSacquired Immunodeficiency SyndromeAIHWAustralian Institute of Health and WelfareAGEadvanced glycation end-productsAktprotein kinase B <i>alias</i> PKBAMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
AIDSacquired Immunodeficiency SyndromeAIHWAustralian Institute of Health and WelfareAGEadvanced glycation end-productsAktprotein kinase B alias PKBAMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
AIHWAustralian Institute of Health and WelfareAGEadvanced glycation end-productsAktprotein kinase B alias PKBAMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
AGEadvanced glycation end-productsAktprotein kinase B alias PKBAMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
Aktprotein kinase B alias PKBAMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
AMIacute myocardial infarctionASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
ASPacylation-stimulating proteinBaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
BaxBcl-2 associated X ProteinBcl-2B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
Bcl-2 B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2						
	B-Cell CLL/Lymphoma 2					
BID BH3 interacting-domain death agonist	BH3 interacting-domain death agonist					
BMI body mass index						
BP blood pressure						
BSA bovine serum albumin						
BUN blood urea nitrogen						
BW body weight						
cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate						
CB capsule of Bowman						
CKD chronic renal disease						
CNS central nervous system	central nervous system					
CVD cardiovascular disease						
CRP C-reactive Protein						
DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole						
DM diabetes mellitus						
DN diabetic nephropathy						
DNA deoxyribonucleic acid						
DOC deoxycholate						
DPP-4 dipeptidyl-peptidase 4						
sDPP-4 soluble dipeptidyl-peptidase 4						
DPP-8 dipeptidyl-peptidase 8						
DPP-9 dipeptidyl-peptidase 9						
EASD European Association for Study of Diabetes EASD						
EDTA ethylene-diaminetetra-acetic acid						
EGTA ethylene glycol tetra-acetic acid	ethylene glycol tetra-acetic acid					
EMA European Medicines Agency	European Medicines Agency					
ESRD end-stage renal disease						
EXAMINE Examination of Cardiovascular Outcomes with Alogliptin versus Stands	rd					
Syndrome	гy					
FDA Food and Drug Administration						
FFAs free-fatty acids						
FPG fasting plasma glucose						

G0	grade 0					
G1	grade 1					
G2	grade 2					
G3	grade 3					
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase					
GBM	glomerular basement membrane					
GI	gastrointestinal					
GIP	gastric inhibitory polypeptide / glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide					
GIPR	GIP receptor					
GLP-1	glucagon-like peptide 1					
GLP-1R	GLP-1 receptor					
GLUT-1	glucose transporter 1					
GLUT-2	glucose transporter 2					
GLUT-4	glucose transporter 4					
GPCRs	G-protein-coupled receptors					
HbA1c	glycated haemoglobin					
HDL	high density lipoproteins					
HE	haematoxylin and eosin					
HFD	high fed diet					
HGP	hepatic glucose production					
HF	heart failure					
H2O2	hydrogen peroxide					
HOMA-IR	homeostatic model assessment – insulin resistance					
HSL	hormone-sensitive lipase					
IAD	iodoacetamide					
IDF	International Diabetes Federation					
IFTA	interstitial fibrosis plus tubular atrophy					
IFG	impaired fasting glucose					
IGT	impaired glucose tolerance					
IL-1β	Interleucin-1-beta					
IL-6	Interleucin-6					
Ki-67	nuclear protein/antigen KI-67					
KW	kidney weight					
LDL	low density lipoproteins					
1.51						
LPL	lipoprotein lipase					
LPL LSAB	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method					
LPL LSAB MACE	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA MO	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde microwave oven					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA MO MS	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde microwave oven metabolic syndrome					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA MO MS NCD	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde microwave oven metabolic syndrome Non-Communicable Diseases					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA MO MS NCD NF-ĸB	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde microwave oven metabolic syndrome Non-Communicable Diseases nuclear factor kappa B					
LPL LSAB MACE MCP-1 MDA MO MS NCD NF-ĸB NICE	lipoprotein lipase labelled streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase method major adverse cardiovascular events monocyte chemotactic protein-1 malondialdehyde microwave oven metabolic syndrome Non-Communicable Diseases nuclear factor kappa B National Institute for Health and Care Excellence NICE					

NPY	neuropeptide Y					
ОСТ	optimal Cutting Temperature compound					
PAI-1	plasminogen activator inhibitor-1					
PAS	Periodic acid of Schiff					
PBS	phosphate buffered saline					
PCNA	cell proliferating nuclear antigen					
PCR	polymerase chain reaction					
РСТ	proximal convoluted tubule					
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase					
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride					
PPG	2-hours postprandial glucose					
PST	proximal straight tubule					
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride					
РҮҮ	pancreatic peptide YY					
Q	quick score					
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system					
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end products					
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid					
RIPA	radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer					
ROS	reactive oxygen species					
RPL13	ribosomal protein L13'					
RT-qPCR	real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction					
SAVOR-TIMI 53	Saxagliptin Assessment of Vascular Outcomes Recorded in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus					
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate					
SEM	standard error of the mean					
SGLT1	sodium/glucose cotransporter-1					
SGLT2	sodium/glucose cotransporter-2					
SPSS	statistical package for the social sciences					
TAS	serum total antioxidant status					
ТВА	2-thiobarbituric acid					
TBARs	thiobarbituric acid reactive-species					
T1DM	type 1 diabetes mellitus					
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus					
TECOS	Trial Evaluating Cardiovascular Outcomes with Sitagliptin					
TAG	triacylglycerol					
ТВМ	tubular basement membrane					
TGs	triglycerides					
ТМР	1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane					
TNF-α	tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha					
Total-c	total cholesterol					
TOP1	topoisomerase (DNA) I					
TRIB3	tribbles pseudokinase 3					
TUNEL	deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling					
USA	United States of America					
USPSTF	United States Preventive Services Task Force					

dUTP	2´-Deoxyuridine, 5´-Triphosphate
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
VP	vascular pole
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VLDL	very low density lipoproteins
WHO	World Health Organization
ZDF	Zucker Diabetic Fatty

ABSTRACT

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a leading cause of reduced life expectancy, disability, blindness, chronic renal disease and diminished quality of life, as well as, of personal, familial and economic losses. Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) constitutes about 90% of the total of DM cases, and the prevalence numbers are increasing worldwide, including in Portugal. Regardless of the advances in the pharmacological management of DM, many patients still have poor glycaemic control and register progression of several associated complications, namely diabetic nephropathy (DN). DN is the main cause of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and a major cause of patients' disability. Therefore, new therapeutic approaches are needed to better control the disease and delay the evolution of diabetic complications. The incretin-based therapies, including the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors, have shown ability to improve glycaemic control and ameliorate dysfunction of diabetes-targeted organs, including the pancreas and the kidney. Our group has previously shown that sitagliptin, the first DPP-4 inhibitor, was able to improve glycaemic and lipidic profile in an animal model of T2DM, showing systemic antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties.

The purpose of this study was to investigate some of the possible mechanisms underlying the protective effects of sitagliptin on pancreatic and renal tissues, in an animal model of T2DM, focusing on apoptosis, oxidative stress, inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation mediators and markers. Male obese diabetic Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rats, aged 20 weeks, were treated with sitagliptin (10 mg/kg BW/day) during 6 weeks and compared to lean ZDF littermates.

Sitagliptin treatment during 6 weeks was able to ameliorate all the metabolic (glycaemic, lipidic and insulinaemic) parameters in the ZDF rats. In addition, evolution of endocrine and exocrine pancreas lesions was prevented by sitagliptin treatment. This was accompanied by a reduced pancreas Bax/Bcl-2 ratio and IL-1 β expression, suggestive of an antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory effect, respectively. Furthermore, sitagliptin promoted a significant overexpression of PCNA and VEGF, indicating pro-proliferative and pro-angiogenic properties, respectively.

In the diabetic kidney, sitagliptin prevented the aggravation of renal damage, including glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular lesions, as well as, decreased renal

xix

lipid peroxidation, IL-1 β and TNF- α levels. Moreover, kidney Bax/Bcl-2 ratio, Bid protein levels and TUNEL-positive cells were decreased after sitagliptin treatment. Altogether, these data indicate protective effects against oxidative stress, inflammation and the pro-apoptotic state in the kidney of diabetic rats.

In conclusion, in this animal model of obese T2DM (ZDF rat), besides improving glycaemic control, sitagliptin exerted beneficial effects on pancreas and kidney. This study provides new insights into the cytoprotective actions of sitagliptin, namely its anti-apoptotic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and pro-proliferative properties. These findings might contribute to the development of novel approaches to manage T2DM and DN.

Keywords: type 2 diabetes, sitagliptin, cytoprotective properties, pancreas, kidneys, Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat.

RESUMO

A diabetes mellitus (DM) é uma das principais doenças responsáveis por incapacidade física, cegueira, insuficiência renal crónica e pela redução da qualidade e da esperança de vida, bem como de elevadas perdas pessoais, familiares e económicas. A DM tipo 2 (T2DM) representa cerca de 90% dos casos de DM, estando a sua prevalência a aumentar a nível mundial, incluindo em Portugal. Apesar dos avanços farmacológicos no tratamento da T2DM, muitos doentes ainda apresentam um controlo glicémico deficiente, assim como um agravamento da doença e das suas complicações, nomeadamente da nefropatia diabética (DN). A DN constitui a principal causa de doença renal terminal (ESRD), sendo uma das principais causas de incapacidade física dos doentes. Perante este quadro, são necessárias novas abordagens terapêuticas para controlar melhor a evolução da T2DM e retardar a progressão das complicações associadas. As terapias baseadas em incretinas, incluindo os inibidores da dipeptidil peptidase-4 (DPP-4), demonstraram capacidade para melhorar o controlo glicémico e contribuir para melhorar a disfunção de órgãos alvo da diabetes, entre os quais se encontram o pâncreas e o rim. O nosso grupo demonstrou previamente que a sitagliptina, o primeiro inibidor da DPP-4, foi capaz de melhorar o perfil glicémico e lipídico num modelo animal de T2DM, exibindo ainda propriedades antioxidantes e anti-inflamatórias a nível sistémico.

O objectivo deste estudo foi investigar alguns dos possíveis mecanismos subjacentes aos efeitos protectores da sitagliptina no tecido pancreático e renal, num modelo animal de *T2DM*, focando os mediadores e marcadores de apoptose, stresse oxidativo, inflamação, angiogénese e proliferação. Ratos obesos e diabéticos *Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF)*, do sexo masculino, com 20 semanas de idade, foram tratados com sitagliptina (10 mg/kg /dia) durante 6 semanas e comparados com os seus controlos, ratos ZDF magros.

O tratamento com sitagliptina, durante as 6 semanas, melhorou todos os parâmetros metabólicos (glicémicos, lipídicos e insulinémicos) nos ratos diabéticos *ZDF*. Adicionalmente, a sitagliptina evitou o agravamento das lesões pancreáticas endócrinas e exócrinas, apresentando simultaneamente uma redução, da expressão de *Bax/Bcl-2* e de *IL-16* no pâncreas, sugerindo um efeito anti-apoptótico e anti-

xxi

inflamatório, respectivamente. Além disso, a sitagliptina promoveu um aumento significativo da expressão de *PCNA* e de *VEGF*, indicando propriedades pró-proliferativas e pró-angiogénicas, respectivamente.

No rim diabético, a sitagliptina preveniu o agravamento das lesões renais, nomeadamente das glomerulares, túbulo-intersticiais e vasculares, e diminuiu a peroxidação lipídica e os níveis de *IL-16* e de *TNF-* α . Concomitantemente, o tratamento com sitagliptina reduziu a razão *Bax/Bcl-2*, os níveis de proteína *Bid* e as células *TUNEL*positivas no rim dos ratos diabéticos. Em conjunto, estes dados indicam efeitos protectores contra o stresse oxidativo, a inflamação e o estado pró-apoptótico no rim de ratos diabéticos.

Em conclusão, neste modelo animal obeso de *T2DM* (o rato *ZDF*), a sitagliptina, para além de melhorar o controlo glicémico, exerceu efeitos benéficos ao nível do pâncreas e do rim. Este estudo oferece uma nova perspectiva sobre as acções citoprotectoras da sitagliptina, nomeadamente em relação às suas propriedades anti-apoptóticas, antioxidante, anti-inflamatória e pró-proliferativa. Estas descobertas podem contribuir para o desenvolvimento de novas abordagens para o tratamento da *T2DM* e da *DN*.

Palavras-chave: diabetes mellitus tipo 2, sitagliptina, propriedades citoprotectoras, pâncreas, rim, ratos *Zucker Diabetic Fatty*.

PART I:

INTRODUCTION AND AIMS

Chapter1

The global burden of type 2 diabetes

"I like beautiful melodies telling me terrible things." Tom Waits (Musician)

1.1 OVERVIEW

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a heterogeneous group of chronic, serious disorders, characterized by a defect in insulin secretion and/or peripheral insulin resistance (in muscle, liver and fat cells). Both phenomena isolated or in combination, reduce glucose entry into cells, contributing to persistent hyperglycaemia, which seriously raises the risk of microvascular (nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy) and macrovascular (ischaemic heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease) complications. DM is associated with diminished quality of life and reduced life expectancy (Cernea et al., 2013; Forbes et al., 2013).

Diagnostic criteria for DM and intermediate hyperglycaemia (also known as prediabetes) have been established by the World Health Organization (WHO), the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), as well as by regional diabetes associations, such as the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists/American College of Endocrinology (AACE/ACE) (WHO, 2006; EASD, 2013; IDF, 2015; AACE/ACE, 2016; ADA, 2017). These criteria are based on fasting plasma glucose (FPG) levels, on 2-hour plasma glucose (2-h PG) levels following a 75g oral glucose load in an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and on glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), as represented on Table 1.1 regarding ADA guidelines. Individuals with glucose levels above the normal range, but which do not yet meet the criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes are said to have intermediate hyperglycaemia, which is a state in which a person has impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or impaired fasting glucose (IFG). IGT and IFG are not clinical entities, but rather risk factors for development of T2DM and cardiovascular disease (CVD).

Diagnostic	INTERMEDIATE HYPERGLYCAEMIA			
criteria	NORMAL	IGT	IFG	DIABETES
FPG	< 5.5 mmol/l (100 mg/dl)	< 7.0 mmol/l (126 mg/ dl)	5.6-6.9 mmol/l (100-125 mg/ dl)	≥ 7.0 mmol/l (126 mg/ dl)
2-h PG	< 7.8 mmol/l (140 mg/dl)	7.8-11.0 mmol/l (140-199 mg/dl	< 7.8 mmol/l (140mg/ dl)	≥ 11.1 mmol/l (200 mg/dl)
HbA1c	<5.5%	5.5 to 6.4%	5.5 to 6.4%	≥6.5%

Table 1.1 – Diagnostic criteria for intermediate hyperglycaemia and diabetes

FPG - fasting plasma glucose; 2-h PG - 2-hour plasma glucose levels; HbA1c – glycated haemoglobin A1c; IGT - impaired glucose tolerance and IFG - impaired fasting glucose. * Fasting is defined as no caloric intake for at least 8 h. Adapted from ADA (2017).

DM is expressed in many disease formats, being type 1 (T1DM) and T2DM the two most common forms. Both are caused by a combination of genetic and environmental risk factors (Thanabalasingham et al., 2011). T1DM is caused and initiated by the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cells, and represents approximately 10% of all cases of DM. In contrast, T2DM is the most common form of the disease, accounting for approximately 90 % of all affected individuals (Lyssenko, 2013; ADA 2017). It is mostly initiated by a peripheral insulin resistance and evolves to a relative impaired insulin secretion, which, combined, evolve to persistent hyperglycaemia, β-cell impairment and all of its associated micro and macrovascular complications. It was previously designated as non-insulin-dependent diabetes (NIDDM) or adult-onset diabetes. T2DM is a metabolic disorder with a multifactorial aetiology, with involvement of oxidative stress and inflammation, characterized by disturbances in energy metabolism. There seems to be a genetic component with many genes involved, but their link to the development of the disease is difficult to clarify due to the heterogeneity of the concurring environmental agents, such as lifestyle and neonatal environment during gestation (Baig, 2008; Ozougwu et al., 2013).

6
Although there is some disparity regarding the many reasons for the development of T2DM, most physicians and scientists have agreed, over the last four decades, that T2DM develops when a diabetogenic lifestyle acts in conjunction with a predisposed genotype, in which the majority of patients exhibit an obese physical profile (Sanghera et al., 2012; IDF, 2014; ADA, 2016). Thus body mass index (BMI), excess weight duration, and distribution of corporal adiposity provide reliable indicators that can be associated to the risk level of an individual developing T2DM. This risk is co-dependent on age (over 45 years), gender (women previously diagnosed with gestational diabetes), ethnicity (African American, Latino, Native American, Asian American, Pacific Islander), high-energy diets, sedentary life, family history of T2DM with an affected first-degree relative, IGT, IFG, hypertension and dyslipidaemia (hypertriglyceridaemia and/or hypercholesterolaemia) are also predisposing factors for the development of T2DM (ADA, 2017). Remarkably, long term consumption of highenergy diets constitutes an independent risk factor, not needing to be related to the obesity baselines for the development of T2DM (Jerant et al., 2015; Nuttall, 2015). Though the main age risk group lies in the population over 45 years, clinically based reports and regional studies suggest that T2DM is being more frequently diagnosed in children and adolescents with a consumption of high-energy diets, a sedentary lifestyle and with an affected first-degree relative (Sahoo et al., 2015; Atkin et al., 2016).

1.2 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

The United Nations has declared that the global burden of chronic Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs) constitutes one of the major challenges/obstacles for progress in the 21st century, particularly in developing countries. DM, along with cancer, CVDs and chronic respiratory diseases, represents about 80% of NCD mortality (WHO, 2013).

Diabetes epidemiological studies are performed every year, worldwide, considering the total population in the age group between 20 and 79 years. IDF has updated its 7th edition report and the latest register for 2015 displays 415 million

people with diabetes worldwide, paralleling to one adult in eleven, representing a prevalence of 8.8%, which expresses an increase of 28 million more cases and a rise of 0.5% in prevalence, in comparison to the 2014 IDF data (IDF 2014; IDF, 2015). About 75% of affected people live in low and middle income countries. Demographic distribution shows that Western Pacific and South-East Asia are the most afflicted regions, with 153.2 million and 78.3 million people affected by DM, respectively. Diabetes and its complications accounted for 5.0 million deaths in 2015, representing 14.5% of global all-cause mortality among people in this age group, in which 46.6% were individuals under 60 years old. This death-toll is higher than the combined number of deaths from main infectious diseases in 2013 (1.5 million deaths from HIV/AIDS, 1.5 million from tuberculosis and 0.6 million from malaria) (WHO, 2013; IDF, 2015). At the same time, it is estimated that 193 million people are still undiagnosed worldwide and that every six seconds a person dies from diabetes (IDF, 2015). If these trends continue, by 2040 some 642 million people, or one adult in ten, will have diabetes. The largest increase will take place in the regions where economies are moving from low-income to middle-income levels.

Although the prevalence of T2DM increases with population age, IDF (2015) reports that there are 320.5 million working age (20-64 years) and 94.2 million aged 65-79 people with diabetes. In developing countries, the largest number of people with diabetes lies in the 45 to 64 years age group, while in developed countries the largest number is found in those aged 65 years and older. This discrepancy largely reflects the differences in population age structure between developed and developing countries. For some time now, evidence-based medicine has long been registering a surge of T2DM in worldwide young adult population, and this has urged new epidemiological studies in various countries (AIHW, 2014; Chung et al., 2014). Among people aged 35 - 44 years, which do not come under the recommendation (45 years) for universal screening by ADA, most (71%) were found to be overweight or obese and all had at least one other ADA risk factor. Only 34% of individuals aged ≥ 35 years met United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) criteria, which means if these guidelines were strictly followed, it would have resulted in the majority (61%) of potential positive test cases being missed (5,508.164 cases in the USA) (Chung et al., 2014). There is little gender difference in the global number of people affected by

diabetes in 2015 and estimated for 2040. There are about 15.6 million more men than women with diabetes (215.2 million men vs 199.5 million women) (IDF, 2015).

The Portuguese situation follows the same trend, as the latest data from 2014 show, in the population between 20 and 79 years (7.7 million people), a 7.4% estimated prevalence of diagnosed diabetes (over 1 million people), with 5.7% of undiagnosed individuals, which is considered by the National Diabetes Observatory Report (2015) to correspond to a total prevalence of 13.1%. Furthermore, 27.2% of the population (2.1 million people) displays intermediate hyperglycaemia, which together with a 13.1% total prevalence, indicates that about 40.3% (3.1 million individuals) of the Portuguese population already have diabetes or is at great risk of developing the disease. As to sex distribution, males have greater prevalence (15.8%) than females (10.8%). In 2013, 4,683 deaths were registered due to diabetes, with the mean age of death being of 80.2 years. As to the main diabetic complications, the prevalence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) was 27.8% in 2014 (Observatório Nacional da Diabetes, 2015).

Summarizing, T2DM is a chronic disease in which aggravation leads to macroand microvascular complications that result in severe illness and premature death, with elevated personal, familial and economic costs. Aetiology is heterogeneous, presenting a genetic predisposition for which an effective screening method is not yet available, as well as, various civilizational/environmental factors that will be hard to change. These features and the daunting epidemiological scenario demand lifestyle and disease education, earlier screening protocols, improved diagnostic methods and urgent development of effective therapeutic management strategies, as it is necessary to treat the existing and the expected forthcoming millions of diabetic patients.

1.3 MAJOR FEATURES OF T2DM PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

1.3.1 The ominous octet

Although the β -cell is the final common denominator of glucose dysregulation, other mediating pathways of hyperglycaemia, surrounding the β -cell, are also implicated in T2DM pathogenesis. Many of these pathways have already been

considered or are under investigation as therapeutic targets for this disease (Schwartz et al., 2016).

In 1988, DeFronzo called the association of hyperglycaemia, muscle/liver insulin resistance, and β -cell failure, the triumvirate of T2DM's pathophysiological evolution. By 2009, the worldwide increased interest in diabetes research, revealed other key players in T2DM aggravation, which turned the initial triumvirate into De Fronzo's ominous octet (Fig. 1.1). This octet maintains the triumvirate factors, but adds the newly discovered roles played by enhanced lipolysis, hyperglucagonaemia, dysregulation of hepatic glucose production (HGP), brain insulin resistance, increased renal glucose reabsorption, and incretin deficiency (DeFronzo, 2009). These eight factors can be divided into hormonal and organ dysfunctions (Fig. 1.1). Hormonal dysfunction involves decreased insulin and amylin secretion and increased glucagon secretion by the pancreas, as well as, decreased incretin effect (described in Chapter 2). Organ dysfunctions comprise increased HGP, renal glucose reabsorption and lipolysis, as well as, neurotransmitter dysfunction (De Fronzo, 2009).



Figure 1.1 – Hormonal and organ dysfunctions that constitute the ominous octet (Source: Battling A1C.com., 2015. Accessed 28th of August, 2016).

1.3.2 Clinical evolution

Many T2DM patients do not present symptoms during the first few years of disease development. Patients are either diagnosed by general routine testing, or when the disease is symptomatic and well advanced and there is already a major loss of β -cell function or mass. This undiagnosed phase, which can last for several years, is characterized by the presence of intermediate hyperglycaemia, which could evolve to overt T2DM. If other dysmetabolic factors are concomitantly present, it is usually called metabolic syndrome (MS), which contributes, and is directly related to the development of T2DM and CVD (King, 2015). Clinically, MS comprehends central obesity and insulin resistance as important causative features with the additional presence of any two of the following four factors: raised triglycerides (TGs), reduced high density lipoproteins cholesterol (HDL-c), raised blood pressure (BP), raised FPG or previously diagnosed T2DM (IDF, 2006).

In T2DM, insulin levels may appear normal, elevated or even reduced. To counterbalance hyperglycaemia, insulin values initially rise, which is viewed as compensatory hyperinsulinaemia. As insulin resistance increases and demands more insulin to maintain euglycaemia, compensatory mechanisms induce β -cell mass to expand through processes of hyperplasia, hypertrophy, as well as, by development of new islets from exocrine pancreatic ducts (Fonseca, 2009; Bonner-Weir, et al., 2012). However, high insulin levels cannot be sustained indefinitely and the progression of the disease, with the relentless effects of chronic hyperglycaemia, start to exhaust the β -cell's functional reserve, which will drop progressively and lead to the collapse of insulin secretory capacity. With disease aggravation, the sustainability of many metabolic factors begins to decline and reach defective levels in these patients, including insulin secretion (Cerf, 2013). Relative insulinopaenia starts when insulin secretion is inadequate to cover the elevated demand created by hyperglycaemia. Eventually, insulinopaenia is aggravated by the state of severe secretory disability of the β -cell. This loss of secretory capacity begins many years before clinical diagnosis. In addition, the molecular mechanisms underlying the development of complications, especially the macrovascular ones, are already in progress many years before the diagnosis, which justifies the classification of diabetes as a progressive (and for many years silent) disease (Zinman, 2006; Teixeira de Lemos et al., 2007; Cornell, 2015).

1.3.3 Effects of gluco-lipotoxicity on the β -cell

Essentially, hyperglycaemia acts in three ways on the β -cell: glucose desensitization, β-cell exhaustion, and glucotoxicity. Glucose desensitization refers to the rapid and reversible refractory phase of the β -cell exocytosis apparatus that occurs after acute exposure to elevated glucose. It is a physiological and reversible state of cellular refractoriness, thus differentiating it from β -cell exhaustion. β -cell exhaustion refers to depletion of the readily releasable pool of intracellular insulin following prolonged exposure to a stimulus (Wilcox, 2005; Fu et al., 2013). The result of this chronic stimulation with glucose is that insulin secretion will not resume until a rest period occurs. The distinction between β -cell exhaustion and glucose toxicity therefore, is that the exhausted islet has no defects in insulin synthesis, and thus cell function fully recovers as it rests. Glucotoxicity is the slow, progressive and irreversible effect of chronic hyperglycaemia on pancreatic β -cell function and survival capacity. Gradual damage occurs to the cellular components involved in insulin production, compromising insulin content and secretion over time. The glucotoxicity state promotes a decline in β -cell function by inducing abnormal insulin gene expression, decreased mitochondrial function, compromised exocytosis mechanisms, and increased apoptosis, thus decreasing insulin secretion and content (Yang et al., 2011). Also, the shorter the period of glucose toxicity exposure, the more likely that full recovery of β -cell function will occur (Gleason et al., 2000). The fact that these associated β -cell defects are reversible up until a certain point in time, and then become irreversible thereafter, suggests a continuum between β -cell exhaustion and glucotoxicity, becoming the latter predominant after prolonged exposure (Moran et al., 1997; Gleason et al., 2000; Fu et al., 2013). The insulin gene is expressed almost exclusively in pancreatic β -cells, making this cell type the key hormonal regulator of glucose homeostasis in the body. Metabolic regulation of insulin gene expression enables the β -cell to maintain adequate stores of intracellular insulin to sustain the secretory demand. Glucose is the major physiologic regulator of insulin gene expression; it co-ordinately controls the recruitment of transcription factors and the stability of insulin mRNA (Jung et al., 2014; Poitout et al., 2002). Glucotoxicity, inflammation and oxidative stress originated by hyperglycaemia, incites an inflammatory process in the pancreas proven by the observation of in vivo production

of Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β) in β -cells of pancreatic tissue sections of T2DM patients, but absent in non-diabetic control subjects. IL-1 β inhibits β -cell function and promotes apoptosis; supporting the concept that islet inflammation is present and is detrimental to its function. Besides confirming the inflammatory process, it seems feasible that the IL-1 β pathway could be a target to preserve β -cell mass and function (Maedler et al., 2002, Lemos et al., 2008). Interestingly, most of these factors that are involved in this inflammatory process play a role in regulation of β -cell secretory function and cell turnover. β -cell pathophysiology seems to be strongly influenced by the low-grade chronic inflammation state, which is accompanied by an activation of monocytes and other mononuclear leucocytes, as well as, increased levels of other inflammatory markers, like tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and Interleukin-6 (IL-6) (Bastard et al., 2006; Shoelson et al., 2006; King, 2008; Poitout et al., 2008; Cerf, 2013).

Hyperglycaemia also creates a systemic state of oxidative stress and an increased production of free radicals, present in diabetic patients and in animal models of T2DM, which occurs in the presence of excessive levels of oxidative stressors or in a state of reduced antioxidant defences (Ceriello, 2003; Fridlyand et al., 2006; Ceriello et al., 2008; Teixeira-Lemos et al., 2011). The major sources implicated in oxidative stress in T2DM, include glucose auto-oxidation, overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by mitochondria, non-enzymatic glycation that produce advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs), and the polyol pathway (Rains et al., 2001; Giacco et al., 2010; Sayed et al., 2011). High intracellular glucose levels intensify oxidative stress by increasing the electron transfer in the electron transport chain in mitochondria, generating a rise in ROS (Rolo et al., 2006; Pitocco et al., 2010). Furthermore, the redox balance is altered and affects redox-sensitive proteins, which also enhances mitochondrial ROS production. Increased mitochondrial ROS, damage mitochondrial components, such as deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), membrane proteins and lipids, and opens the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (Mantel et al., 2011), releasing proapoptotic proteins from the mitochondria, such as cytochrome c, which can lead to induction of cell death. It is believed that ROS generated in the mitochondrial respiratory chain can act as secondary messengers for activation of inflammatory signalling pathways, involving TNF- α and IL-1 β (Rolo et al., 2006). Thus, oxidative stress and inflammation seem to generate an endless pathological looping, where one

generates the other, and vice versa, aggravating the initial adverse effects mediated by hyperglycaemia and promoting diabetes evolution.

Damage incited by the binary association hyperglycaemia/glucotoxicity, is supported in disease evolution by another associated binary, hyperlipidaemia/ lipotoxicity, being these two pairs crucial sponsors of β -cell death by promoting inflammation and oxidative stress (Fig. 1.2). High levels of glucose and lipids originate an inflammatory response by stimulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and promoting lipid peroxidation, thus contributing to β -cell degradation, particularly by activating apoptosis pathways (Donath et al, 2008).



Figure 1.2 – Effects of hyperglycaemia/glucotoxicity and hyperlipidaemia/lipotoxicity on the β -cell. Both factors sponsor insulin secretion dysfunction and β -cell apoptosis through inflammation and oxidative stress. Abreviations: IL-1 β – interleukin 1 beta; TNF- α – tumor

factor necrosis alpha; IL-6 – interleukin-6; ROS – Reactive oxygen species; AGEs – Advanced glycation end products.

The adipose tissues of obese and T2DM individuals are in a state of chronic inflammation, infiltrated by mononuclear cells (Furler et al., 2006). These adipocytes and macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory/prothrombotic cytokines, such as, TNF- α , IL-6, resistin, adipsin, acylation-stimulating protein (ASP), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and angiotensinogen, that promote atherogenesis and induce insulin resistance (Teixeira-Lemos et al., 2011) Furthermore, oxidative stress produces ROS and AGE that contribute to β -cell damage and apoptosis. Consequently, lipotoxicity is involved in the modulation of β -cell function and survival (Jung et al., 2014; Sayed et al., 2011; De Fronzo, 2009; Pérez-Matute et al., 2009; Bonora, 2008).

The influence of hyperlipidaemia on the β -cells of individuals will depend on their specific lipid profile, as some free-fatty acids (FFAs) and lipoproteins have shown to be pro-apoptotic for the β -cell, and others, to be protective. Long-term exposure of β -cells to saturated FFAs, such as palmitate, appears highly toxic, while monounsaturated FFAs, such as oleate, protect against both palmitate and glucoseinduced β -cell apoptosis (Maedler et al., 2001; Maedler et al., 2003). Lipoproteins may also affect β -cell survival and function in a similar way, whereby very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) and low density lipoproteins (LDL) are pro-apoptotic, high density lipoproteins HDL are protective (Roehrich et al., 2003; Rutti et al., 2007). These lipotoxicity effects are influenced by the prevailing hyperglycaemia, demonstrating that lipotoxicity and glucotoxicity, in concert, determine β -cell failure (Poitout et al., 2002; El-Assaad et al., 2003; Teixeira de Lemos et al., 2012).

The mechanisms regulating β -cell apoptosis and proliferation are inseparable processes in T2DM evolution, as net β -cell mass results from the balance between apoptosis and regeneration or/and proliferation. The greater the apoptosis/ proliferation ratio, the more severe is disease aggravation and the resulting insulinopaenia (Donath et al., 2005). In vivo-stimulated β -cell proliferation seems to be multifactorial and cell proliferating nuclear antigen (PCNA) and nuclear protein/antigen Ki-67 (Ki-67) seem to be involved (Kulkarni et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2004; Hussain et al., 2006). Islet vascularization is crucial for pancreatic development

and maintenance, largely via vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A mediated signals. In addition to providing an outlet for blood flow, intra-islet endothelial cells directly enhance insulin transcription and secretion and stimulate β -cell proliferation (Nikolova et al., 2006). VEGF-A expression in islets is further upregulated by hypoxia and glucose, being important in the maintenance of β -cell mass and revascularization of islets following transplantation or regeneration (Zhang et al., 2004; Xiao et al., 2013). However, in diabetic patients, exposed chronically to hyperglycaemia, VEGF production in response to hypoxia is decreased (Thangarajaha et al., 2009).

1.3.4 Insulin resistance

In T2DM, disruption of the normal relationship between β -cell function and insulin sensitivity/resistance is central to the pathogenesis of hyperglycaemia and is well established by the time the patient's abnormal glycaemic levels are discovered. Normal glucose regulation is dependent on a feedback loop among the liver, peripheral tissues (primarily muscle), and pancreatic islet cells. In individuals with normal islet function, the pancreatic islet β -cells adapt to the reductions in insulin sensitivity, insulin resistance, in the hepatic and peripheral tissues by increasing insulin secretion, and thereby, preventing the development of fasting hyperglycaemia. Continuous exposure to insulin causes a reduction in the number of insulin receptors exposed on the cell surface of these tissues by promoting internalization, as well as, degradation of hormone-occupied receptors, which further aggravates insulin resistance (De Fronzo, 2009).

Obesity or excess adipose tissue is recognized as one of the most important factors in the genesis of insulin resistance, particularly when a visceral pattern distribution of adiposity is present, with large adipocytes that are resistant to insulininduced lipolysis suppression, contributing to a chronic increase in FFAs and glycerol due to the uninhibited lipolysis (Ginsberg, 2000; Maedler et al. 2001; Yano et al., 2004; Laakso, 2010; Teixeira de Lemos et al., 2012). Chronically increased plasma FFAs and intramyocellular levels of toxic lipid metabolites play a role in the pathogenesis of muscle/liver insulin resistance, which activate isoforms of protein kinase C, blocking cellular insulin signalling in these tissues (Cushman et al., 2002; Wellen et al. 2003;

Belfort et al., 2005). The increase of intracellular FFAs leads to a decreased translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT-4) to the plasma membrane, contributing to insulin resistance in muscle and adipose tissue (Talior et al, 2003; Teixeira-Lemos et al., 2011). The adipocytes, besides producing abnormal inflammatory adipocytokines, also fail to secrete normal amounts of insulin-sensitizing adipocytokines, namely adiponectin (Bays et al., 2004; Furler et al., 2006).

Besides peripheral insulin resistance, T2DM also exhibits central insulin resistance in the central nervous system (CNS) where insulin signalling seems to be a crucial regulator of energy homeostasis (Hayes et al., 2014).

1.4 MAJOR COMPLICATIONS OF T2DM – FOCUS ON DIABETIC NEPHROPATHY

Diabetes is recognised as being a group of chronic diseases characterized by hyperglycaemia where the importance of protecting the body from excessive glucose circulation cannot be overstated. The direct and indirect effects of hyperglycaemia on the vascular system constitute a major source for complications (Bae, 2016). The longterm multiple complications of T2DM are shared with T1DM, although timing and mechanisms may somewhat differ between these two forms of diabetes (IDF, 2014).

Generally, diabetic complications are divided into macrovascular (coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, and stroke) and microvascular complications [diabetic nephropathy (DN), neuropathy and retinopathy] (Chawla et al., 2016). Diabetic patients develop macrovascular complications at a much faster rate in comparison to non-diabetic individuals, and cardiovascular risk is increased up to tenfold, these include myocardial infarction, stroke and limb amputations (Gray et al., 2014).Diabetic neuropathy is responsible for neuropathic pain and loss of motor and sensory nerve function in somatic and visceral organs. Amputation of limb extremities, due to necrosis via vascular and neuropathic alterations, is also a dramatic outcome of the disease (Whaley-Connell et al., 2014).Diabetic retinopathy is a leading cause of blindness, being diabetic macular oedema responsible for most of the visual loss experienced in T2DM (Lee et al., 2015).DN originates insidious CKD, which leads progressively to end-stage renal disease (ESRD), a condition often requiring dialysis or transplantation as last therapeutic options (Narres et al., 2016; ADA, 2017).

1.4.1 Diabetic nephropathy

DN is now the single commonest cause of ESRD worldwide and one of the main causes of death in diabetic patients. It is also acknowledged as an independent risk factor for CVD. In recent years, new pathways involved in the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease have been elucidated and accumulated data have emphasized the critical role of many factors in the pathogenesis of DN (Laakso et al., 2010; Laakso et al., 2011; Chawla et al., 2016).

The kidney, besides contributing to the aggravation of hyperglycaemia in T2DM through gluconeogenesis (Gerich et al., 2010) and glucose reabsorption, does not remain unscathed through diabetic evolution, developing progressive lesions and functional impairments that lead to DN (Nauck, 2014). There is emerging evidence that microvascular kidney disease begins prior to the onset of diabetes, and this occurs with microalbuminuria and decreased renal function (Jefferson et al., 2008).

Haemodynamic and metabolic factors, with a central role for chronic hyperglycaemia, have key roles in the pathophysiology of DN (Fig.1.3). In recent years, new pathways involved in the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease have been elucidated and have emphasized the critical role of reactive oxidative stress (Cao et al., 2011) and inflammation (Duran-Salgado et al., 2014) in the pathogenesis of DN. Expression of cell adhesion molecules, growth factors, chemokines and proinflammatory cytokines are increased in the renal tissues of diabetic patients (Fig. 1.3). Thus, metabolic and hemodynamic abnormalities seem to be involved in stimulating these pathways in DN. The consequences of molecular activation and inhibition of the various pathways lead to functional and structural changes that clinically manifest as DN, characterized by increasing albuminuria and declining renal function (Duran-Salgado et al., 2014).

Hemodynamic factors (Morano et al., 2008; Chawla et al., 2010) predominantly mediated by angiotensin II, play a role via over-activity of the renin-

angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) and VEGF deficiency. Aggravation of haemodynamic factors and the contribution of metabolic alterations, induce glomerular histological abnormalities in glomerular basement membranes (GBM), endothelial and mesangial cells (Bortoloso et al., 2004; Marshall, 2004) and podocytes (Fig. 1.3) (Baelde et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007), tubulointerstitial lesions are involved too (Nangaku, 2006).



Figure 1.3 – Interconnection between metabolic and hemodynamic abnormalities involved in the pathophysiology of diabetic nephropathy. Dyslipidaemia and hyperglycaemia, both activate advanced glycation, oxidative stress and inflammation. Hemodynamic factors are mediated by angiotensin II and VEGF deficiency. AGE - advanced glycation end products; Ang II - angiotensin-2; ANP - atrial natriuretic peptide; COX - cyclooxygenase; ET-1 - endothelin-1; GBM - glomerular basement membrane; IL - interleukin; NO - nitric oxide; PGC - glomerular capillary hydraulic pressure; PT - proximal tubule; ROS - reactive oxygen species; T2DM - type 2 diabetes mellitus; TGF - transforming growth factor; TNF - tumour necrosis factor; VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor A (Source: Muskiet et al., 2014).

Obesity and chronic hyperglycaemia alter vasoactive regulating mechanisms of afferent and efferent arteriolar tonus, leading to increased glomerular capillary hydrostatic pressure (P_{GC}), hyperperfusion and hyperfiltration. These early renal haemodynamic changes, combined with systemic hypertension, are important in the development and progression of renal disease in T2DM (Muskiet et al., 2014). Dysfunction of the incretin system also seems to be implicated in alteration of vascular tonus, natriuretic and diuretic properties (Yu et al., 2003). An increase in glomerular filtration, in association with albuminuria, has been a hallmark of early DN. Albuminuria in DN is mostly glomerular in origin and albumin must cross the glomerular filtration barrier, which consists of fenestrated glomerular endothelial cells, the glomerular basement membrane, and the glomerular epithelial cell or podocyte. Alterations of this barrier, like increased intraglomerular pressure, loss of negatively charged glycosaminoglycans in the basement membrane, and further in the disease process, the increase in basement membrane pore size, all contribute to albuminuria (Marshall, 2004).

Podocytes (or visceral epithelial cells) are highly specialized cells of neuroepithelial origin that wrap around the capillaries of the glomerulus and between these processes are small slits which contain a slit diaphragm. An increasing number of proteins have been identified to be present in these foot projections of podocytes. Nephrin is a zipper-like protein that plays a functional role in the structure of the slit diaphragm. The spaces between the teeth of the zipper allow, in a selective way, small molecules, such as glucose and water, to traverse, but do not allow large proteins to cross. Evidence suggests that nephrin could play a key role in the glomerular filtration barrier and the development of proteinuria as it is found to be under-expressed in kidney failure and in diabetic rats (Cao et al., 2011). In diabetes, early flattening and retraction of the foot processes are associated with thickening of the glomerular basement membrane. Thickening of the glomerular basement membrane, accumulation of mesangial matrix, and increased numbers of mesangial cells are present as initial microscopic abnormalities. As disease advances, there is a close relationship between mesangial expansion and declining glomerular filtration. Mesangial expansion also correlates inversely with capillary filtration surface area, which itself correlates to glomerular filtration rate (Marshall, 2004).

Additionally, chronic hyperglycaemia and dyslipidaemia induce mitochondrial oxidative stress, which activates several metabolic pathways, specifically, protein kinase C (Noh et al., 2007), non-enzymatic glycosylation (Tanji et al., 2000), acceleration of the polyol pathway, hexosamine biosynthetic pathway and oxidative stress (Forbes et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2011; Singh et al., 2014).

Evidence also points to a crucial role of the inflammatory process in the development and progression of DN (Saraheimo et al., 2003; Dalla Vestra et al., 2005;

Rivero et al., 2009). This inflammatory response is mediated by diverse inflammatory cells, including macrophages, monocytes, and leukocytes, as well as other molecules, such as chemokines, adhesion molecules, and inflammatory cytokines, namely, TNF- α and IL-1 β (Rivero et al., 2009; Kanasaki et al., 2013). Besides altering glomerular haemodynamics and promoting increased vascular endothelium permeability, when TNF- α binds to its receptors, several signalling pathways are activated leading to apoptosis and necrosis. IL-1 β also modifies vascular permeability and increases the expression of chemokines that induce proliferation and synthesis of extracellular matrix in the mesangium (Duran-Salgado et al., 2014). As inflammation persists, certain vascular lesions are exacerbated, such as endothelial dysfunction, tissue damage, mesangial nodule formation (Kimmelsteil-Wilson bodies), renal fibrosis, and apoptotic cell death (Rivero et al., 2009; Kanasaki et al., 2013).

It was also observed that high glucose levels induce an increased ratio of Bax/Bcl-2, associated with cytochrome-c release from mitochondria in renal mesangial cells (Allen et al., 2005; Matough et al., 2012). In addition, BH3 interacting-domain death agonist (Bid), a pro-apoptotic protein member of the Bcl-2 family, has an important role in the mitochondrial cell death pathway (Sanz et al., 2008).

It has been described that glucose-induced ROS production contributes to apoptosis in podocytes (Susztak et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2013; Gao et al., 2015), mesangial (Wagener et al., 2009) and tubular cells (Susztak et al., 2006; Wagener et al., 2009), leading to DN progression. Furthermore, high glucose-mediated oxidative stress in tubular cells has been associated with increased levels of pro-apoptotic proteins (Verzola et al., 2002).

In the tubule-interstitium, tubular hypertrophy and associated basement membrane alterations precede tubulointerstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy, which accompanies progressive renal dysfunction. Arteriosclerosis is also described. Interstitial enlargement correlates with glomerular filtration, albuminuria, and mesangial expansion. It has been suggested that the accumulation of protein in the cytoplasm of proximal tubular cells causes an inflammatory reaction which leads to tubulointerstitial lesions (White, 2014; Marshall, 2004).

Although DN was traditionally considered a primarily glomerular disease, it is now widely accepted that the rate of deterioration of function correlates best with the

degree of renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis. This suggests that although the primary event is a condition marked by glomerular changes resulting in proteinuria, the longterm outcome is determined by events in the renal interstitium (Eddy; 2009; Tramonti et al., 2011).

Chapter 2

The incretin defect in T2DM pathophysiology

"Glucose homeostasis is like a violin concerto. The vibrant melody is led by Brain, the maestro; solos are played by Pancreas, a virtuoso violinist that excels in every note and blends pungently with a tuned orchestra, in tempo with the rhythm of incretin percussion, forming a true a hormonal masterpiece". CM, 2015

(Text inspired by André J. Scheen who wrote, "The CNS orchestrates energy and glucose homeostasis" and by Mozart, Beethoven, Handel, Grieg and Rachmaninoff, who knew nothing of energy homeostasis, but composed the best concertos in the history of mankind)

2.1 HISTORY OF INCRETINS

The discovery of the islets of Langerhans in 1869 and the role they played in the development of T2DM (1901), allowed the first glimpse into the pathogenesis of the disease. Incretins and their physiological effects, on the other hand, were only established at the end of the 20th century (Fig. 2.1).



Figure 2.1 – Main historic events that led to the development of incretin based therapies.

In 1905, Bayliss and Starling discovered "secretin", the first identified regulatory peptide by examining the effects of crude intestinal extracts on exocrine pancreatic secretions, and thus, introduced the concept of hormones and their way of action (Creutzfeldt, 2005). These investigators and Moore (1906) hypothesised the role of secretin as a chemical stimulant of internal pancreatic secretion. Between 1906 and 1935, numerous experiments were conducted, testing the effects of injected or ingested duodenal extracts (secretin) on fasting or elevated blood glucose levels of normal or diabetic animals and humans. In one of these studies, La Barre, in 1932, proposed the name "incretin" after inducing hypoglycaemia by intravenous administration of unclean "secretin" and subsequently linking this result to insulin action. Thus, he formed the term "incretin" by adding the fragments of the words: "IN" testin, se" CRET" ion and "IN" sulin. However, after a promising beginning, a series of negative dog experiments considered the existence of "incretin" substances as dubious and research on the subject was interrupted for 20 years (Geelhoed-Duijvestijn, 2007; Menon et al., 2015). The "incretin-concept" was only recovered in 1964 by McIntyre et al., which showed that significantly more insulin was released after oral ingestion of glucose than after an intravenous injection. This fact confirmed

the existence of a link between the intestine and the endocrine pancreas, indicating that gastrointestinal (GI) hormones and peptides could exert some action on insulin secretion (Geelhoed-Duijvestijn, 2007; Ranganath, 2008a). Subsequently to this discovery, for a given hormone to be included in the incretin group it should meet two essential principles (Ranganath, 2008): be released in response to oral glucose intake and be able to achieve physiological concentrations resulting in insulin release. The first substance to be classified as an "incretin" was discovered in 1970 by John Brown, who isolated a hormone composed of 42 amino acids that he later identified as "gastric inhibitory polypeptide" (GIP) (Brown, 1971), which is now also known as "glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide", due to its ability to stimulate insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner (Brown et al., 1978). Yet, the revival of the term incretin was mostly due to Creutzfeldt (1978, 1979, 2005), who highlighted the relationship "glucose - intestine - insulin" in association with the incretin effect, a feature that is of key importance for clinical application. Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1 was only accepted as a true incretin in 1985 (Geelhoed-Duijvestijn, 2007; Ranganath, 2008b) by genetic studies on pro-glucagon coding sequences, which rendered it as a "glucagon-related molecule" and, as it met the incretin criteria, was classified as one, too (Lund, 2005). In 1986, Nauck et al. found that the level of incretin secretion was dependent on the amount of ingested glucose and that incretins were responsible for approximately 75% of the insulin response after the ingestion of 50 g of glucose. The more precise physiological functions of incretin hormones were only discovered in the 1990s, specifically those concerning regulation of glucose homeostasis and their possible use as therapeutic targets for obesity and diabetes. Since then, incretin based therapies have been a mainstay of diabetic research (Troke et. al., 2014; Tan et al. 2013; Ahrén, 2010; Drucker, 2007; Drucker, 2006; Gallwitz, 2005; Deacon et al., 2001; Nauck et al., 1993; Creutzfeldt, 1992).

2.2 THE ROLE OF NATURAL INCRETINS IN GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS

Digestion and absorption of nutrients are associated with increased secretion of multiple gut hormones that act on distal targets. More than fifty GI hormones and peptides are synthesized and released by specific enteroendocrine cells found in the epithelium of the stomach, small and large intestine, which makes the gut the largest hormone producing organ in the body. This assembly of regulatory hormones and peptides convey information not only to the intestine and associated organs, but to other organic systems, such as the CNS.

Glucose is the vital metabolic fuel substrate for all mammalian cells and is the main carbohydrate presented to the cells for energy production and many other anabolic requirements (Triplitt, 2012a). External and endogenous sources of glucose contribute to maintain blood glucose homeostasis. During fasting, glycaemia is mainly sustained by hepatic glucose production (HGP), which accounts for about 85% of endogenous production, while the kidney upholds the remaining 15% (De Fronzo, 2004; Marsenic, 2009). Until some years ago, glucose homeostasis was considered to be under bi-hormonal regulation, regarding insulin and glucagon as sole regulators of glucose metabolism, and thus, the main therapeutic targets. Currently, a more complex regulation is recognized and glucose homeostasis is governed by precise neuronal and hormonal regulation through the interplay of the central nervous system, insulin, glucagon, amylin, somatostatin and GI hormones, more specifically, incretin hormones (Fig. 2.2), which constitute our main focus (Aronoff et al., 2004). This intricate regulation system acts on the rate of absorption of dietary carbohydrates by the intestinal mucosa, glucose consumption by peripheral tissues (muscle and adipose tissue), removal of glucose through the renal tubules and also, hepatic glucose uptake and release (De Fronzo, 2009).

Incretins are gut hormones that are secreted from enteroendocrine cells into the blood within minutes after eating a meal. GIP and GLP-1 share many common actions in the pancreas but have distinct actions outside of the pancreas. Current knowledge allocates incretin secretion to the intestinal mucosa, where GIP is secreted

from K-cells (enterochromaffin cells), located mainly in the stomach, duodenal mucosa and the proximal jejunum, while GLP-1 is produced in L-cells found more distally in the ileum and colon (Drucker, 2006). To exert their effects, incretins bind to specific receptors of target organs, the GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) and GIP receptor (GIPR), which are G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). GLP1R exist in β -cells of the pancreatic islets, the kidney, lung, heart and nervous system. GIPR are found in β and α -cells of pancreatic islets, adipose tissues, heart and brain (Tasyurek et al., 2014). Both peptides are rapidly inactivated ($t_{\gamma_2} \approx 2$ minutes) (Deacon et al., 1995) via N-terminal degradation by the ubiquitous enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4), a specialised enzyme located on the cell surface enzyme of endothelial, epithelial and some other cell types.



Figure 2.2 – **Regulation of energy homeostasis.** The brain (CNS) at the centre of energy homeostasis regulation: the brain and other regions of the CNS emit signals to effector organs and, in turn, receive nutrient and hormonal signals that converge and directly act on brain centres. Effector organs are also regulated between them, by reciprocated signalling.

Cleavage by neprilysin (neutral endopeptidase) is also an inactivation route, but is considered to be of minor relevance. Excretion of incretins and its metabolites is done through renal clearance (Mentlein, 2009; Deacon, 2011; Marques et al., 2014). Together, these metabolic processes reduce the high concentration levels of these peptides, present in the postprandial state, to almost undetectable levels during the fasting state. The major biological actions of GLP-1 and GIP in glucose homeostasis are translated into neuroendocrine regulation, insulinotropic and non-insulinotropic effects on pancreatic islet cells, and effects on extra-pancreatic tissues (Phillips et al., 2011; Campbell et al., 2013).

2.2.1 Insulinotropic and non-insulinotropic effects of incretins on pancreatic islet cells

The control of glycaemia by the islet of Langerhans depends on the coordinated secretion of insulin and glucagon by pancreatic β - and α -cells, respectively. Both cell types respond oppositely to changes in blood glucose concentration: whereas β -cells release insulin in hyperglycaemic settings, hypoglycaemic conditions induce α -cell secretion (Quesada et al., 2006). Somatostatin, produced and secreted by the δ -cell population of the islet of Langerhans, besides several other tissues, acts as an inhibitor of both glucagon and insulin release (Hauge-Evans et al., 2009; Meda, 2013).

Insulin secretion is stimulated by metabolic (glycaemia), hormonal and neuronal influences on the endocrine pancreas, which are collectively referred to as the "entero-insular axis" (Ranganath, 2008). Postprandial insulin secretion is directly stimulated through entero-pancreatic nerve activation via chyme and intestinal distension, and by the strong endocrine stimulus mediated by incretin hormones. In minutes after nutrient ingestion GIP and GLP-1 are released into blood circulation and stimulate insulin secretion (McIntosh, 2008). Incretin effects on pancreatic β -cells implicate a series of events that potentiate glucose usage and protect against glucose depletion (Creutzfeldt et al., 1985; Röder et al., 2016), by regulating 30 to 60% of C-peptide and 80 to 90% of insulin response, in a dose dependent manner after an oral

load of glucose (Jones et al., 2013). Accordingly, insulin secretion ceases when euglycaemia is achieved, deeming incretins safe in relation to the risk of hypoglycaemia, which is one of the several features that turn these peptides into attractive potential therapeutic agents (Ahrén, 2014).

Both GIP and GLP-1 exert their insulinotropic effects on pancreatic β -cells (Fig. 2.3) by binding to specific receptors, GIPR and GLP-1R, respectively, where they induce a cascade of events that culminate in stimulation of insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner and insulin biosynthesis (Phillips et al., 2011).



Figure 2.3 – Glucose-mediated insulin secretion and insulinotropic effects of GLP-1 and GIP. Binding of GLP-1 and GIP with their receptors, GLP-1R and GIPR, results in the activation of adenylate cyclase (AC) by way of G proteins (G) leading to increase in intracellular cAMP levels. Activation of PKA and EPAC2 (cAMP-GEFII) closes KATP channels (K Ch) facilitating membrane depolarization resulting in the opening of the voltage gated Ca²⁺ channels (Ca Ch) and influx of Ca²⁺ into pancreatic β-cells. Increase in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ not only stimulates fusion of insulin-containing cytoplasmic granules leading to insulin secretion from pancreatic β-cells but also promotes transcription of proinsulin gene renovating insulin depots. Glucose-mediated insulin secretion is also depicted in the figure: glucose enters into the cell through Glucose Transporter 2 (GLUT2), is phosphorylated to glucose 6 phosphate (G6P) by glucokinase (GK). Glycolysis increases the ATP/ADP ratio leading to closure of K⁺ channels (K Ch) inducing membrane depolarization. Other abbreviations: Nu - nucleus; ER - endoplasmic reticulum, Mt - mitochondria (Source: Tasyurek et al., 2014).

Incretin binding to these receptors leads to activation of adenylate cyclase and subsequent elevation of intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) levels, which then triggers a signalling cascade that causes the increment of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations eliciting the fusion of insulin-containing granules with the plasma membrane and insulin secretion from the β -cells. Increased Ca²⁺ levels also promote transcription of the proinsulin gene, thereby increasing the insulin content of the β -cell (Seino et al., 2010). Both peptides are rapidly inactivated, circa 2 minutes, by DPP-4 (Deacon et al., 1995), which reduces their high concentration levels present after a meal, to almost untraceable levels during fasting stages.

As incretins, GIP and GLP-1 share common properties, but also possess different biological characteristics. GLP-1 acts in a positive way on the β and δ cells, whereas GIP acts preferentially on the α - and β -cells (Ranganath, 2008). The effects of GLP-1 on pancreatic islet cells include increased insulin secretion by β -cells in a glucose-dependent manner (Fig. 2.4), increased secretion of somatostatin by δ -cells and reduced secretion of glucagon by the α -cells. These events contribute to a decrease in hepatic glucose output. In contrast to GLP-1, GIP has been shown to stimulate pancreatic glucagon secretion. Recent human data suggest that the glucagonotropic effect of GIP is strictly glucose-dependent with no effect during hyperglycaemic conditions. Thus, GIP seems to act as a blood glucose stabilizer with inverse glucose-dependent effects on pancreatic insulin and glucagon secretion, respectively (Meier et al., 2003; Walker et al., 2011; Godoy-Matos et al., 2014).

Although the primary role of GIP and GLP-1 is that of an incretin, presently it is acknowledged that GIP and GLP-1 exert non-insulinotropic actions on the pancreas, such as regulating pancreatic β -cell proliferation and survival. Both hormones seem to be associated with anti-apoptotic and pro-proliferative effects on pancreatic β -cell (Fig. 2.4), but the signalling cascades involved display some differences (Yabe et al., 2011; Deacon et al., 2011; Campbell et al., 2013; Pappachan et al., 2015). Anti-apoptotic function of GLP-1 requires the presence of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), which is not required by GIP to exert the same function, being the physiological impact of this



Figure 2.4 – Pancreatic and extrapancreatic ffects of GLP-1 on glucose control. GLP-1 lowers glycaemia through its insulinotropic and non-insulinotropic effects on pancreatic islet cells and by direct and indirect actions in extrapancreatic organs.

difference in the signalling cascade not fully understood (Maida et al., 2009). Another remarkable aspect of incretins is the stimulating effect on proliferation of β -cells and/or progenitor cells (Xu et al., 1999; Bocker et al., 2001; Trumper et al., 2001). Stimulation of β -cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis promotes cell expansion, increases β -cell mass and pancreatic islet neogenesis (Wideman et al., 2004; Drucker et al., 2006; Herbach et al., 2011). GLP-1 has a trophic action on β -cells promoting amplification of insulin synthesis and β -cell hypertrophy. GLP-1 also promotes cell differentiation, from exocrine ductal cells or immature islet stem cells, towards a greater degree of differentiation (Drucker, 2003). An increase in the number and mass of β -cells has been demonstrated by direct action of GIP (Drucker, 2003; Drucker et al., 2006; Garber et al., 2011). Further elucidation is needed on the precise molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of GIP and GLP-1 on β -cells to fully reveal the potential therapeutic targets to increase β -cell mass by inhibiting apoptosis and/or stimulating proliferation.

GLP-1 and GIP have opposite effects on glucagon secretion in pancreatic α cells. GLP-1 suppresses glucagon secretion (Fig. 2.4) when plasma glucose levels are above fasting level (Nauck et al., 2002; De Marinis et al., 2010), which is clinically important because GLP-1 loses its inhibitory effect on glucagon secretion at hypoglycaemic levels and does not decrease the counter-regulatory responses to hypoglycaemia. It has recently been reported that insulin stimulation and glucagon inhibition contribute equally to the effect of GLP-1 on glucose turnover in T2DM patients (Hare et al., 2010). Although there are no GLP-1 receptors on α -cells, insulin released by β -cells, in response to GLP-1, has an inhibitory action on the physiological secretion of glucagon. Therefore, there is an improvement in the insulin/glucagon ratio, which improves glucose uptake by the liver and peripheral tissues. It seems that somatostatin-28 (S-28) is indirectly involved in the inhibition of glucagon secretion due to its regulatory effect on GLP-1 release through a feedback loop system and mediated by somatostatin receptor subtype 5 in the intestinal mucosa. Contrary to GLP-1, GIP has shown to counteract suppression of glucagon secretion by glucose during euglycaemia, but not so during hyperglycaemia (Meier et al., 2003; Chia et al., 2009).

2.2.2 Extrapancreatic effects of incretins

GIP has been proposed to have a physiological role on nutrient uptake into adipose tissue, thereby linking overnutrition to obesity. GIP levels are high in obese T2DM patients and lipids strongly enhance GIP secretion (Carr et al., 2008). The fact that GIP plays a role on adipose tissue has, only lately, been revealed. The first evidence came from the observation that GIP induced fatty-acid incorporation into rat epididymal fat pads in the presence of insulin (Beck et al., 1983), but was decreased or inhibited in the presence of somatostatin, in the same settings (Beck et al., 1988). The evidence that GIP influences fatty-acid incorporation into adipocytes is supported by GIPR expressed in adipose tissues (Yip et al., 1998), and posteriorly reinforced by studies on the genetic ablation of GIPR (Miyawaki et al., 2002). GIP levels are high in obese T2DM patients and the presence of lipids strongly enhances GIP secretion, apparently making the link between overnutrition and obesity (Carr et al., 2008; Gögebakan et al., 2015). Although GIP has shown to increase the activity of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), which hydrolyses lipoprotein-associated triglycerides (TGs) to produce FFAs available for local uptake (Miyawaki et al., 2002), the molecular mechanism by which GIP acts on adipocytes is still largely unknown.

Unlike GIP, GLP-1 does not show any role in fat accumulation. Although GLP-1R is expressed in adipocytes (Seino, 2010), activation of GLP-1R affects none of the aforementioned signalling molecules and does not increase LPL activity in adipocytes (Kim et al., 2007a; Kim et al., 2007b). However, insulin secretion evoked by GLP-1 and consequent suppression of FFAs release is probably the most dominant effect observed on adipose tissue (Fig. 2.4).

GLP-1, released after meal ingestion, inhibits hepatic glucose release by the dual islet effects, stimulating insulin secretion and inhibition of glucagon secretion, depressing HGP (Fig. 2.4). A recent study performed by Jun et al. (2015) has consolidated the existence of an islet-independent mechanism. This neuroincretin mechanism of GLP-1 seems to restrain HGP by a direct liver effect and/or an indirect effect through neural afferents passing through the CNS (Katsurada et al., 2016).

GIP and GLP-1 receptors are present in the stomach. Although GLP-1 inhibits gastric emptying (Fig. 2.4) (Tong et al., 2014), GIP has been shown to have little effect on gastric emptying in humans and mice (Chia et al., 2009; Little et al., 2005; Meier et al., 2004; Meier et al., 2003). Activation of GLP-1 receptors in the pyloric sphincter causes a deceleration of gastric emptying and reduces postprandial blood glucose. Delaying gastric emptying and maintaining subsequent distension of the stomach, also affects peripheral satiety signals (Tambascia et al., 2014).

Incretins also seem to contribute to neuroendocrine regulation of energy homeostasis by direct and indirect pathways (Fig. 2.4). Directly, by intestinally-derived GLP-1, which stimulates vagal afferent CNS signalling that modulates suppressive effects on food intake (Hayes et al., 2014; Holst, 2007). Also, GPL-1R are present in the CNS and apparently mediate some effects in glycaemic regulation, such as suppression of HGP, increase in β -cell insulin secretion and reduction of gastric emptying (Hayes et al., 2014). Indirectly, by its insulinotropic action on insulin secretion, playing the latter, an important role in glucose homeostasis in the CNS where it acts on food intake control (Pénicaud, 2010; Rodriguez et al., 2010; Laron, 2009). Besides gut secretion,

GLP-1 seems to be produced by a specific neuronal population in the brainstem, which might be specifically implicated in the control of short-term and long-term energy balance (Hayes et al., 2014).

Cumulative evidence from functional and mechanistic studies supports a role of a renal incretin system in the modulation of Na^+ and water homeostasis and kidney function. GPL-1 affects renal haemodynamic and participates in renal functions that are crucial in glucose homeostasis. The kidney affects glycaemia by three main mechanisms: glucose reabsorption, glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis (Triplitt, 2012b). Under normal circumstances and in healthy individuals, the kidney filters and reabsorbs 100% of glucose (Prié, 2014). Filtered glucose is 80 - 90% reabsorbed by high capacity Na⁺/glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) in the proximal convoluted tubule (PCT), and the remaining 10% by the Na⁺/glucose cotransporter-1 (SGLT1) in the straight segment of the descending proximal tubule (PST). The net result is that glucose does not appear in the normal urine (DeFronzo et al., 2012; Abdul-Ghani et al., 2008). The apical transporters SLGT1 and SLGT2 are Na⁺ and energy dependent, but in the basolateral domain, the glucose carriers expressed are GLUT-1 and GLUT-2, that do not require energy, Na⁺, or any other ion (Brown, 2000).In the kidney, GLP-1R are present in endothelial cells and in the proximal renal tubules, which play a role in regulating the composition of urine. Stimulation of the GLP-1R in blood vessels results in relaxation of smooth muscle and increased renal blood flow. The natriuretic and diuretic properties of GLP-1 were proved in infusion studies in a rat model of salt sensitivity by chronic intravenous infusion of GLP-1 (Yu et al., 2003). Stimulation of GLP-1R in the proximal tubules results in increased loss of salt, water and electrolytes in urine. The latter occurs, as the GLP-1R situated in PCT of the kidney, is functionally linked to the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 3 (NHE3) transporter. NHE3 is a membrane pump that retrieves Na⁺ and other electrolytes from the tubular fluid (and thus from urine), thereby returning them into the circulation. Activation of the GLP-1 receptor by GLP-1 results in inactivation of this membrane pump, which leads to increased Na⁺ loss in urine and consequentially, through osmotic effects, to increased fluid loss in urine (Salles et al., 2015).

Incretins also seem to have important effects on other organs and tissues, which likewise express GIPR and GLP-1R, however, by not being directly related to our work, will not be focussed.

2.3 THE INCRETIN DEFFECT IN T2DM

Some authors have shown that incretin pathways play important roles on β cells (insulinotropic action) and on α -cells (glucagonotropic action) and in many other effector organs that are involved in the progression of T2DM, which are described in this section (De Fronzo, 2009; Drucker et al., 2006). GLP-1 is responsible for most of the incretin effect in normal individuals. The incretin defect in T2DM seems to have two main causes (Holst et al., 2004): defective secretion of GLP-1 and pronounced impairment of the insulinotropic effect of GIP. Nauk (2004) also proposed accelerated incretin metabolism and a defective responsiveness to both hormones, as other possible causes. Studies conducted on incretin secretion, especially on GLP-1, found that within 4 hours after a meal, a significant reduction of GLP-1 response was observed in T2DM patients when compared with normal individuals (Toft-Nielsen et al., 2001).

Several observations suggest that the abnormal GLP-1 secretion is most likely a consequence rather than a cause of diabetes (Knop et al., 2007). While GIP concentration is normal or modestly increased in patients with T2DM, its insulinotropic actions are significantly diminished. This implies that a defect exists at the physiologic or even supra-physiologic levels in patients with T2DM in response to GIP. The impaired responsiveness to GIP may suggest a possible link to GIPR down-regulation or desensitization (Geelhoed-Duijvestijn, 2007).

In contrast to GIP, the secretion of GLP-1 is reduced in obese subjects without diabetes, suggesting that incretin secretion is altered in the early stages of diabetes (Phillips et al., 2011). Insufficiency of GLP-1 contributes to a defective first phase of insulin secretion (Leech et al., 2010). In these patients, GIP secretion is normal, but its insulinotropic effect is markedly reduced, while GLP-1 secretion is reduced but

preserves its insulinotropic action, meaning that it can still effectively stimulate insulin secretion if present (Nauck et al., 2004). The cause for the different properties of GIP and the GLP-1 incretin effect in relation to changes in T2DM is not fully understood. The finding that T2DM patients have low circulating levels of GLP-1 with preservation of endogenous insulin secretion supports the therapeutic potential of GLP-1 treatments. Thus, while GIP has a low potential as a drug therapy, GLP-1, on the other hand, has a therapeutic potential as a promising pharmacological tool for the treatment of T2DM, already proposed in the 1990s, when the incretin effect was reviewed (Holst, 1999).

In addition to the pancreas, GIP and GLP-1 receptors are expressed in a wide variety of organs, including kidneys. Incretin defect also seems to play a role in the pathophysiology of DN. Both GLP-1R and DPP-4 are expressed in the kidney of various species, including humans and rats (Von Webskya et al., 2014). The expression of DPP-4 seems to be up- regulated in cultured human renal glomerular epithelial cells during inflammation (Stefanovic et al., 1993) and in a rat model of T2DM (Yang et al., 2007), as well as, in glomeruli of patients with DN, but not in healthy kidneys (Von Webskya et al., 2014). Increased DPP-4 activity has found to be present in human glomerular diseases (Kanwar et al., 2008; Mitic et al., 2008). DPP-4 is expressed in association with the NHE3 in the cells affecting NHE3 activity and the excretion of Na⁺, HCO3⁻, and water reabsorption in the PCT (Von Websky et al., 2014). Although glycaemic levels affect renal pathophysiology, the previously mentioned effects of incretin protection appear to be independent of these levels, although the underlying mechanisms remain to be clarified (Saha et al., 2008, Avogaro et al., 2014).

Chapter 3

Incretin-based therapies - focus on sitagliptin

"Declare the past, diagnose the present, and foretell the future." Hippocrates

3.1 MAIN CLINICAL FEATURES OF SITAGLIPTIN

3.1.1 Pharmacodynamics

T2DM can generally be prevented with diet, physical activity, but individuals with impaired glucose tolerance should be treated with antidiabetic drugs (Donath et al., 2008; Rejeski et al., 2012; ADA, 2017). Currently, T2DM is managed with antidiabetic agents from nine pharmacological classes. These include agents that increase insulin secretion, improve insulin action, and delay absorption of carbohydrates. The ground-breaking incretin based therapies, address a previously unmet need in diabetes by modulating glucose supply (Cefalu, 2010; Riddle 2005).

Sitagliptin is a potent and highly selective DPP-4 competitive inhibitor that does not inhibit the closely related enzymes DPP-8 or DPP-9 at therapeutic concentrations (Kim et al., 2005; Mulvihill et al., 2014). Various studies in healthy volunteers, patients with type 2 diabetes and non-diabetic obese individuals showed that sitagliptin significantly (p < 0.05 vs. placebo) and dose-dependently inhibited DPP-4 enzyme activity by \geq 80 % (at 12 h post-dose for 50 mg/ day; at 24 h post-dose for \geq 100 mg/day) and increased mean postprandial active GLP-1 and GIP levels by approximately 2- to 3-fold (Bergman et al., 2006; Herman et al., 2006a; Herman et al., 2005).

As T2DM patients exhibit relative resistance to the actions of GIP (Baggio et al., 2007), the main goals of DPP-4 inhibitors are to prolong the beneficial effects of endogenous GLP-1 (Gautier et al., 2008) in order to maintain its insulinotropic activity (Deacon et al., 2001).

Sitagliptin acts by inhibiting DPP-4 enzymes (Fig. 3.1) that rapidly hydrolyse GLP-1, preventing its inactivation. This increases plasma concentrations of the active form of GLP-1, allowing the consequent stimulation of insulin synthesis and its release from pancreatic β -cells (Fig. 3.1) in a glucose-dependent manner (Inzucchi et al., 2008; Ahrén, 2007; Campbell, 2007; Rosenstock et al., 2007).



Figure 3.1 – Hypoglycaemic actions of sitagliptin. GLP-1 is produced in the L cells of the ileum, in a glucose dependent manner, and posteriorly degraded by DPP-4 enzyme. Binding to DPP-4 will cause GLP-1 to be inactivated, after which it is liberated in its inactive form. Sitagliptin delays GLP-1 inactivation by competing with GLP-1 for the DPP-4 catalytic site and thus preventing GLP-1 inactivation. The increase in GLP-1 plasma concentration stimulates β - and α -cells with consequent insulin synthesis and glucagon suppression, respectively. Insulin promotes glucose uptake by peripheral tissues (e.g. muscle) and glucagon inhibits HGP. DPP-4 - dipeptidyl peptidase-4; GLP-1 - glucagon-like peptide-1; HGP – hepatic glucose production.

Glycaemic levels are further regulated by the resulting higher insulin levels and glucagon suppression from the direct action of GLP-1 on pancreatic α -cells (Fig. 3.1). Postprandial insulin and C-peptide levels are also found to be increased and glucose excursions after an oral glucose tolerance test reduced (Herman et al., 2006a).

3.1.2 Pharmacokinetics

Sitagliptin promotes around 97% of DPP-4 inhibition (Deacon, 2011) and reduces blood glucose levels, either in the postprandial or the fasting state. It works differently from the previous drugs available for diabetes treatment and is orally active (Drucker, 2003). Its bioavailability is 87% and its oral absorption is not affected by food, with a recommended dose of 100 mg once daily. The fraction of sitagliptin reversibly bound to plasma proteins is 38% (Plosker, 2014).
Hepatic metabolism of sitagliptin is minimal, mainly by cytochrome P450 3A4; and 70-80% is excreted by the kidney in its unchanged form, exhibiting a half-life of around 12.4 hours and renal clearance is approximately 350 ml/min (Herman et al., 2005). In general, the pharmacokinetic profile of sitagliptin is similar in healthy volunteers and patients with T2DM. The pharmacokinetic properties of the drug have also been evaluated in special patient populations with varying grades of hepatic and renal dysfunction. As a result of its metabolism and elimination route, dose adjustment is only required in patients with severe renal impairment, but not in those with mild or moderate renal or hepatic impairment (Bergman et al., 2007; Migoya et al., 2009; Arjona et al., 2013). No dosage adjustment is necessary related to age, gender, race or BMI. Sitagliptin also has a low propensity for pharmacokinetic drug interactions (Plosker, 2014)

3.1.3 Clinical efficacy

Sitagliptin was the first drug of the DPP-4 inhibitors class, also known as gliptins, approved by the FDA, in 2006, for use in patients with T2DM to prevent the inactivation of the incretin hormones GLP-1 and GIP by the ubiquitous DPP-4 enzyme, thereby attenuating postprandial glucose elevations and consequently lowering HbAc1 (0.5 - 1.0%) (Plosker, 2014).

The first clinical efficacy studies with sitagliptin were performed in 2001 by Ahrén et al., still in the premarketing phase and confirmed significant effects in the reduction of PPG, FPG and HbA1c values after daily oral administration, during 4 weeks, in patients with T2DM (Ahrén et al., 2002).

Many post marketing trials have, since then, demonstrated the efficacy of sitagliptin in terms of improving glycaemic control in T2DM patients, either used as monotherapy, initial combination therapy (usually with a fixed-dose combination of sitagliptin/metformin), or add-on therapy to metformin or to other antihyperglycaemic drugs, with or without metformin. Sitagliptin showed efficacy in decreasing HbA1c, FPG and PPG levels, also increasing the proportion of patients achieving target HbA1c levels (<7.0%), as shown in several clinical studies (Scheen et al., 2010; Engel et al., 2013; Garg et al., 2013; Esposito et al., 2014; Plosker, 2014). Most studies also

reported that patients also received counselling on exercise and diet (Dungan et al., 2016).

Overall, gliptins are efficient at reducing plasma glucose, similarly to other therapeutic groups, and its use can be made in a combined form with other antidiabetic agents with distinct mechanism of action, in particular with metformin, the most widely used combination (Raz et al., 2008; Kadowaki et al., 2013).

Collateral beneficial therapeutic actions, including reduction in BP and amelioration of the lipid profile, have also been described for sitagliptin (Scheen, 2010; Campbell et al., 2013; Deacon et al., 2013). Concerning the impact of sitagliptin on lipid profile, the majority of studies reported a beneficial effect on TGs, HDL-c and LDL-c, as concluded in a systematic review and meta-analysis of 14 trials with incretin therapy in patients with T2DM (Amori et al., 2007). In addition, some studies suggested a reduction of BP in patients under sitagliptin treatment (Mistry et al., 2008; Ogawa et al., 2011; Subbarayan et al., 2011; Kawasaki et al., 2015).

3.1.4 Tolerability and safety

Sitagliptin is generally well tolerated by patients and the most common adverse events reported include upper respiratory tract infection, nasopharyngitis and headache. The overall incident rates for specific gastrointestinal events, including a composite of abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting, were similar between sitagliptin and non-exposed groups, with the exceptions of a higher rate of constipation in the sitagliptin group (Engel et al., 2013). Concerning body weight, several clinical trials showed that sitagliptin, generally, has a neutral effect (Bergenstal et al., 2010; Arechavaleta et al., 2011; Barzilai et al., 2011).

Hypoglycaemia seems to be of concern only when sitagliptin is used as add-on therapy to a sulfonylurea or insulin, otherwise the risk is low due to sitagliptin's glucose dependent mechanism of action (Vilsboll et al., 2010; Deacon et al., 2012; Engel et al., 2013; Round et al., 2013). Furthermore, recent recommendations for diabetics during Ramadan fasting encompass a stratifying of patients in relation to their risk of hypoglycaemia and/or the presence of complications prior to the beginning of fasting. Patients at high risk of hypoglycaemia and with multiple diabetic

complications are advised against prolonged fasting, while others should be medicated with agents such DPP-4 inhibitors, which are safe for avoiding hypoglycaemia and do not need major dose adjustments (Mahmoud et al., 2015).

Sitagliptin has proven to be safe to use in patients with mild or moderate renal or hepatic impairment, but an adjustment in dosage is recommended for patients with severe renal insufficiency (Neumiller et al., 2015; Betônico et al., 2016).

The putative association of DPP-4 therapy with development of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer is not yet completely elucidated, but recent studies have been more reassuring in relation to safety concerning these two aspects. Nonetheless, current evidence is not definitive and vigilance is mandatory (Dore et al., 2009; Garg et al., 2010; Pappachan, 2015).

Concerns on the effects of gliptins on cardiovascular safety, led to evaluation of the following off-target end-points: body weight, BP, lipid profile, albuminuria, major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE), heart failure (HF), acute myocardial infarction (AMI) and β -cell function, where randomised controlled trials were prioritised as the primary source of information. Studies on cardiovascular safety for incretin-based therapies revealed that DPP-4 inhibitors were neutral in terms of CV events (Dicker, 2011) and that the benefits of GLP-1-related therapies far outweigh the potential risks (Deacon et al., 2013; Nauck, 2013). Monami et al., in 2013, revealed that DPP-4 inhibitors may have a protective effect in reducing MACE, as well as, a reducing AMI in greater proportion than expected (based on conventional risk factors) and in all-cause mortality in T2DM. More recently, , and after the revelation of results from the TECOS, McGuire et al. (2016) have reported similar results, deeming sitagliptin safe to be used by diabetic patients with at high cardiovascular risk without increasing rates of cardiovascular complications. To date, only saxagliptin signalled increased hospitalisations for HF, warranting continued evaluation and vigilance in high-risk patients. Moreover, evidence from published clinical trials suggest that incretin-based therapies have shown beneficial effects on off-target CVD risk factors, specifically, body weight, BP, lipid profile, albuminuria and do not increase MACE (Rotz et al., 2015; McGuire et al., 2016).

Also noticeably, a large, retrospective, population based cohort study showed that sitagliptin was not associated with any increased risk of all-cause hospital

admission or death compared with other antidiabetic agents in newly treated patients with T2DM (Eurich et al., 2013).

3.2 CYTOPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF SITAGLIPTIN BEYOND GLYCAEMIC CONTROL

Sitagliptin was originally developed to lower plasma glucose levels, but accumulating evidence shows additional protective effects in the pancreas and other organs in relation to the diabetic state. Prior treatments for T2DM do not seem to address the progressive decline in β -cell function and patients continue to advance in their disease state (Raz et al., 2006). Streamlining on the natural incretin effect, gliptins could theoretically preserve and even reverse the progressive loss of insulin secretory capacity and consequently, avoid or delay diabetic complications (Raz et al., 2006; Gupta et al., 2011; Russell-Jones et al., 2012).

DPP-4 inhibition by sitagliptin has shown to have cardiovascular protective properties in which sitagliptin improved the myocardial response to dobutamine stress in a study of patients with coronary artery disease (Read et al., 2010). It was found to attenuate atherosclerotic lesions in diabetic models, such as Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rats and high-fat diet (LDL)-receptor-deficient mice, via downregulation of oxidative stress and inflammation (Shah et al., 2011). In a study by Bose et al. (2005), GLP-1 demonstrated to directly protect the heart against ischemia/reperfusion injury. In a previous work by our group, sitagliptin lowered known CVD risk factors, such as serum levels of triglycerides, BP, heart lipid peroxidation and serum inflammatory markers in Zucker diabetic fatty rats (Ferreira et al. 2010). DPP-4 inhibition also appears to improves endothelial function in patients with T2DM, in both GLP-1dependent and -independent manners (Van Poppel et al., 2011; Yoon et al., 2011). Specifically, sitagliptin was able to increase endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) levels in human diabetic patients (Fadini et al., 2010).

Besides increasing hepatic insulin sensitivity, sitagliptin seems to also prevent steatosis (Shirakawa et al. 2011b) through GLP-1R signalling in the liver and reduction

of endoplasmic reticulum stress (Oyadomari et al. 2008). GLP-1R have been found to be expressed in human hepatocytes (Oyadomari et al., 2008), but in contrast, other investigators have failed to detect GLP-1R mRNA transcripts in human, rat, or mouse liver (Flock et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2007; Aviv et al. 2009). Anti-apoptotic effects in human hepatoma cells by DPP-4 inhibition have also been identified (Gaetaniello et al. 1998).

Treatment of non-obese diabetic mice with sitagliptin, not only prevented linoleic acid-induced adipose tissue hypertrophy, but also protected against adipose tissue inflammation (Shirakawa et al. 2011a).

DPP-4 inhibition seems to be associated with the prevention of peripheral nerve degeneration, found in diabetic animal models, through GLP-1 and GLP-1R signalling (Jin et al. 2009), which has later been reinforced by recognition of GLP-1R expression in the sciatic nerve and skin of STZ-induced diabetic rats (Liu et al. 2011).

In the work conducted by Mu et al. (2006 and 2009), sitagliptin significantly restored β - and α -cell mass as well as α/β -cell ratio and significantly increased islet insulin content and improved glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in isolated islets.

In this context, the research of the underlying signalling pathways involved in apoptosis and in other pathophysiological pathways (such as those observed in other organs), like oxidative stress, advanced glycation end products, inflammation and the capacity for regeneration of pancreatic β -cells, could eventually provide knowledge for improved protection of the pancreas and thus, delay diabetic evolution.

The involvement of the incretin system in DN has been suggested by changes in the expression levels of DPP-4, GLP-1, and GLP-1R following injury. The expression pattern of GLP-1R protein in the human and porcine kidneys was identified, by immunohistochemical analysis, predominantly in the proximal tubules (Schlatter et al., 2007). DPP-4 was found to be upregulated in several tissues, including the kidney, in high-fat diet–fed rats (Kirino et al., 2009). DPP-4 upregulation was also observed during inflammation in cultured glomerular epithelial cells (Stefanovic et al., 1993) which has been associated with the development of glomerulosclerosis in DN. Anti-DPP-4 antibody inhibited the glomerular deposition of complement on the mesangial cell surface, indicating a probable protective role for the neutralizing antibody of DPP-4 against complement-mediated tissue injury (Shinosaki et al., 2002). However, it is still

not elucidated whether similar protection might be conferred by the enzymatic inhibition of DPP-4 using sitagliptin, or other DPP-4 inhibitors. Jost et al. (2009) showed that DPP-4 inhibition influenced collagen metabolism in the kidney, thereby leading to the depletion of collagen-derived peptides, which suggests that extracellular collagen may be an in vivo substrate for DPP-4. In this framework, it would be interesting to know whether the inhibition of DPP-4 activity might affect extracellular matrix remodeling during the development and evolution of DN. It is also known that inflammation promotes development and progression of diabetic microangiopathy, which is subjacent to the most severe diabetic complications, nephropathy, retinopathy, and neuropathy (Kern, 2007; Navarro-González et al., 2008; Vincent et al., 2011). The identified incipient protective effects of sitagliptin, through the reduction of oxidative stress, inflammation, anti-apoptotic and pro-proliferative actions on various organs and tissues, suggests that these could be researched in the kidneys by investigating the effects of sitagliptin on renal diabetic lesions and pathophysiological signalling pathways.

This emerging knowledge makes sitagliptin, as a DPP-4 inhibitor, an interesting target to study regarding its glycaemic and non-glycaemic actions (Durinx et al., 2000; Boonacker et al., 2003; Gorrell, 2005).

Chapter 4

Aims

T2DM is a metabolic disease characterized by chronic hyperglycemia resulting from the combination of insulin resistance, deficient insulin secretion and dysregulation of glucagon secretion. Given that insulin is either not sufficient or the body is unable to recognize and use it properly, glucose cannot be used by the cells and builds up in the bloodstream. Over time, the high levels of blood glucose will damage pancreatic β -cells and other organs of the body. DN, one of the major microvascular complications of diabetes, is the major cause of end-stage renal disease, often requiring dialysis or transplantation.

In the last decade, a new class of anti-hyperglycemic agents, based on incretins, has enriched the therapeutic arsenal for T2DM treatment. The incretin-based therapies comprise DPP-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 receptor agonists. Besides improving glycaemic control, they have shown the possibility to change the evolution of T2DM and its complications, which might be due to beneficial effects on the pancreas, as well as, on diabetes-target tissues, including the kidneys'.

We have previously reported that sitagliptin, the first DPP-4 inhibitor approved for clinical use in T2DM patients, is able to prevent pancreas alterations induced by chronic hyperglycemia in T2DM animal models. In addition to improved glycaemic dysmetabolism, sitagliptin also showed a positive impact on lipid peroxidation and prevented hypertension development (Ferreira et al, 2010).

Based on previous claims for effects of incretin peptides in distinct tissues, we hypothesize that sitagliptin is able to preserve pancreatic and kidney functionality, not only by the improvement of the glycaemic profile and insulin resistance, but also by other effects. Our main goal was to investigate the mechanisms underlying the putative protective effects of sitagliptin on pancreatic and renal tissues. This was pursued by using an animal model of T2DM (the ZDF rat).

In Chapter 5, we assessed the beneficial effects of sitagliptin on endocrine and exocrine pancreas lesions and dissected some of the mechanisms known to underlie pancreatic dysfunction and diabetes evolution, such as apoptosis, inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation. The extra-pancreatic effects of sitagliptin, specifically its putative ability to halt the progression of DN, are described in Chapter 6, focusing on antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic cytoprotective properties.

PART II:

EXPERIMENTAL WORK

Chapter 5

Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of endocrine and exocrine pancreatic damage in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat - focus on amelioration of metabolic profile and tissue cytoprotective properties

5.1 BACKGROUND AND AIMS

T2DM prevalence and incidence is increasing rapidly in many countries, including in Portugal. It is predicted, according to the latest estimates of WHO, that diabetes will be the 7th leading cause of death in 2030 (WHO, 2013). T2DM is a chronic disease leading to macro- and microvascular complications, which results in severe illness and premature death, with elevated personal and economic costs (WHO, 1999; Stumvoll et al., 2004).

The central features of T2DM are a defect in insulin resistance and/or insulin secretion, which lead to hyperglycaemia; disruption of the normal relationship between insulin sensitivity and pancreatic β -cell function, which is a hallmark of T2DM progression (Virally et al., 2007). In fact, degeneration of Langerhans islets with β -cell loss is secondary to insulin resistance and is regarded as the most important lesion for progression of the disease (Kahn et al., 2000; Marchetti et al., 2010). As β -cell function declines, the impairment of insulin action becomes more important. Hyperglycaemia, *per se*, may have a detrimental effect on secretory function, – "glucotoxicity" –, which induces increased apoptosis in pancreatic islets; in addition, the abnormal lipid profile commonly observed in these subjects may be associated with functional impairment of the islet – "lipotoxicity" (Marchetti et al., 2010; Del Prato, 2009; Poitout et al., 2002; Kahn et al., 2000).

Current knowledge adds further complexity in the picture of T2DM pathogenesis by including the role of incretin hormones. Incretins (GIP and GLP-1) are regulatory peptides secreted in the gastrointestinal mucosa after meal ingestion. These are released in response to oral glucose intake and are able to attain physiological concentrations causing insulin release, which is called the "incretin effect" (McIntyre et al., 1964; Creutzfeldt, 1979; Creutzfeldt, 2005; Ranganath, 2008). GLP-1 acts in a positive way on the β and δ cells, whereas GIP acts preferentially on α and β cells. These peptides are almost undetectable during fasting and exist only in high concentrations in the postprandial state, since they are rapidly metabolized (Deacon et al., 1995) by the ubiquitous enzyme DPP-4 to inactive metabolites, which are eliminated by urine (Ranganath, 2008). The incretin effect is responsible for about

60% of the secretion of postprandial insulin, which is decreased in T2DM (Gallwitz, 2005). In these patients, the incretin effect is stifled, producing an "incretin defect". This condition occurs as a result of reduced secretion of GLP-1, accelerated metabolism of GLP-1 and GIP, as well as, a defective response to both hormones, particularly to the insulinotropic effect of GIP (Holst et al., 2004; Nauck et al., 2004). The key mechanisms by which these factors exert their action on β -cells are not yet completely elucidated, but currently lie on metabolic processes such as apoptosis and inflammation, among others also putatively involved.

Low-grade inflammation has been viewed as a major player in insulin resistance development and T2DM evolution. Indeed, hyperglycaemia seems to induce the production of acute phase reactants from the adipose tissue, while obesity, present in many diabetic patients, is in itself, characterized as a state of low grade inflammation (Lin et al., 2001). T2DM is found to display increased concentrations of Creactive protein (CRP) and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 and IL-6, which are implicated in instigating metabolic insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al., 1999). Additionally, although the loss of β -cell mass is not yet completely clarified, apoptosis seems to be involved, as previously observed in the pancreas at autopsy and isolated islets from people with T2DM (Huang et al., 2007; Laybutt et al., 2007). Based on these assumptions, it is becoming clear that T2DM management, namely by using pharmacological agents, must envision not only glycaemic control but also, and particularly, the mechanisms behind progression of pancreatic deterioration and underlying evolutional complications. In fact, T2DM therapeutics should be able to preserve β-cell mass as the mainstay of disease control, by addressing the mechanisms implicated in diabetic pathogenesis, including apoptosis, inflammation or even an added capacity for cell proliferation.

Enhancing the incretin effect is now a possible therapeutic target in T2DM, using GLP-1 analogues or DPP-4 inhibitors. Sitagliptin belongs to a class of oral antidiabetic drugs, the gliptins, which inhibit the enzyme DPP-4 that degrades incretins, prolonging the physiological actions of GLP-1 (Knøp et al., 2007; Seshadri et al., 2009). GLP-1, a prominent active compound of the incretin family, modulates many processes in the pancreatic islet: it potentiates insulin synthesis and secretion by the β -cells (Holst et al., 2009), inhibits glucagon secretion in α -cells (Toft-Nielsen et al.,

2001), increases islet cell proliferation, and decreases cell apoptosis (Farilla et al., 2002; Li et al., 2003).

Our group has previously shown that sitagliptin is able to ameliorate dysmetabolism, insulin resistance, inflammation and oxidative stress in an animal model of T2DM, the ZDF rat (Ferreira et al., 2010). Thus, the purpose of the current study was to investigate some of the possible mechanisms underlying the protective effects produced by chronic sitagliptin treatment on pancreatic tissue in the ZDF rat, focusing on apoptosis, inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation mediators.

5.2 METHODS

5.2.1 Animals and experimental design

Male ZDF rats (ZDF/Gmi, fa/fa) and their littermates (ZDF/Gmi, +/+) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Barcelona, Spain) with 6 weeks of age and kept in our animal facility until they reached 20 weeks of age. Rats were properly housed, handled daily, and kept at a controlled standard temperature (22-23°C), humidity (60%) and light-dark cycles (12/12 h). Throughout the experiment, the animals were provided with distilled water ad libitum and rodent maintenance chow (A-04 Panlab, Barcelona, Spain, containing 15.4% of protein and 2.9% of lipids). The chow was adapted to the animal's body weight (BW): 100 mg/g. Animal experiments were conducted according the European Council Directives on Animal Care and the National Laws. Along the text and in order to simplify the description of the animals, the ZDF/Gmi, fa/fa rats will be designated as diabetic rats, and, when under sitagliptin treatment, as sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats. The ZDF/Gmi, +/+ rats will be designated as lean control or control rats. The initial groups were established as 24 diabetic rats and as 16 lean control rats. When aged 20 weeks, 8 obese diabetic and 8 lean control rats were sacrificed for blood and tissue collection, in order to establish the basal levels. The remainder lean control rats followed to week 26, as well as, the diabetic rats which were divided in two sub-groups (n = 8 each). The sitagliptin-treated group received by oral gavage, once a day (6:00 PM), during 6 weeks, 10 mg/kg/ body weight

(BW) of sitagliptin dissolved in orange juice (vehicle) and the diabetic untreated group received, in the same conditions, only the vehicle (orange juice). Food intake and BW were measured each day before treatment and expressed as weekly average values. The same procedures were adopted with the lean control rats. Since the ZDF (+/+) control group under sitagliptin treatment showed no relevant differences when compared with the ZDF (+/+) control rats under vehicle, the results were excluded from tables and figures in order to facilitate data comparison and interpretation. At 26 weeks of age, the animals were sacrificed by anaesthetic overdose, blood and tissues were collected for different analyses.

5.2.2 Sample collection and preparation

Blood

When aged 20 weeks (T0) and at the end of the experience (26 weeks -Tf) the rats were subjected to intraperitoneal anaesthesia with a 2 mg/kg BW of a 2:1 (v:v) 50 mg/mL ketamine (Ketalar, Parke-Davis, Lab. Pfeizer Lda, Seixal, Portugal) solution in 2.5% chlorpromazine (Largactil, Rhône-Poulenc Rorer, Lab. Vitória, Amadora, Portugal) and blood samples were immediately collected by venipuncture from the jugular vein into syringes without anticoagulant (for serum samples) or with the appropriate anticoagulant: ethylene-diaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)-2K for HbA1c measurement.

Tissues

The rats were sacrificed by anaesthetic overdose and the pancreas was immediately removed, placed in ice-cold Krebs' buffer and carefully cleaned of extraneous fat and connective tissue. For histopathological and immunohistochemical studies part of the organ was cross-sectioned, fixed and processed for paraffin embedding in compliance with the histological protocols used. For pancreatic gene (mRNA) expression by RT-qPCR the remaining cleaned portion of the pancreas was immediately placed in preservative RNA later[™] solution (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA) and frozen straightaway at –80°C until analysis.

5.2.3 Glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profile assays

Serum glucose levels were measured using a Glucose oxidase commercial kit (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo, USA). Considering the variability of serum glucose levels in the rat, HbA1c levels were used as an index of glucose control, through the DCA 2000+ latex immunoagglutination method (Bayer Diagnostics, Barcelona, Spain). Plasma insulin levels were quantified by using a rat insulin Elisa assay kit from Mercodia (Uppsala, Sweden). The steady state β -cell function of individual animals was evaluated using the previously validated homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) of β -cell function (Wallace et al., 2004). The formula used was as follows: [HOMA- β %] = 360 × fasting serum insulin (mU/I)/ fasting serum glucose (mg/dI) – 63. The values used (insulin and glucose) were obtained after an overnight of food deprivation. Serum levels of TGs and serum total cholesterol (Total-C) were analysed on a Hitachi 717 analyser (Roche Diagnostics) using standard laboratorial methods. TGs kit was obtained from bioMérieux® (Lyon, France).

5.2.4 Endocrine and exocrine pancreas lesions analysis by histopathology

Haematoxylin & eosin staining

Samples were fixed in Bock's fixative embedded in paraffin wax and 3 μ m thick sections were stained for routine histopathological diagnosis with haematoxylin and eosin (HE). All samples were examined by light microscopy using a Microscope Zeiss Mod Axioplan 2. Image acquisition was performed with digital microscope camera (Leica DFC450) and image processing was performed with the LAS Advanced Analysis Software Bundle (No: 12730448.). The degree of injury visible by light microscopy was scored in a double blind fashion. *Assessment of mean islet number:* Islets were counted using a 10× magnification, in three different microscopic fields, and the mean number per field was calculated for each study group. Assessment of islet size: Islet dimensions were obtained by measuring its maximum girth with an ocular grid of 1000 μ m, using a 10× magnification. The maximum diameter was found by comparing all available radii diameters of each islet, and choosing the greatest. Islets were evaluated in three different microscopic fields and the mean size of the islets from each group of rats was calculated.

Histopathology

Appreciation of islet architecture was based on the uniformity of islet boundaries and classified as regular or irregular. Endocrine pancreatic damage was assessed by evaluating changes in the islets of Langerhans, namely, islet architecture (shape), presence of inflammatory infiltrate, fibrosis, and vacuolization and intra-islet congestion. A semiquantitative rating for each slide ranging from 0 (minimal) to 3 (severe and extensive damage) was assigned to each of the studied components: inflammatory infiltrate, congestion, vacuolization and fibrosis. Each islet was examined and scored. Severity was graded as 0 = absent, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate and 3 = severe. Extension was evaluated by the area occupied by the lesion, an area of < 25% of the islet, was scored as 0, an area 25 - 50% scored as 1, an area 50 - 75% scored as 2, and if detected in an area > 75% scored as 3. The final score of each sample was obtained by the average of scores observed in individual islets. Exocrine pancreatic damage was evaluated according to the presence of congestion, fibrosis and inflammatory infiltrate in the interstitial tissues and graded also, by the same semiquantitative method, considering the entire exocrine parenchyma on the slide, as previously described (Ferreira et al., 2010).

Periodic acid of Schiff staining

Periodic Acid of Schiff (PAS) was used to confirm the levels of islet and exocrine fibrosis. Samples were fixed in neutral formalin 10%, embedded in paraffin wax and 3 µm thick sections were immersed in water and subsequently treated with a 1% aqueous solution of periodic acid, then washed to remove any traces of the periodic acid and finally treated with Schiff's reagent. A semiquantitative rating was set for intensity and extension of staining, ranging from 0 (no staining) to 3 (intense and extensive staining).

5.2.5 Pancreatic protein expression by immunohistochemistry

Formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded tissues were cut into 3 μ m sections and deparaffinised in xylene. 3% H₂O₂ was used to remove endogenous peroxidase, and citrate buffered saline (pH 6.0), in MO, was used for antigen retrieval. Sections were pre-incubated with normal rabbit serum to prevent nonspecific binding and then incubated overnight at 4°C with anti-Bax (Δ 21, 1:50, rabbit polyclonal antibody, Santa

Cruz, Biotechnology), Bcl-2 (C 21, 1:50, rabbit polyclonal antibody, Santa Cruz, Biotechnology) and TRIB3 (ab22107, 1:100, rabbit polyclonal antibody, Abcam). The sections were then sequentially incubated at room temperature, with labelled-(strept)avidin-biotin-peroxidase method (LAB-SA) (Histostain[®]-Plus kit Zymed). Negative controls were included in each staining series, by omission of the primary antibodies. Positive controls were, respectively for Bax, Bcl-2 and TRIB3, canine tonsils, canine breast carcinoma and rat exocrine pancreas. Sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. The results were examined by light microscopy using a Zeiss Axioplan 2 microscope. Image acquisition and processing was performed as described in the previous section. Immunopositivity was scored in accordance to staining intensity (I) and percentage of positive cells (P). Staining intensity was evaluated as 0, undetectable; 1, weak staining; 2, moderate staining and 3, intensive staining. Positive cells were evaluated in all Islets of Langerhans present on the slide. Final scoring for each rat was calculated by the Quick Score (Q) in which the percentage of positive cells (P) is multiplied by the intensity (I), using the formula: $Q = P \times I$, resulting in a score between 0 – 300 (Detre et al., 1995). The final score for each group was found by mean average.

5.2.6 Pancreatic gene (mRNA) expression analysis by RT-qPCR

Total RNA isolation

Samples were removed from the RNA later[™] preservation solution and 1200 µL of RLT Lysis Buffer was added to proceed with disruption and homogenization for 2 min at 30 Hz using TissueLyser (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Tissue lysate were processed according to the protocol from RNeasy[®] Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Total RNA was eluted in 50 µL of RNase-free water (without optional treatment with DNAse). In order to quantify the amount of total RNA extracted and verify RNA integrity (RIN, RNA Integrity Number), samples were analysed using 6000 Nano Chip[®] kit, in Agilent 2100 bioanalyser (Agilent Technologies, Walbronn, Germany) and 2100 expert software, following manufacturer instructions. The yield from isolation was from 0.5 to 3 µg; RIN values were 6.0-9.0 and purity (A260/A280) was 1.8-2.0.

Reverse transcription

RNA was reverse transcribed with SuperScript[™] III firststrand synthesis system for RT-PCR (Invitrogen, California, USA). One microgram of total RNA was mixed with a 2× First-Strand Reaction Mix and a SuperScript[™] III Enzyme Mix [Oligo (dT) plus Random hexamers]. Reactions were carried out in a thermocycler Gene Amp PCR System 9600 (Perkin Elmer, Norwalk, CT, USA), 10 min at 25°C, 50 min at 50°C and 5 min at 85°C. Reaction products were then digested with 1 µL RNase H for 20 min at 37°C and, finally, cDNA eluted to a final volume of 100 µL and stored at –20°C.

Relative quantification of gene expression

Performed using a 7900 HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). A normalization step preceded the gene expression quantification, using geNorm Housekeeping Gene Selection kit for Rattus norvegicus (Primer Design, Southampton, UK) and geNorm software (Ghent University Hospital, Center for Medical Genetics, Ghent, Belgium) to select optimal housekeeping genes to this study (Vandesompele et al., 2002). Real-time PCR reactions used specific QuantiTect Primer Assays (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) with optimized primers for Bax, Bcl-2, TRB3, IL-1β, PCNA and VEGF. Endogenous controls were also used: GAPDH, ACTB, TOP1, and RPL13 together with QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit Gene expression (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. RT-qPCR reactions were carried out with 100 ng cDNA sample, primers (50–200 nM) and 1X QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Master Mix. Nontemplate control reactions were performed for each gene, in order to assure no unspecific amplification. Reactions were performed with the following thermal profile: 10 min at 95°C plus 40 cycles of 15 s at 95°C and 1 min. at 60°C. Real-time PCR results were analysed with SDS 2.1 software (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and quantification used the $2-\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (Livak et al., 2001).

5.2.7 Statistical analysis

For all biochemical measurements made over time and treatment effect, independent samples t-Student test was used. For histopathology and immunohistochemistry data: Chi-square test with Monte Carlo simulation or exact test (when contingency tables are 2×2) was performed to find out the differences in lesions

of endocrine/exocrine pancreas between lean control and diabetic ZDF rats at the beginning of the study, (20 week-old); untreated and sitagliptin treated diabetic ZDF and lean control rats at 26 weeks of age. Independent samples t-Student test was used to determine the differences in the number, regularity and size of the pancreatic islets between lean control and diabetic ZDF rats in the pre-therapeutic stage, at 20 weeks; untreated and sitagliptin-treated diabetic ZDF and lean control ZDF rats at 26 weeks of age. Data were analysed using SPSS Statistics 20 (2011). For RT-qPCR data: For statistical analysis, we used the GraphPad Prism, Version 5.0. Comparisons between groups were performed using ANOVA and the post-hoc Bonferroni test. All values are reported as mean ± SEM (standard error of means). Significance level was accepted at 0.05.

5.3 RESULTS

5.3.1 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profiles

Concerning body weight, no significant differences were encountered between the diabetic and the lean control rats at the beginning of treatments (T0: week 20), despite the obese profile encountered in the diabetic rats between the 8th and the 14th week. At the end of the study (26 weeks), the untreated diabetic rats exhibited a reduction in their BW (p < 0.001); nevertheless, the lean control group gained weight. Sitagliptin treatment, during 6 weeks, stabilized the loss of weight in the diabetic ZDF rats and even prevented part of the BW loss when compared with the rats without treatment (Table 5.1). At the beginning of treatments (T0: week 20), fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and TGs were already significantly higher in diabetic rats when compared with their lean counterparts, indicative of a metabolic deregulation. These results were accompanied by a decrease in fasting serum insulin and in the functional ability of the pancreas, which was demonstrated by the reduction of 87.99% in HOMA-beta values. An age-dependent increase in the metabolic deregulation was observed in diabetic untreated ZDF rats presenting augmented levels of glucose,

HbA1c and TG from 20 to 26 weeks old. They also exhibited an aggravation of relative insulinopaenia, as well as a decrease in estimated steady-state β -cell function (p < 0.001). Six weeks of sitagliptin treatment was able to significantly ameliorate all the metabolic parameters as shown in Table 5.1. In fact, sitagliptin significantly (p < 0.001) prevented the additional increase in blood glucose and serum TG contents (16.54% and 37.63%, respectively, *vs* untreated), while preventing further decrease in serum insulin and enhancing the functional capacity of β -cells (156.28% and 191.74%, respectively, vs untreated) (Table 5.1).

Table 5.1 – Body weight and glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profile in the rats under study at the initial and final times

Parameter	Group	20 weeks	26 weeks
BW (g)	Control	406.70 ± 6.83	445.70 ± 8.16
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	388.10 ± 8.87	354.40 ± 8.85 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)		380.00 ± 14.46
Glucose (mg/dL)	Control	131.80 ± 1.20	133.40 ± 2.16
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	512.00 ± 4.,53 ^{aaa}	623.60 ± 7.30 ^{bb}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	_	520.44 ± 3.31 ^{ccc}
HbA1c (%)	Control	$\textbf{3.66} \pm \textbf{0.15}$	3.76 ± 0.26
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	$9.96\pm0.86^{\text{aaa}}$	$\textbf{10.68} \pm \textbf{0.75}$
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	_	$8.68\pm0.37^{\text{ccc}}$
Insulin (mU/L)	Control	14.82 ± 3.90	15.13 ± 3.34
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	$\textbf{11.62} \pm \textbf{1.15}^{\text{aaa}}$	$\textbf{7.16} \pm \textbf{1.14}^{\texttt{bbb}}$
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	$\textbf{11.19} \pm \textbf{1.73}^{\text{ccc}}$
HOMA-Beta (%)	Control	77.70 ± 2.28	77.52 ± 1.10
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	9.33 ± 0.83^{aaa}	4.60 ± 0.16^{bbb}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	8.82 ± 0.32ccc
TGs (mg/dl)	Control	111.60 ± 8.33	158.40 ± 6.80
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	366.00 ± 5.92 ^{aaa}	409.80 ± 8.04^{bb}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)		255.60 ± 3.70 ^{ccc}

Values are means \pm SEM of n = 8 rats. Comparisons between groups: aaa = p < 0.001 between diabetic versus control groups (20 or 26 weeks); bb and bbb = p < 0.01 and p < 0.001, respectively, within the diabetic group (26 versus 20 weeks); ccc = p < 0.001 between diabetic sitagliptin-treated versus diabetic untreated groups (at 26 weeks). BW: body weight; HbA1c: glycosylated haemoglobin; HOMA: homeostasis model assessment; Total-c: total-cholesterol; TGs: triglycerides.

5.3.2 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of endocrine and exocrine pancreas lesions

Comparative analysis between the endocrine pancreas of lean control and diabetic ZDF rats of 20 weeks of age revealed a significant increase in inflammation and fibrosis of Langerhans islets in the diabetic group (p < 0.01), with no statistically significant differences in other analysed parameters. At 26 weeks of age, endocrine pancreatic inflammation was significantly higher (p < 0.001) in the diabetic rats when compared with the lean control animals (Fig. 5.1 A, B and G). Sitagliptin-treated diabetic ZDF rats showed significantly (p < 0.001) reduced inflammation when compared with the untreated diabetic rats (Fig. 5.1 B, C and G). A similar profile was encountered concerning endocrine pancreatic fibrosis, which, despite the differences, did not reach statistical significance (Fig. 5.1 D-H).

Endocrine inflammation

Endocrine fibrosis





Figure 5.1 - Sitagliptin effects on inflammation and fibrosis of endocrine pancreas of diabetic **ZDF rats.** Endocrine inflammation in 26 week-old animals (images A-C): (A) Micrograph of normal islet of Langerhans observed in a lean control ZDF rat; (B) Islet of Langerhans of an untreated diabetic ZDF rat showing severe inflammatory infiltrate occupying over 50% of the islet's area (Grade 3 inflammation); (C) A clear regression of inflammation is observed after 6 weeks of sitagliptin treatment in obese diabetic ZDF rat (Grade 1 inflammation) (HE). Endocrine fibrosis observed in 26 week-old animals (images D-F): (D) Normal islet of Langerhans of lean control ZDF rat; (E) Grade 3 fibrosis in an untreated obese diabetic ZDF rat, displaying a large and irregularly shaped islet filled with fibrous tissue, evidenced by intense pink staining; (F) Grade 1 fibrosis in a regular, small islet in sitagliptin treated diabetic ZDF rats (PAS). Semiquantitative evaluation of inflammation (graph G) and fibrosis (graph H): (G) A significantly higher (p < 0.001) endocrine inflammation in diabetic rats was recorded when compared to lean control animals. Sitagliptin treatment of diabetic ZDF rats during 6 weeks significantly reduced (p < 0.001) inflammation in comparison to untreated counterparts; (H) Data for endocrine fibrosis showed a trend for an increase in diabetic rats when compared to lean control animals, and a trend for improvement with sitagliptin treatment, although without statistical significance. Chi-square test with Monte Carlo simulation or exact test (when contingency tables are 2×2) was performed to find out the differences in histomorphological lesions observed in endocrine pancreas; (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.001 for one, two or three symbols, respectively; n - 5 per group).

Concerning the exocrine pancreas lesions, in rats aged 26 week-old, while no significant changes were found concerning exocrine pancreas inflammation (Fig. 5.2 A-C and G), fibrosis was significantly (p < 0.05) increased in the diabetic ZDF rats, when compared with the lean control, which was prevented in the diabetic animals under sitagliptin therapy (Fig. 5.2 D-H).



Figure 5.2 - Sitagliptin effects on inflammation and fibrosis of exocrine pancreas of diabetic ZDF rats. Histopathological observation of exocrine inflammation in 26 week-old animals (images A-C): (A) Micrograph of a normal exocrine parenchyma of lean control ZDF rat; (B) The untreated diabetic rats exhibiting severe inflammatory infiltrate, amid the acini of the exocrine parenchyma (grade 3 inflammatory lesions); (C) Normal exocrine parenchyma with no inflammatory signs in the exocrine pancreas of sitagliptin-treated diabetic ZDF rats (HE). Histopathological observation of exocrine fibrosis in 26 week-old animals (images D-F): (D)

Normal pancreatic duct in a lean control ZDF rat; (E) An extremely thickened, grade 3, fibrotic duct, which overextends the microscopic field (interrupted arrow), with numerous neocanaliculi in the duct wall, .present in an untreated diabetic ZDF rat; (F) Improvement of duct fibrosis from grade 3 to grade 1 (full line) in a 6 weeks sitagliptin treated diabetic ZDF rat (PAS). Semiquantitative evaluation of inflammation (graph G) and fibrosis (graph H): (G) Exocrine pancreatic inflammation revealed only a slight descent in sitagliptin treated animals in relation to its untreated counterparts; (H) Sitagliptin presented a trend to decrease the duct fibrosis increment (p < 0.05) found in the untreated ZDF rats. Chi-square test with Monte Carlo simulation or exact test (when contingency tables are 2×2) was performed to find out the differences in histomorphological lesions observed in exocrine pancreas (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.001 for one, two or three symbols, respectively; n = 5 per group).

5.3.3 Cytoprotective effects of sitagliptin against pancreatic damage progression

Pancreatic tissue mRNA levels of mediators of apoptotic machinery showed a significantly increased (p < 0.05) expression of the apoptotic Bax, as well as, anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 in the 26 week-old diabetic ZDF rats (Fig. 5.3 A and B, respectively), when compared with the lean ZDF animals, thus resulting in an unchanged Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (Fig. 5.3 C). In the diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment, there was an overexpression of the mRNA for both Bax and Bcl-2, favouring a reduced Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (Fig. 5.3 A-C) as a result of a higher increment of mRNA expression of Bcl-2 when compared with Bax.

The pancreatic mRNA expression of Bax and Bcl-2 was accompanied by protein expression studies of immunohistochemistry (Fig. 5.3 D-L). In the untreated diabetic animals there was a significantly (p < 0.05) rise in Bax stained cells and unchanged Bcl-2, resulting in a trend to an increased Bax/Bcl-2 ratio, when compared with the controls; sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats presented a trend for increased protein expression of Bax, accompanied by a significantly (p < 0.001) increased expression of Bcl-2, which results in a Bax/Bcl-2 ratio identical to that found for the control animals (Fig. 5.3 D-L).



Figure 5.3 - Sitagliptin protects the diabetic ZDF rats against endocrine pancreas apoptotic cell death. Upper panel (A-C) - pancreas mRNA expression of Bax and bcl-2 in 26 week-old ZDF rats: A significant increase (p < 0.05) in apoptotic protein Bax (A), as well as, in anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 (B) was observed in the untreated diabetic ZDF rats when compared with the lean control

ZDF animals, resulting in an unchanged Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (C). In the sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats an overexpression of the mRNA was registered for both Bax (not statically significant) and Bcl-2 (p < 0.001) ensuing a reduced Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (C). Middle panel (D-I) - Immunostaining of pancreas Bax and Bcl-2 in 26 week-old ZDF rats: (D) The expression of Bax protein is not present in the pancreatic islet (grade 0) of a lean control rat; (E) A deeply stained islet (grade 3) revealing Bax protein expression in untreated diabetic ZDF rat; (F) The diabetic sitagliptintreated rats displayed a light stained islet (grade 1); (G) Expression of Bcl-2 protein not observed in islet (grade 0) of a lean control rat; (H) A moderately stained islet (grade 2) with Bcl-2 antibody in an untreated diabetic ZDF rat; (I) An intensely stained islet (grade 3) in a diabetic sitagliptin-treated rat. Lower panel (J-L) - Quantification of protein expression: Bax protein expression in diabetic untreated rats exhibited a significant increase in relation to lean control rats; in sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats, Bax presented a trend for overexpression (J), accompanied by a significantly (p < 0.001) increased expression of Bcl-2 (K), resulting in a Bax/Bcl-2 ratio identical to control animals (L). Statistical comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA and the post-hoc Bonferroni test (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.001 for one, two or three symbols, respectively; n = 5 per group).

Concerning other putative mechanisms behind the protective effects of sitagliptin on the pancreatic tissue, we found that the diabetic rats, aged 26 weeks, presented a significantly increased pancreatic mRNA expression of IL-1 β (p < 0.01), which was prevented (p < 0.001) in the sitagliptin-treated group (Fig. 5.4 A). Sitagliptin was able to promote overexpression (p < 0.001) of VEGF and PCNA mRNA when compared with the untreated diabetic rats (Fig. 5.4 B and C, respectively).



Figure 5.4 - Effects of sitagliptin treatment on pancreatic mRNA expression of mediators of inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation: IL-1 β , VEGF and PCNA. (A) mRNA expression of pancreatic IL-1 β in untreated diabetic ZDF rats was significantly increased (p < 0.01) in contrast to lean control rats; in the sitagliptin-treated diabetic group, overexpression of IL-1 β was significantly prevented (p < 0.001). Overexpression (p < 0.001) of VEGF (B) and PCNA (C) mRNA in ZDF diabetic rats treated with sitagliptin for 6 weeks when compared with untreated diabetic rats. Statistical comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA and the post-hoc Bonferroni test (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p < 0.001 for one, two or three symbols, respectively; n = 5 per group).

In addition, sitagliptin treatment totally (p < 0.001) prevented the diabetesinduced increment (p < 0.001) in TRIB3 expression in the pancreatic tissue (Fig. 5.5 A-D). TRIB3



Figure 5.5 - Sitagliptin prevents TRIB3 protein overexpression in pancreas of ZDF diabetic rats. Micrographs of TRIB3 expression by immunostaining in 26 week-old ZDF rats (A-C): (A) Lean ZDF control rat presenting unstained pancreatic islet (grade 0); (B) Untreated diabetic ZDF

rat showing an intensely stained pancreatic islet (grade 3); (C) Sitagliptin-treated diabetic rat for 6 weeks displayed light staining of endocrine cells (grade 1). Exocrine pancreatic tissue presents normal constant staining for TRIB3 in all three groups. (D) Quantification of protein expression by score points: expression of TRIB3 is almost undetectable in control rats, rising very significantly (p < 0.001) in untreated diabetic ZDF rats; and declining very meaningfully (p < 0.001) in 6 weeks sitagliptin-treated diabetic treated rats. Statistical comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA and the post-hoc Bonferroni test (p < 0.05, p<0.01 and p < 0.001 for one, two or three symbols, respectively; n = 5 per group).

5.4 DISCUSSION

Previous studies propose that a disruption of the normal relationship between insulin sensitivity and pancreatic β -cell function is crucial for the pathogenesis of T2DM (Virally et al., 2007), and that the degeneration of Langerhans islets with β -cell loss is secondary to insulin resistance and may have a key role in the progression of the disease (Kahn et al., 2000; Marchetti et al., 2010). Furthermore, the loss of β -cell mass is not yet completely elucidated, but a possible cause may reside in apoptotic processes and in a lost capacity for pancreatic regeneration (Robertson, 2004; Li et al., 2003; Brownlee, 2003). Previous studies have been suggesting that gliptins are able to preserve both β -cell function and cell mass in animal models of diabetes (Yeom et al., 2011; Ferreira et al, 2010; Matveyenko et al., 2009; Maida et al., 2009) but the mechanisms underlying the protective effects remain to be elucidated.

Consistent with previous reports our study demonstrated that a 6 weeks sitagliptin treatment was able to improve β -cell function as well as preserve pancreatic islet structure. We hypothesize that sitagliptin is able to preserve pancreatic function by improving insulin resistance and by other cytoprotective effects, including anti-apoptotic, anti-inflammatory and pro-proliferative pathways, based on the cytoprotective properties previously reported for incretin peptides in distinct tissues (Mu et al., 2006; Matveyenko et al., 2009; Maida et al., 2009; Ferreira et al, 2010; Nachnani et al., 2010; Yeom et al., 2011; Maiztegui et al., 2011; Gonçalves et al., 2012). In fact, the results presented herein strongly suggest that in diabetic ZDF rats sitagliptin may derive its cytoprotective effects via two different type of influences: directly reducing apoptosis and promoting cell proliferation due to increased incretin availability; indirectly via metabolic effects, including amelioration of chronically

elevated glucose and triglycerides, prevention of insulinopaenia and reduction of inflammation, thus protecting from deleterious effects derived from glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity and insulin resistance.

The histomorphological evaluation of endocrine and exocrine pancreatic tissue shows that the differences between diabetic untreated and sitagliptin-treated animals were striking. In fact, the sitagliptin-treated rats presented an amelioration of inflammation and fibrosis in endocrine and exocrine pancreas. In particular, inflammation was highly reduced in the islets of Langerhans, and the exocrine pancreas of diabetic rats receiving sitagliptin did not present fibrotic changes in the vascular and the ductal walls. The changes described above were repeatedly and systematically observed by two pathologists unaware of the identity of the slides. These findings are in accordance with our preliminary work (Ferreira et al, 2010) but in contradiction with the results obtained by Matveyenko et al. (2009) using a DPP-4 inhibitor in human IAPP transgenic (HIP) rats and by Nachnani et al. (2010) using an injection of GLP-1 agonist, suggesting that the enhancement of endogenous GLP-1 levels could induce undetected low grade asymptomatic chronic pancreatitis. The histomorphological observations were in accordance with an improvement in pancreatic β-cell function as shown by the augmentation in HOMA-beta in diabetic sitagliptin-treated rats. The effects of chronic inhibition of DPP-4 in increasing β -cell mass and function over time could be due, at least in part, by the increase in glucosestimulated insulin secretion, which is believed to be mediated primarily via stabilization of the incretin hormones, including GLP-1 (Farilla et al., 2002).

It is well established that apoptosis is one of the pathways responsible for the progressive deterioration of β -cells and evolution of diabetes. Our study suggests that sitagliptin is able to promote an anti-apoptotic effect, which is in agreement with other reports (Yeom et al., 2011; Maiztegui et al., 2011; Matveyenko et al., 2009; Maida et al., 2009; Nauck et al., 2009) in the pancreatic tissue. In fact, Matveyenko et al. (2009) reported that sitagliptin therapy led to preservation of β -cell mass in HIP rats as compared with its untreated counterparts, while Maida et al. (2009) reported an increment of percentage of β -cell area in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice under sitagliptin treatment. The anti-apoptotic properties of sitagliptin is also in agreement with the effects reported in extra-pancreatic tissues, such as the kidney, with

improvement of renal function and reduction of parenchymal damage, due to a decrease in apoptosis, inflammation and an increase of in antioxidant capacity (Maiztegui et al., 2011; Hocher et al., 2012; Joo et al., 2013). Apart from the antiapoptotic effect suggested by our results, the protective effects afforded by sitagliptin on the pancreas tissue might be the result of other activities previously described for the incretin peptides, including GLP-1 (Deacon, 2002; Ahrén et al., 2004; Holst et al., 2004; Gallwitz, 2005; Green et al., 2006; Darnell et al., 2008; Gallwitz 2014). Antiinflammatory, pro-angiogenic and pro-proliferative properties are suggested by the reduced expression of IL-1 β and by the increased expression of VEGF and PCNA observed in the pancreas tissue of sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats. Inflammation has been associated with the development of insulin resistance, β -cell apoptosis and evolution of diabetes, and IL-1 β is one of the main inflammatory cytokines in the process (Maedler et al., 2011). We and other authors have suggested antiinflammatory properties of gliptins in distinct animal models and tissues, as well as, in T2DM patients (Ferreira et al., 2010; Goçalves et al., 2012; Joo et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2013; Satoh-Asahara et al., 2013; Derosa et al., 2013), in agreement with our hypothesis. VEGF is expressed in the endocrine cells and the increased VEGF expression found in the diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment might be viewed as an increased capacity for tissue regeneration. The same is true for PCNA, which is an indicator for cell proliferation and has been used in the present work to determine β cell mass expansion (Duvillié et al., 2002; Li et al., 2006). It could be hypothesized that sitagliptin-evoked increased GLP-1 availability, due to inhibition of its degradation by DPP-4, will favour the development of new cells, via proliferation enhancement of preexisting cells and induction of islet neogenesis, effects that were previously reported for GLP-1 (Farilla, 2002).

The second mechanism involved in the effect of sitagliptin may be related to significant improvement in the metabolic profile, including amelioration of glucose, insulin and TGs levels. We must empathize that the dose of sitagliptin used in our study (10 mg/kg/day) may be considered a low dose as others have used higher doses or a twice a day treatment (Matveyenko et al., 2009; Maida et al., 2009; Maiztegui et al., 2011). Nevertheless, sitagliptin treatment improved hyperglycaemia and hypertriglyceridaemia, thus ameliorating glucolipotoxicity in the diabetic ZDF rats.

Several pathophysiological mechanisms have been identified as potential contributors to β -cell stress and subsequent dysfunction, including glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity, and increased secretory demand resulting from insulin resistance. In addition, disturbances in secretion of various adipose tissue-secreted factors or cytokines derived from the innate immune system might also play a causal role (Lin et al., 2001). Furthermore, both hyperglycaemia and hyperlipidaemia are associated with induction of oxidative stress in β -cells. Previously, we have already demonstrated using this animal model that a low-dose chronic sitagliptin treatment was able to promote a favourable impact on chronic inflammation and oxidative stress (Ferreira et al, 2010). In this context, it should also be noted that the effect of liraglutide upon endoplasmatic reticulum stress, oxidative stress and cell apoptosis in diabetic db/db rats, as well as the results of vildagliptin in diabetic KK-Ay mice, are essentially compatible with those observed in this study (Prudente et al., 2009; Shimoda et al., 2011; Hamamoto et al., 2013).

Malfunctioning insulin secretion and/or insulin resistance are recognized as key factors for the pathogenesis of T2DM (Prudente et al., 2009; Beguinot, 2010); the latter results from anomalies in the insulin signaling cascade, a regulated complex molecular pathway, which may be inhibited and activated by many biochemical mechanisms (Beguinot, 2010). One of the genes implicated in coding inhibitors of insulin signaling and action is TRIB3, a mammalian tribbles homolog that binds Akt inhibiting downstream insulin-signalling cascade (Beguinot, 2010; Prudente et al., 2012). Our current study revealed that 26 week old ZDF diabetic rats showed pancreas overexpression of TRIB3 which, concurrently, showed insulin resistance and relative insulinopaenia. Sitagliptin treatment was able to completely reduce tissue TRIB3 expression, which might be a key mechanism for the decline of insulin resistance and improvement of insulin secretion observed in the diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment. It has been shown, in cellular and animal models, that changes in TRIB3 expression levels induce systemic insulin resistance (Bi et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010). Indeed, increased TRIB3 expression was observed in islets from T2DM donors and high fed diet (HFD) mice (Prudente et al., 2009; Prudente et al., 2012). In humans, TRIB3 has also been associated with insulin resistance and T2DM, accompanied by enhanced inhibition of insulin signalling and AKT/PKB activation in different tissues, including the β -cells (Prudente et al., 2005; Gong et al., 2009;
Prudente et al., 2009). Prior rodent studies (Liu et al., 2010; Bi et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Ostertag et al., 2010), indicate that TRIB3 overexpression plays a major role in modulating whole-body insulin sensitivity and suggest a possible involvement in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance-related metabolic abnormalities. Another pivotal aspect by which TRIB3 seems to be associated with the evolution of insulin resistance and pancreas degradation is its role in inducing apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells and inhibiting cell proliferation; so by downregulating the expression of TRIB3, sitagliptin promotes anti-apoptotic effects and enhance β -cell proliferation, thus contributing to the beneficial effects afforded by this DPP-4 inhibitor in this animal model.

In conclusion, in this animal model of obese type 2 diabetes (the ZDF rat) sitagliptin prevented β -cell dysfunction and evolution of pancreas damage. The protective effects afforded by this DPP-4 inhibitor may derive from improvement of metabolic profile (related to amelioration of glycaemic and lipidic levels and of insulin resistance) and from cytoprotective properties. In fact, sitagliptin was able to reduce Bax/Bcl-2 ratio, suggestive of an anti-apoptotic effect, and completely prevented the increased pancreas overexpression of IL-1 β and TRIB3 found in the untreated diabetic animals, thus demonstrating an anti-inflammatory action; in addition, sitagliptin was able to properties.

Chapter 6

Sitagliptin ameliorates diabetic nephropathy in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat due to antiinflammatory and anti-apoptotic properties

6.1 BACKGROUND AND AIMS

T2DM is an increasing health problem, with increasing prevalence and incidence, according to all estimates worldwide (IDF, 2011). The core pathophysiology of T2DM has been attributed to the classic triad of decreased insulin secretion, increased insulin resistance, and elevated hepatic glucose production. Further mechanisms have also key relevance, including those related with the fat cell (accelerated lipolysis), the gastrointestinal tract (incretin deficiency/resistance), the pancreatic α -cell (hyperglucagonaemia), the kidney (increased glucose reabsorption), as well as the brain (insulin resistance), now referred to as the "ominous octet" (De Fronzo, 2009). The main problem affecting T2DM management is its serious microvascular complications, which include, among others, DN (Gray et al., 2011). The incidence of T2DM is rapidly increasing, as is the prevalence of CVD and CKD resulting from diabetic complications (Stewart et al., 2007; Marchant, 2008; Crawford, 2010). Diabetes remains the single most important cause of kidney failure in different regions of the world. DN is a major microvascular complication of diabetes with progression to ESRD (Wakai et al., 2004; Stewart et al., 2007), accounting for approximately one-third of all cases of ESRD.

There is emerging evidence that microvascular kidney disease begins prior to the onset of diabetes, and this occurs with microalbuminuria and decreased renal function. Experimental and clinical studies showed an adaptive response by the kidney to conserve glucose, which is essential to meet the energy demands of the body (Dominguez et al., 1994; Kamran et al., 1997; Noonan et al., 2001; Lorenzo et al., 2008). In the diabetic patient, instead of dumping glucose in the urine to correct hyperglycaemia, the kidney chooses to hold on to glucose. Even worse, the ability of the diabetic kidney to reabsorb glucose appears to be augmented by an absolute increase in the renal reabsorptive capacity for glucose (Balakumar et al., 2009; Sego, 2007). The hyperglycaemic profile is aggravated by oxidative stress damage and inflammation, as well as by over activity of the RAAS and alteration of the extracellular matrix protein synthesis by glomerular epithelial cells, which contributes to further aggravate DN (Singh et al., 2011; Rivero et al., 2009; Chawla et al., 2010, Morano et al.,

2008). Additionally, accumulating evidence also points to a crucial role of the inflammatory processes in the development and progression of DN (Saraheimo et al., 2003; Dalla Vestra et al., 2005; Nelson et al., 2005). This inflammatory response is mediated by diverse inflammatory cells, including macrophages, monocytes, and leukocytes, as well as, by other molecules, such as chemokines, adhesion molecules, and inflammatory cytokines, namely TNF- α and IL-1 β (Nelson et al., 2005; Rivero et al., 2009; Lim et al., 2012). As inflammation persists, certain vascular changes are exacerbated, such as endothelial dysfunction, tissue damage, renal fibrosis, and apoptotic cell death (Rivero et al., 2009; Lim et al., 2012). Apoptosis has been increasingly associated with the development and/or progression of DN (Wagener et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2010). It has been described that glucose-induced ROS production contributes to apoptosis in podocytes (Susztak et al., 2006), mesangial (Kang et al., 2003) and tubular cells (Verzola et al., 2002), leading to DN progression. Furthermore, high glucose-mediated oxidative stress in tubular cells has been associated with increased levels of pro-apoptotic proteins, such as Bax (Verzola et al., 2002). It was also observed that high glucose induces an increased ratio of Bax/Bcl-2, associated with cytochrome-c release from mitochondria in renal mesangial cells (Kang et al., 2003).

Evidence is available that long-term maintenance of normal or near-normal glucose levels using pharmacological means is protective in diabetic patients, improving microvascular disease and reducing both morbidity and mortality (Bilous et al., 2006; Bouattar et al, 2009; Krentz et al., 2009). Traditionally, non-insulin dependent T2DM is pharmacologically managed with oral antidiabetic agents from several different classes, which includes agents that increase insulin secretion, improve insulin action and delay absorption of carbohydrates. The more recent incretin-based therapies address a previously unmet need in the diabetic therapeutic approach by modulating glucose supply (Frias et al., 2007; Mizuno et al., 2008; Srinivasan et al., 2008). Their pharmacological action is based on gut incretin hormones (GIP and GLP-1), which appear to be malfunctioning in T2DM and have important effects on insulin and glucagon secretion (Girard, 2008; Gautier et al., 2008). Sitagliptin is the best known incretin enhancer (or gliptin), which increases incretin contents due to inhibition of DPP-4 activity, which is responsible for the degradation of GLP-1

(Srinivasan et al., 2008; Unger, 2010; Abel et al., 2010; Dhillon, 2010). Even though there is a patent association in observational studies between hyperglycaemia and diabetic complications, the benefits of strict glycaemic control on micro- and macrovascular complications have been questioned. Therefore, the benefit of lowering glucose seems to be, at least, partly minimized by the side-effects of the glucoselowering antidiabetic agents, including hypoglycaemia, weight gain and fluid retention. In this context, new therapeutic options with fewer side-effects are advisory, and the appearance of incretin-based therapies is a hope. However, clinical studies with renal end-points using these agents are lacking, as well as, animal studies assessing the influence of these drugs on renal function and lesion.

Rodent models of T2DM are frequently used to clarify the mechanisms responsible for the pathophysiology of diabetes evolution, as well as its complications. The ZDF rat has a mutation in the gene coding the leptin receptor (fa/fa) that results in obesity, insulin resistance, reduced glucose tolerance, hypertension, and renal and CV diseases, thus developing a phenotype very similar to humans with T2DM, including the existence of DN (Janssen et al., 1999; Phillips et al., 1999; Peterson et al., 1990). Our group has previously reported that a chronic low-dose sitagliptin treatment promotes not only a reduction of hyperglycaemia, but also other protective actions (including antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects) (Ferreira et al., 2010). Considering the extra-pancreatic effects of incretins, namely GLP-1's ability to positively modulate the function of other tissues (Drucker, 2006b; Holst et al., 2009), it seems important to evaluate the effects of sitagliptin in DN, as well as to characterize the nature of the putative benefit. We and other authors have been exploiting the cytoprotective actions of DPP-4 inhibitors in distinct organs and pathological conditions in pancreas, retina, and heart disorders (Mu et al., 2006; Read et al., 2010; Gonçalves et al., 2012). However, until now, few studies have addressed the putative beneficial impact of these agents, including sitagliptin, on DN (Vaghasiya et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012). In addition, the impact of sitagliptin therapy on oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis underlying DN development remains relatively unexploited. Several experimental studies have shown that different therapeutic strategies prevent the development or ameliorate renal injury in diabetes, suggesting that modulation of oxidative, inflammatory and apoptotic processes is a potential

therapeutic target to prevent renal injury in animal models of diabetes (Yozai et al., 2005; Tone et al., 2005; Ohga et al., 2007). Concerning the management of DN, the ability of antidiabetic drugs to ameliorate renal microvascular disease might be as important as their capability to control glucose. Thus, the present study aimed to evaluate whether sitagliptin can prevent the development of renal dysfunction in diabetic ZDF rats, focusing on antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic properties.

6.2 METHODS

6.2.1 Animals and experimental design

The animal protocol (including animals, animal groups, performed treatment and comparison between animal groups) was previously described in Chapter 5.

6.2.2 Sample collection and preparation

Kidneys were collected in the same conditions as described for the pancreas in Chapter 5. For immunohistochemistry and fluorescence microscopy studies the kidneys were embedded in OCT tissue embedding matrix (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at -50 °C and for immunoblot analysis were frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80 °C.

6.2.3 Kidney function and trophism

Serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) concentrations were used as renal function indexes, and assessed through automatic validated methods and equipment (Hitachi 717 analyser, Roche Diagnostics Inc., MA, USA). The weights of kidneys (KW) and the ratio KW/BW were measured in all the rats under study in order to be used as renal trophy indexes.

6.2.4 Kidney lipid peroxidation

Kidney lipid peroxidation was assessed by the thiobarbituric acid reactivespecies (TBARs) assay, measuring the malondialdehyde (MDA) content, according to that previously described in (Ferreira et al., 2010). Samples were analysed spectrophotometrically at 532nm using 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane (TMP) as external standard. The concentration of lipid peroxides (in MDA) was expressed as μ mol/L.

6.2.5 Histopathological analysis

Haematoxylin and Eosin Staining

Samples were processed as previously described in Chapter 5.

Periodic Acid of Schiff Staining

Samples were processed following the same method elucidated in in Chapter 5. Periodic acid of Schiff (PAS) was used to evaluate and confirm the levels of mesangial expansion, thickening of basement membranes and sclerotic parameters.

Histopathology

Glomerular damage was assessed by evaluating mesangial expansion, glomerular basement membrane and capsule of Bowman thickening, nodular sclerosis, glomerulosclerosis, atrophy, and hyalinosis of the vascular pole. Analysed tubulointerstitial lesions comprised inflammation, presence of hyaline cylinders, tubular basement membrane irregularity, tubular calcification, and the association of interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA). The evaluation of vascular lesions was concentrated on arteriolar hyalinosis and arteriosclerosis. A semiquantitative rating for each slide ranging from normal (or minimal) to severe (extensive damage) was assigned to each component. Severity was graded as 0-absent/normal, 1-mild, 2moderate, and 3-severe. Scoring was defined according to the extension occupied by the lesion (% area): 0-normal: <25%; 1-mild: 25–50%; 2-moderate: 50–75% and 3severe: >75%. The final score of each sample was obtained by the average scores observed in individual glomeruli in the considered microscopic fields. Tubulointerstitial damage was evaluated and graded by the same semiguantitative method, with the exception of IFTA, which was graded as 0-normal, 1-mild, 2-moderate, and 3-severe, if present in <25%, between 25–50%, and over 50% of affected area, respectively. Regarding vascular lesions, arteriolar hyalinosis was scored as 0 if absent, as 1 if one arteriole with hyalinosis was present, and as 2 if more than one arteriole was observed in the entire slide. Arteriosclerosis was scored as 0 if no intimal thickening was present,

as 1 if intimal thickening was less than the thickness of the media, and as 2 if intimal thickening was more than the thickness of the media and considering the worst artery on the slide. When using PAS, the rating was set for intensity and extension of staining, ranging from 0 (no staining) to 3 (intense and extensive staining), respecting tissue specificity scoring when adequate.

6.2.6 Kidney gene (mRNA) expression

Total RNA isolation

The kidneys were stored in RNAlater solution (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). For RNA extraction the methodology followed is described in in Chapter 5.

Reverse transcription

RNA reverse transcription was executed as in in Chapter 5 with SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis System for RTPCR (Invitrogen, California, USA). One microgram of total RNA was mixed with a 2 × First-Strand Reaction Mix and a SuperScript III Enzyme Mix [Oligo (dT) plus Random hexamers]. Reactions were carried out in a thermocycler Gene Amp PCR System 9600 (Perkin Elmer, Norwalk, CT, USA), 10 min at 25°C, 30 min at 50°C, and 5 min at 85°C. Reaction products were then digested with 1 μ L (2U) RNase H for 20min at 37°C and, finally, cDNA was eluted to a final volume of 50 μ L and stored at –20°C.

Relative gene expression quantification

Gene expression was performed using the protocol in Chapter 5. For the kidneys, real-time PCR reactions used specific QuantiTect Primer Assays (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) with optimized primers for Bax, Bcl-2, IL-1 β , and TNF- α . The endogenous controls used were: glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, β -actin, and topoisomerase I together with a QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) used according to manufacturer's instructions.

6.2.7 Kidney Immunohistochemistry and fluorescence microscopy

Transverse sections of rat kidneys (6 μ m) were fixed with cold acetone for 10 min. The sections were then washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), permeabilised for 30min with 0.25% Tx-100 in PBS, and blocked for 40min with 10%

normal goat serum or with 5% BSA, prior to incubation overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies goat anti-IL-1 β and rabbit anti-TNF- α from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). The sections were rinsed with PBS and then incubated with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) and secondary fluorescent antibodies for 1h at room temperature. After washing, samples were imaged using a confocal microscope (LSM 710, Carl Zeiss, Gottingen, Germany).

6.2.8 Western blotting

Kidney sections were weighed, cut into small pieces, and homogenized by mechanical dissociation using a Potter-Elvehjem, at 4ºC, in 5 volumes of RIPA lysis buffer (150mM NaCl, 50mM Tris (pH 7.5), 5mM ethylene glycol tetra-acetic acid (EGTA), 1% Triton X- 100 (Tx-100), 0.5% sodium deoxycholate (DOC), and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), supplemented with 2mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 2mM iodoacetamide (IAD), 30mM NaF, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, and 1x protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA). After incubation on ice for 1 h, the lysates were sonicated and then centrifuged at 16,000 ×g, for 15 min, at 4°C. After centrifugation, the resulting supernatant fractions were used to determine protein concentration using the bicinchoninic acid assay (Pierce, Rockfor, IL, USA) and then were denatured with Laemmli buffer. For the western blot analysis, 40 to 80 μ g of protein were loaded per lane on SDS-PAGE. Following electrophoresis and transfer to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes (Immobilon-P PVDF transfer membranes 0.45 μ m, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), the blots were incubated with mouse monoclonal anti-Bcl-2 and rabbit polyclonal anti-Bax from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and rabbit polyclonal anti-Bid from Millipore and mouse monoclonal anti- β actin antibody from Sigma-Aldrich. The bands intensity was detected by ECL reagent (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) using an imaging system (VersaDoc 4000 MP, Bio-Rad). Densitometric analyses were performed using the ImageJ 1.42n software.

6.2.9 Apoptosis assay

Apoptotic cell death was detected by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferasemediated dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) assay, using the *in situ* Cell Death Detection

Kit, Fluorescein (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Briefly, kidney frozen sections (6μ m) were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde and permeabilised with 1% Tx-100 in 1% sodium citrate (pH6) for 2 minutes on ice. Slides were washed in PBS and then incubated for 60min at 37°C with TUNEL reaction mix. The nuclei specimens counterstained with DAPI were analysed with the confocal microscope.

6.2.10 Statistical analysis

For the histopathological data the categorical variables are counts of renal lesions severity in scores. Quantitative values are reported as mean ± SEM. Significance level was accepted at 0.05. Data were analysed using SPSS Statistics 18 (2009). Chisquare test with Monte Carlo simulation or exact test (when contingency tables are 2 × 2) was used to find out the differences of severity score distributions in renal lesions at the beginning of the study (20 weeks old) between lean control and diabetic rats and at the end of the study (26 weeks old), between untreated diabetic, sitagliptin treated diabetic and lean control rats. To analyse the influence of sitagliptin treatment in renal lesions after 6 weeks of chronic treatment (final time 26 weeks), we generated two quantitative variables, by averaging the scores of two types of renal lesions: global glomerular lesions comprising mesangial expansion, thickening of GBM, thickening of CB, nodular sclerosis, glomerulosclerosis, glomerular atrophy, and hyalinosis of the vascular pole and global tubulointerstitial lesions comprising hyaline cylinders, TBM irregularity, tubular calcification, IFTA, and tubular degeneration. On these two variables was performed an ANOVA and subsequent LSD post hoc test to find out the differences between untreated diabetic rats, sitagliptin treated diabetic rats, and lean control rats. Regarding the remaining parameters, data are expressed as mean \pm standard errors of the mean (SEM). The comparison of values between groups was performed by using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test (Graph Pad Prism 5.0 software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Values of p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

6.3 RESULTS

6.3.1 Sitagliptin treatment partially improves kidney function

At the beginning of the study, 20 weeks, BUN contents were already significantly higher (p < 0.001) in the diabetic ZDF rats when compared with the control animals, without significant changes of creatinine (Table 6.1). The diabetic rats treated with sitagliptin showed BUN values identical to those found for the control animals at the final time (26 weeks), contrasting with the higher value (p < 0.01) encountered in the diabetic ZDF without treatment (Table 6.1). Concerning kidney trophism, we found that at week 20, there was already kidney hypertrophism, viewed by increased value (p < 0.05) of KW and of KW/BW in the diabetic rats when compared with the control animals, which was even increased in the final time. Sitagliptin treatment did not changed kidney trophism parameters in the diabetic animals (Table 6.1).

Parameter	Group	20 weeks	26 weeks
	Control	2.39 ± 0.08	2.56 ± 0.04
KW (g)	Diabetic (Vehicle)	3.25 ± 0.26^{a}	3.02 ± 0.09^{a}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	3.15 ± 0.05
KW/BW (g/Kg)	Control	6.11 ± 0.15	5.71 ± 0.07
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	8.82 ± 0.73^{a}	8.42 ± 0.42^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	8.42 ± 0.40
Creatinine (mg/dl)	Control	0.55 ± 0.03	0.53 ± 0.03
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0.55 ± 0.06	0.54 ± 0.08
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	0.49 ± 0.04
BUN (mg/dl)	Control	14.35 ± 0.47	15.05 ± 0.54
	Diabetic (Vehicle)	18.15 ± 0.84^{aaa}	18.03 ± 1.20^{aa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	—	15.16 ± 0.61^{b}

Table 6.1 - Effects of sitagliptin on renal trophism and function parameters

Values are means \pm SEM of n = 8 rats. Comparisons between groups: a – Lean control vs Diabetic ZDF rats; b - diabetic untreated versus diabetic sitagliptin-treated rats; .p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p ≤ 0.001 for one, two or three letters, respectively. KW: kidney weight; BW, body weight; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; 20 weeks, initial time; 26 weeks, final time.

6.3.2 Sitagliptin treatment improves kidney lipidic peroxidation

At the initial time (20 weeks), MDA contents were unchanged between the lean control and the diabetic animals. A trend to higher values in the diabetic rats was found at the final time, 26 weeks. This profile was completely reversed by sitagliptin treatment, since the kidney MDA values were substantially (p < 0.001) lower than those found in the diabetic untreated animals (Fig. 6.1).



Figure 6.1 – Kidney lipidic peroxidation (MDA). MDA for the lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rats, in the initial and final times (6 weeks of vehicle or 10 mg/kg BW/day sitagliptin treatment). Data is expressed as mean ± sem of 8 rats/group. Comparisons between groups: b - diabetic untreated versus diabetic sitagliptin-treated rats. Three letters for p < 0.001. MDA – malondialdehyde.

6.3.3 Sitagliptin prevents aggravation of renal lesions

Glomerular lesions

Comparative analysis between lean control obese diabetic ZDF rats of 20 weeks of age revealed a significantly ($p \le 0.001$) increased mesangial expansion, nodular sclerosis, glomerulosclerosis and glomerular atrophy in the obese diabetic animals, accompanied by a significant thickening of glomerular basement membrane and capsule of Bowman (p < 0.01) (Fig. 6.2 A and B). When aged 26 weeks, the obese diabetic rats showed aggravated glomerular basement membrane thickening and glomerular atrophy (p < 0.001), when compared with the lean control animals, accompanied by a significantly more intense expression of mesangial expansion and capsule of Bowman thickening (p < 0.01). Glomerulosclerosis was also significantly

more obvious in diabetic subjects (p < 0.05) (Fig. 6.2 C and D). Concerning ageing effects from 20 to 26 weeks in the lean rats, the most noted alterations were capsule of Bowman thickening (P < 0.01) and increase in nodular sclerosis (p < 0.01) (Fig. 6.2 A and C). In the obese diabetic rats, between 20 and 26 weeks, there was a statistically significant increase in glomerular basement membrane (P < 0.05) and capsule of Bowman thickening (P < 0.05). Hyalinosis of the vascular glomerular pole was absent in all lean rats but was present in the obese diabetic ZDF rats, as soon as 20 weeks of age, with a tendency for aggravation at 26 weeks.

Concerning the sitagliptin effects in the diabetic rats at 26 weeks old, there was a reduction of severity of fibrosis, demonstrated by the significant decrease of global glomerulosclerosis (p < 0.01), which is in agreement with the less severe nodular sclerosis (p < 0.01) (Fig. 6.3 A). Hyalinosis of the vascular glomerular pole was also significantly decreased (Table 6.2). Mesangial expansion and glomerular basement membrane thickening showed a trend for improvement in the sitagliptin-treated diabetic rats versus the untreated (Table 6.2; Fig. 6.3 B, C, and D). Therefore, mesangial expansion showed a 37.5% reduction in the most severe grade and glomerular basement membrane presented 12.5% reduction in grade 2 and 3 of lesion severity (Table 6.2). Glomerular atrophy showed a significant (p < 0.01) improvement in diabetic sitagliptin treated rats (Table 6.2; Fig. 6.4). When considering all the glomerular lesions, the diabetic rats presented a notorious pattern of lesion (p < 0.001), when compared with the lean animals, which was significantly ameliorated (p < 0.05) by chronic sitagliptin treatment (Fig. 6.6).

Table 6.2 – Scoring and distribution of glomerular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rats kidneys at the final time, 26 weeks of age (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment)

Lesions	Group	Score			
		G0	G1	G2	G3
	Control	3	3	2	0
Mesangial expansion	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	3	5 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	1	5	2
	Control	3	5	0	0
GBM thickening	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	2 ^{aa}	6 ^{aa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	2	1	5
	Control	1	6	1	0
CB thickening	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	4	4
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	4	0	4
	Control	2	4	2	0
Nodular sclerosis	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	5	3	0
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	0	2 ^{bb}	6 ^{bb}
	Control	2	3	3	0
Glomerulosclerosis	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0 ^a	3	5 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	4 ^{bb}	4 ^b	0^{bbb}
	Control	6	2	0	0
Glomerular atrophy	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	4 ^{aaa}	4 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	4 ^{bb}	2 ^b	2 ^b
	Control	8	0	0	0
Vascular Pole Hyalinosis	Diabetic (Vehicle)	2	1	2	3
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	7 ^{bbb}	1 ^b	0 ^b

Values are means \pm SEM of n = 8 rats. Comparative analysis between groups a – Diabetic *versus* control rats at 26 weeks of age; b – Sitagliptin-treated diabetic diabetic *versus* untreated rats at 26 weeks of age. One, two or three letters for P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively. GBM, glomerular basement membrane; CB, Capsule of Bowman; G0, grade 0; G1, grade 1; G2, grade 2; G3, grade 3.



Figure 6.2 – Evolution of renal lesions with diabetes and age and in lean control and diabetic ZDF rats. (A) Normal renal histology in lean control rats at 20 weeks of age. (B) Glomerulus presenting grade 1 mesangial expansion and thickening of the capsule of Bowman in a lean control rat at 26 weeks of age, the tubulointerstitial pattern is normal. (C) Nodular sclerosis with *sinequia* attaching the tuft to Bowman's capsule, mesangial expansion and arteriolar sclerosis in a diabetic rat of 20 weeks. (D) Atrophic, sclerotic glomerulus, exhibiting filtrate fluid in Bowman's space. Note the presence of hyaline cylinders and the irregularity of tubular basement membranes, diabetic rat of 26 weeks, (PAS).



Figure 6.3 - Effects of chronic treatment with sitagliptin on glomerular lesions of diabetic ZDF rats. (A) Regression of glomerulosclerosis, with more glomeruli presenting the more benign nodular form of sclerosis. (B) Reduction in capsule of Bowman thickness and absence of sclerosis. (C) Although there is persistence of grade 2 capsular thickening, there is absence of sclerosis and only the presence of grade 1 mesangial expansion. (D) Presence of light mesangial expansion and hyalinosis of the vascular pole. Note in all figures the absence of hyaline cylinders and a more regular contour of the tubular basement membranes, (PAS).



Figure 6.4 – **Effects of sitagliptin treatment on glomerular atrophy in diabetic (ZDF) rats.** Normal glomerulus (A). Glomerular atrophy in a diabetic untreated rat (B) versus a sitagliptin treated rat (C) showing a normal glomerulus; (PAS). (D) Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups (n=8 per group): a – significantly different from control and b – significantly different from diabetic; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p ≤ 0.001 for one or three letters, respectively.

Tubulointerstitial lesions

When aged 20 weeks, the obese diabetic rats already presented a significant increase in tubular degeneration (p < 0.01), tubular basement membrane irregularity, and IFTA (p < 0.01), when compared with the lean controls animals. The differences between these groups were more pronounced when aged 26 weeks, in which the obese diabetic subjects showed marked aggravation of hyaline cylinders, tubular basement membrane irregularity and IFTA (p ≤ 0.001), together with significant increase in tubular degeneration (p < 0.01) (Table 6.3). The most significant ageing alterations found in the lean rats were tubular basement membrane irregularity (p < 0.01) and IFTA (p < 0.01), while in the obese diabetic animals, these were mainly IFTA (p ≤ 0.001) (Fig. 6.5 B) and hyaline cylinders (p < 0.01) aggravation.

Sitagliptin significantly prevented the appearance of hyaline cylinders ($p \le 0.001$) and IFTA (p < 0.05) (Table 6.3; Fig. 6.5 C) in chronically treated diabetic rats, together with a trend to decrease basement membrane irregularity (by 50%) and tubular degeneration (37,5%) in grade 3 of lesion severity (Table 6.3; Fig. 6.5). Calcification of tubular epithelium was only present in diabetic rats, which did not suffer any mentionable recovery with sitagliptin treatment (Table 6.3). When considering all the tubulointerstetial lesions, the diabetic rats presented a pattern of lesion (P < 0.001), when compared with the lean animals, which was significantly ameliorated (P < 0.001) by chronic sitagliptin treatment (Figure 6.6).

Table 6.3 – Scoring and distribution of tubular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF
rats kidneys at the final time, 26 weeks of age (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment)

Lesions	Group	Score			
	-	G0	G1	G2	G3
	Control	6	2	0	0
Hyaline cylinders	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	7 ^{aaa}	1
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	8 ^{bb}	0	0
	Control	2	5	1	0
TBM irregularity	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	1	7 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	3 ^{bb}	2	3 ^{bb}
	Control	8	0	0	0
Tubular calcification	Diabetic (Vehicle)	5	3	0	0
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	4	4	0	0
	Control	2	6	0	0
IFTA	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	0	3 ^{aa}	5 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	1	2	3	2 ^{bb}
	Control	4	4	0	0
Tubular degeneration	Diabetic (Vehicle)	0	1 ^{aa}	4 ^{aaa}	3 ^{aaa}
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	0	3 ^b	5 ^b	0 ^{bb}

Values are means \pm SEM of n = 8 rats. Comparative analysis between groups a – Diabetic *versus* control rats at 26 weeks of age; b – Sitagliptin-treated diabetic diabetic *versus* untreated rats at 26 weeks of age. One, two or three letters for P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively. TBM, tubular basement membrane; IFTA, interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy; G0, grade 0; G1, grade 1; G2, grade 2; G3, grade.



Figure 6.5 – Effects of sitagliptin treatment on IFTA in diabetic (ZDF) rats. Normal interstitial tissue (A) IFTA in a diabetic untreated rat (B) versus a sitagliptin treated rat (C) showing normal interstitial support tissue and regular normal tubules, (PAS). (D)Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups (n=8 per group): a – significantly different from control and b – significantly different from diabetic; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p ≤ 0.001 for one or three letters, respectively.



Figure 6.6 – **Effects of chronic sitagliptin treatment on glomerular and tubulointerstitial lesions** in obese diabetic ZDF rats, at the final time (26 weeks). Data is expressed as mean \pm SEM of n=8 rats. Comparisons between groups (n=8 per group): a – lean control vs diabetic ZDF rats and b – Untreated diabetic vs sitagliptin treated diabetic rats; p < 0.05 and p ≤ 0.001 for one or three letters, respectively.

Vascular lesions

Arteriolar hyalinosis was only found in the diabetic rats, which aggravated between 20 and 26 weeks (p < 0.05). Arteriosclerosis was only detected in lean animals when aged 26 weeks but was present in the diabetic rats at 20 weeks which also exhibited aggravation of sclerosis at the final time, with 62.5% of the animals exhibiting grade 1 and 25% grade 2 lesions, in comparison to its lean counterparts, which showed 50% of animals in grade 1 and none in grade 2 (Table 6.4). Sitagliptin promoted a 50% improvement in the most severe form of hyalinosis (grade 2) and reduced the incidence of arteriosclerosis in the treated diabetic rats by 12.5% (Table 6.4).

Table 6.4 – Scoring and distribution of vascular lesions in lean control and obese diabetic ZDF rats kidneys at the final time, 26 weeks of age, (6 weeks of vehicle or sitagliptin treatment)

Lesions	Group	Score		
		G0	G1	G2
	Control	8	0	0
Arteriolar	Diabetic (Vehicle)	1 ^{aa}	1	6 ^{aa}
hyalinosis	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	3	3 ^b	2 ^b
	Control	4	4	0
Arteriosclerosis	Diabetic (Vehicle)	1	5	2
	Diabetic (Sitagliptin)	3	4	1

Values are means \pm SEM of n = 8 rats. Comparative analysis between groups a – Diabetic *versus* control rats at 26 weeks of age; b – Sitagliptin-treated diabetic diabetic *versus* untreated rats at 26 weeks of age. One, two or three letters for P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively. G0, grade 0; G1, grade 1; G2, grade 2.

6.3.4 Sitagliptin decreases the inflammatory state in the diabetic kidney

The pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α are thought to contribute to an inflammatory response in the diabetic kidney. Therefore, their cellular distribution was evaluated in kidney frozen sections by immunohistochemistry and their mRNA levels by RT-qPCR (Fig. 6.7).

The relative expression of TNF- α mRNA in the diabetic kidney (437.1 ± 73.0%; p < 0.05) was significantly higher when compared to control animals (100.0 ± 51.0%); sitagliptin treatment prevented the effect in the diabetic rats (96.5 ± 24.4%; p < 0.05) (Fig. 6.7 A1). Although no significant differences were observed, the relative expression of IL-1 β mRNA levels shows a trend to increase in diabetic animals (186.4 ± 25.1%) comparatively to non-diabetic animals (100.0 ± 11.9%); once again, sitagliptin administration presented a trend to reduce IL-1 β mRNA levels in the diabetic animals (122.9 ± 30.6%) (Fig. 6.7 A2). Additionally, diabetes markedly increased the immunoreactivity of IL-1 β and TNF- α in cells around the glomeruli that are probably tubular cells and/or recruitment and accumulation of interstitial inflammatory cells; sitagliptin treatment decreased the overexpression of IL-1 β and TNF- α protein levels in the diabetic kidney (Fig. 6.7 B1 and B2).



Figure 6.7 – Sitagliptin decreases the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α in the diabetic kidney. (A) mRNA expression of mediators of inflammation, TNF- α (A1) and IL-1 β (A2), in the kidney. (B) Representative confocal images showing TNF- α immunoreactivity (red), IL-1 β immunoreactivity (green), and nuclear staining with DAPI (blue) in kidney sections (B1), as well as immunoreactivity quantitation for TNF- α (B2) and IL-1 β (B3). Bars = 20 μ m. Data is expressed as percentage of control and represent the mean ± SEM Comparisons between groups (n = 6 per group): a – lean control vs diabetic ZDF rats and b – untreated diabetic vs sitagliptin treated diabetic rats; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p ≤ 0.001 for one, two or three letters, respectively.

6.3.5 Sitagliptin protects the kidney against apoptotic cell death induced by diabetes

It is well established that the ratio between Bax, a pro-apoptotic protein, and Bcl-2, an anti-apoptotic one, determines the response to a cell death signal, being considered an indicator for the activation of apoptosis (Xiang et al., 1996). The levels of Bax and Bcl-2 were determined by Western Blotting, in total kidney of lean and diabetic rats, as well as Bax and Bcl-2 mRNA levels. In addition, it has been described that Bid, a pro-apoptotic protein member of the Bcl-2 family, has an important role in mitochondrial cell death pathway (Kluck et al., 1999). In this context, we also evaluated Bid protein levels in the kidney by Western Blotting.

The diabetic animals presented significant increases in the kidney mRNA and protein of Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (Fig. 6.8 A and B, resp.), when compared to control rats. Sitagliptin treatment showed an anti-apoptotic effect since it was able to prevent the diabetes-induced increment of mRNA (Fig. 6.8 A and protein B) Bax/Bcl-2 ratio. Diabetes also induced a significant increase in Bid levels (173.57 ± 22.64% of control; p < 0.01) comparatively to non-diabetic ZDF rats, which was prevented in diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment (113.02 ± 9.43%; p< 0.05) (Fig. 6.8 C).

As shown in Fig. 6.8 D, apoptosis increased in the kidney of diabetic animals, as assessed by the increase of TUNEL-positive cells, particularly in tubular cells. Treatment with sitagliptin decreased the number of TUNEL-positive cells in the kidney of diabetic animals (Fig. 6.8 D).



Figure 6.8 – Effect of sitagliptin treatment in Bax, Bcl-2 and Bid content and TUNEL-positive cells in the diabetic kidney. (A) mRNA expression of Bax (A1) and Bcl-2 (A2) in the kidney and Bax/Bcl-2 ratio (A3). (B and C) Protein levels assessed in total kidney cell lysates by Western Blotting in lean control, diabetic and sitagliptin treated diabetic rats: (B) protein levels of Bax and Bcl-2 and Bax/Bcl-2 ratio; (C) protein levels of Bid. The Western Blots shown are representative of each group of animals. Data are expressed as percentage of control and represent the mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups (n = 6 per group): a – lean control vs diabetic ZDF rats and b – untreated diabetic vs sitagliptin treated diabetic rats; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 and p ≤ 0.001 for one, two or three letters, respectively. (D) Representative confocal images for each group of animals showing TUNEL-positive (green) cells and nuclear counterstaining with DAPI (blue) in kidney sections (6 μ m).

6.4 DISCUSSION

DN has emerged as the leading cause of ESRD, and thus, preventing or delaying its evolution, has been a major goal in biomedical research. The development of innovative therapeutic alternatives such as the incretin enhancers (including sitagliptin), able to target not only hyperglycaemia but also multiple pathophysiological processes involved in diabetes development and evolution, seems more likely to be beneficial, as has been shown in recent approaches (Abel et al., 2010; Ferreira et al., 2010). Our present study reports the progression of renal disease in ZDF rats and demonstrates that a daily chronic administration of low-dose sitagliptin noticeably reduces renal injury in this model.

It is well known that a commonly accepted animal model of DN has not been available. The ZDF rat is characterized by hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinaemia, hyperlipidaemia, moderate hypertension, obesity and progressive renal injury (Peterson et al., 1990). These rats develop nephropathy by 12 weeks of age, earlier than in most of the other models of T2DM, characterized by focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) associated with glomerulomegaly and mesangial expansion (Hoshi et al., 2002). Thus, this animal model is useful for preclinical evaluation of pharmacological strategies designed to target human DN.

In the present study, the animal's ages were selected according to the moment of initiation of relative insulinopaenia (20 weeks) and on the presence of significant diabetic complications (26 weeks). Although the literature describes in this animal model an earlier nephropathy, our animals were fed with normal rodent maintenance chow (with 2.9% of lipids) for developing all the different stages of T2DM in latter times than those described for this animal model. Therefore, if we intend to analyse renal lesions when rats presented lower insulin levels, those are the proper animal's ages. In order to achieve a better correlation between our animal observations and the human nephropathy process, we decided to adapt a recent human pathologic classification for DN (Tervaert et al., 2010). Despite the fact that our untreated diabetic ZDF rat presented lower BW than their lean counterparts, our data show that along with the metabolic changes occurring over time in these rats,

nephropathy resembles human DN in terms of morphology. The significant BW loss of diabetic ZDF rats corresponds to the time of notorious depletion of serum insulin levels compared with age-matched lean ZDF rats, which was an expected profile and is in agreement with disease aggravation.

Nephropathy in this model has previously been described as FSGS associated with glomerulomegaly and mesangial expansion, findings characteristically seen in patients with obesity and metabolic syndrome associated with T2DM (Kambham et al., 2001; Kato et al., 2009). In the literature, we found that the descriptions of tubulointerstitial lesions are mentioned only in passing and as secondary pathological features (Hoshi et al., 2002; Gassler et al., 2001). Renal vascular pathology has not been described. The data presented herein provides morphologic characterization of progressive nephropathy, including the glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular lesions in the kidney of ZDF rats.

The lean ZDF rats demonstrated, when aged 20 weeks, thickening of GBM, mesangial expansion, nodular sclerosis and IFTA, which further aggravates with age. These observations are in accordance with Vora et al. (1996) and could be classified as non-diabetic renal lesions attributed to ageing in this strain. All the obese diabetic ZDF rats presented significant worsening of glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular lesions compared with lean ZDF controls in both ages analysed (20 and 26 weeks). In the obese diabetic ZDF rats, the severity of the lesions aggravates with diabetes progression, confirming a link between diabetes (hyperglycaemia and hyperlipidaemia) and progressive renal injury.

In patients with DN, the initial physiological change is glomerular hyperfiltration, while the initial morphological change is glomerular hypertrophy. At 26 weeks of age, the obese ZDF rats exhibit an aggravation of the lesions described for 20 weeks rats, including mesangial expansion, glomerular basement membrane thickening, and glomerular hypertrophy. We observed that tubulointerstitial lesions are dependent on glomerulosclerosis, which is suggested by the aggravation of both glomeruli and interstitium. Vascular pole hyalinization and arteriosclerosis also suffer aggravation with age. All of these histological alterations were accompanied by an augmentation of kidney weight. In the obese diabetic ZDF rats, glomerular hypertrophy, expansion in the mesangial area related to the mesangial matrix, and

renal hypertrophy were noted. In the present study, we did not evaluate the progression of proteinuria, which was well documented by others (Schöfer et al., 2004; Janiak et al., 2006), but serum BUN levels were significantly increased in the obese diabetic ZDF rats when compared to the lean controls, suggesting a deficient kidney function. Nevertheless, serum creatinine levels were unchanged between groups, which are in accordance with others (Schrijvers et al., 2006).

Chronic sitagliptin (low-dose) treatment ameliorated all lesions (glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular), except the tubular epithelium calcification, in the diabetic-treated rats. Chronic sitagliptin administration was able to decrease BUN to levels analogous to those observed in lean controls, suggesting an amelioration of kidney function. The mechanism by which a low-dose of sitagliptin, which was unable to completely normalize the hyperglycaemic profile of the diabetic rats, is able to positively modulate kidney function is unknown. We may hypothesize that significant improvement of circulating levels of TGs (Chapter 5) may result in the attenuation of renal injury in sitagliptin-treated diabetic ZDF rats. One explanation for this is that the augment of insulin levels by sitagliptin inhibits adipose tissue hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) activity and, thus, adipose tissue fatty acid release. In addition, insulin (together with the increased availability of GIP as the results of DPP-4 inhibition) may enhance adipose tissue fatty acid re-esterification and, thus, increase adipose tissue triacylglycerol (TAG) deposition. In the present work, we did not measure fat pads and lipid depots in the kidney, and, thus, we cannot confirm our hypothesis. Nevertheless, we intend to further perform red oil staining in the kidney in order to assess lipotoxicity and the putative effects of sitagliptin. However, some previous data from our studies should be mentioned. We have demonstrated that this low-dose chronic sitagliptin treatment is able to promote a favourable impact on chronic inflammation and oxidative stress, which are key players of diabetes pathophysiology and may precede and further potentiate tissue damage (Ferreira et al., 2010). Despite the lower dose used, we have previously demonstrated beneficial effects of sitagliptin on metabolic profile and reduction in inflammatory markers, as well as an amelioration of endocrine and exocrine pancreatic lesions (Ferreira et al., 2010). The histomorphological observations were in accordance with the improvement in pancreatic β-cell function, as suggested by the sitagliptin-evoked augment in HOMA-

beta (Chapter 5). The effects of chronic DPP-4 inhibition in increasing β -cell mass and function over time may occur, at least in part, by the augmentation of glucosestimulated insulin secretion. This effect is believed to be primarily mediated via stabilization of the incretin hormones contents, including of GLP-1 (Mu et al., 2006). We also observed a weight gain (Chapter 5) of sitagliptin-treated diabetic ZDF animals that could be attributed to amelioration in dysmetabolism. This metabolic improvement was accompanied by a reduction in inflammatory markers (CRP and IL-1 β) and in pancreatic oxidative stress, as previously documented by our group (Ferreira et al., 2010). Our results also agree with studies performed by other groups, which have been suggesting an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effect of incretin modulators, due to attenuation of the deleterious effects of the AGEs-RAGE-oxidative stress axis and to protection against the cytokine-induced apoptosis and necrosis (Matsui et al., 2011; Li et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2011).

Although large body of evidence indicates that oxidative stress is involved in the progression of fibrosis to ESRD in experimental and human DN (Chang et al.,2005), we cannot fully corroborate these facet in our study, at least when comparing kidney lipid peroxidation between untreated diabetic ZDF rats with their lean controls. Further studies should better address this aspect, namely by assessing other relevant kidney markers of oxidative stress, including AGEs, as well as relevant antioxidant measures. However, our work suggests a favourable impact of sitagliptin treatment on kidney oxidative stress profile, expressed by reduced amount of lipid peroxidation, which might be further confirmed with additional parameters, but that is in agreement with recent studies from Vaghasiya et al. (2011) which have reported a significant decrease in renal lipidic peroxidation by sitagliptin in diabetic rats with renal damage.

Experimental evidence linking hyperlipidaemia (Chapter 5) to renal injury and progression of renal fibrogenesis has been well documented; lipids can modulate the progression of chronic renal diseases and may even be primary factors in renal injury pathogenesis (Rosario et al., 2005). Additionally, the synergistic effects of hyperlipidaemia and diabetes on the development of renal injury have been recently observed in several animal models (Lassila et al., 2004; Dominguez et al., 2000). In ZDF rats, Chander et al. (2004) and Suzaki et al. (2006) suggested that hyperlipidaemia, in concert with hyperglycaemia, may be responsible for the increased oxidative stress

and initiation and aggravation of injury in the kidneys of these animals. Thus, we may hypothesize that the ability of sitagliptin to lower plasma lipids (Chapter 5), as well as to promote a more favourable redox status in the kidney, as confirmed in the present study by the reduction of lipid peroxidation products, may have contributed to its renoprotective effects. Furthermore, the positive effects demonstrated in peripheral insulin resistance and pancreas lesions, together with the antihypertensive effect (Ferreira et al., 2010), might be viewed as relevant contributors to the renoprotection afforded by sitagliptin in this study. On the other hand, we could not exclude possible effects due to sitagliptin-evoked GLP-1 increment. In fact, previous studies from other groups have linked GLP-1 with protection of mesangial cells, amelioration of Na⁺, acidbase and fluid homeostasis, overall contributing to renoprotection (Girardi et al., 2008; Ishibashi et al., 2011).

Accumulating evidences point to a critical role of inflammation and proinflammatory cytokines in the development and progression of DN (Dalla Vestra et al., 2005; Saraheimo et al., 2003). Our results clearly indicate that diabetes leads to increased IL-1 β and TNF- α immunoreactivity in the kidney. These results are corroborated by other authors that described an increased expression of those proinflammatory cytokines in the diabetic kidney (Navarro et al., 2006), leading to enhanced vascular endothelial permeability, oxidative stress, renal hypertrophy, and tubulointerstitial lesions (Lim et al., 2012). Recently, it has been reported that in the kidney of diabetic ZDF (fa/fa) rats, the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) increases with concomitant infiltration of white blood cells, as well as enhanced production of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , leading to renal cell injury (Wang et al, 2012). In addition, previous works have shown that a decrease in inflammation promotes an amelioration of DN (Wu et al., 2006; Yozai et al., 2005; Tone et al., 2005). In the present study we found that sitagliptin was able to prevent the increase in both mRNA and protein levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α in the diabetic kidneys. These results, obtained by immunohistochemistry and RT-qPCR, seem to be in agreement with previous studies from our group, which reported decreased IL-1 β and TNF- α levels in the serum (Ferreira et al., 2010) and in the retina (Gonçalves et al., 2012) of ZDF (fa/fa) rats treated with sitagliptin. Together, these findings seem to indicate that chronic

sitagliptin treatment corrected the inflammatory state in diabetic microvascular complications, particularly in DN. In addition, it was reported that sitagliptin decreases local inflammation in other tissues, such as the adipose tissue and pancreatic islets of obese mice (Dobrian et al., 2011).

Moreover, our immunohistochemistry studies also revealed that sitagliptin was able to prevent the diabetes-induced increase in IL-1 β and TNF- α , mainly in the cells around the glomeruli, which are probably tubular cells and/or accumulation of interstitial inflammatory cells. It has been shown that inflammatory cells, such as macrophages, lymphocytes, and monocytes, are often found in tubular compartment (Furuta et al., 1993; Mezzano et al., 2003), showing that interstitial inflammatory cells infiltrates are associated with progression of renal injuries in DN (Chow et al, 2004; Ninichuk et al., 2007). Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) played a key role in promoting recruitment and infiltration of macrophage in the diabetic kidney (Chow et al., 2006). It has been described that hyperglycaemia increases expression of MCP-1 in tubular cells of the diabetic kidney (Chow et al., 2006; Mezzano et al., 2003). The proinflammatory transcription factor NF-KB was also detected mainly in tubular cells of human and rat kidney, with T2DM and overt nephropathy (Morcos et al., 2002). Furthermore, NF-KB regulates gene expression of several molecules involved in inflammation, which includes MCP-1, IL-1 β and TNF- α (Guijarro et al., 2001). Based on these evidences, the increased expression of NF-κB and MCP-1 in tubular cells of diabetic kidneys can be a plausible explanation for our results, which should be further clarified.

The activation of signalling pathways linked to cell death resulting from chronic hyperglycaemia and to a state of low-grade chronic inflammation contributes to an increase in apoptosis. It is well established that members of the Bcl-2 family are key regulators of cell death. In the present study, a pro-apoptotic state seems to be favoured in the kidney of diabetic ZDF rats, which can lead to loss of renal cells and consequent renal dysfunction (Wagener et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2010. This increase in cell death by apoptosis appears to be mediated by Bax and Bid. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that glucose-induced ROS production initiates podocyte apoptosis and its depletion both, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, leading to DN (Susztak et al., 2006). Therefore, a good glycaemic control could reduce ROS production and the consequent

risk of cell death. In addition, sitagliptin was able to ameliorate serum TGs contents, thus reducing lipotoxicity-evoked apoptosis in the kidney tissue (Lee et al., 2011).

Accordingly to what was previously reported in the retina of ZDF rats, treatment with sitagliptin reduced this pro-apoptotic state and cell death by apoptosis in the kidney (Gonçalves et al., 2012). It has been previously described that activation of incretin receptors in pancreatic β -cells promotes resistance to apoptosis through the activation of several pathways leading to inhibition of caspase-3, by increasing expression of Bcl-2 and decreasing expression of Bax (Kim et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2002). Moreover, GLP-1 has anti-apoptotic actions via alteration of the Bcl-2 family proteins in several cell types. In fact, it was found that GLP-1 upregulates Bcl-2 and inhibits Bax expression in cholangiocytes (Marzioni et al., 2010), neuronal cells (Liu et al., 2009; Qin et al., 2008)], and endothelial cells (Zhan et al., 2012). In addition, it was shown that GLP-1 enhances Bcl-2 upregulation (Natalicchio et al., 2010), Bcl-2associated death promoter (BAD) inactivation (Quoyer et al., 1989), and caspase-3 activity reduction (Tews et al., 2009) in pancreatic β -cells. Here, we confirmed and expanded these data by demonstrating that increased levels of GLP-1 through DPP-4 inhibition prevents the Bax/Bcl-2 mRNA and protein increase and reverses the increase in Bid and TUNEL-positive cells induced by chronic hyperglycaemia in the ZDF kidney rats.

In conclusion, our findings have shown amelioration of DN, and specifically of glomerulosclerosis, tubulointerstitial and vascular kidney lesions, by a chronic administration of a low dose of sitagliptin that does not reduce hyperglycaemia below a rather high level (partial, but significant, correction), indicative of non-compensated diabetes. The present study demonstrated that sitagliptin delays the development of nephropathy in ZDF rats, concomitantly with hypoglycaemic, hypolipidaemic and antioxidant effects, as well as, to anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic properties. Sitagliptin might be viewed as a promising preventive renoprotective therapeutic strategy against the development and/or progression of DN.

Chapter 7

General discussion
Prevalence and incidence of T2DM is increasing rapidly worldwide and comprises the majority (around 90%) of DM patients (IDF, 2016; IDF, 2015; WHO 2013; Lyssenko, 2013). In Portugal the numbers are equally alarming, as they follow the international trends in prevalence (Observatório Nacional da Diabetes, 2015). Statistically, DN, a major complication of diabetes, is now the single most common cause of ESRD worldwide and one of the main causes of death in diabetic patients, being also acknowledged as an independent risk factor for CVD (Narres et al., 2016; Van den Brand, 2016).

The central key features of T2DM are a defect in insulin resistance and/or insulin secretion, which lead to hyperglycaemia and disrupt the normal relationship between insulin sensitivity and pancreatic β -cell function (Virally et al., 2007). Degeneration of Langerhans islets with β -cell loss is secondary to insulin resistance and is regarded as the most important lesion for disease progression (Kahn et al., 2000; Marchetti et al., 2010; Cerf, 2013; Yagihashi et al., 2016). Apoptosis, low-grade inflammation and oxidative stress, which are mainly fuelled by hyperglycaemia and hyperlipidaemia, are key mediators of insulin resistance, β -cell degradation, and development of T2DM complications (Marchetti et al., 2010; Piya et al, 2013; Guo, 2014; Jung et al., 2014; Le Lay et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2015; Tangvarasittichai et al., 2015; Keane et al., 2015). Major long-term macrovascular (ischaemic heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease) and microvascular (nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy) complications of T2DM arise from the persistent dysfunction in these multiple metabolic pathways (Filla et al., 2016).

Treatment regimens that reduce the levels of HbA1c to near or below 7% result in a significant reduction of risk in microvascular complications and diabetes-related death (IDF, 2012; Nathan et al., 2014; NICE, 2015; ADA; 2016; Ayadurai et al., 2016; Rayman, 2016). Current recommendations by the Consensus of ADA and EASD justify the selection of appropriate treatment based on its capability to achieve and maintain desired glycaemic goals (Rayman, 2016; Kahn et al., 2014; Nathan et al., 2014; Inzucchi et al., 2012). Despite all recomendations, many patients spend a long time well outside the recommended glycaemic range and, therefore, have an increased risk for developing micro and macrovascular complications (De Fronzo, 2009; Mata-Cases et al., 2017). Traditional treatments for T2DM, although complying

variably to standard glycaemic goals, do not seem to address the progressive decline in β -cell function and patients continue to advance in their disease state (Raz et al., 2006; De Fronzo, 2009; Karaca et al., 2009). Effective glycaemic control will likely require the use of medications that target both β -cell dysfunction and insulin resistance (Russell-Jones et al., 2012; Wajchenberg, 2013).

Currently it is becoming clearer that T2DM management must envision not only glycaemic control, but also and particularly, the mechanisms behind progression of pancreatic deterioration. Therefore, preservation of β -cell mass is regarded as the mainstay of disease control and prevention of evolutional complications, such as DN. In this sense, the improvement of strategies able to prevent or delay the evolution of diabetes and of DN, as one of the major complications, remains a major goal in biomedical research.

DPP-4 inhibitors, such as sitagliptin, have shown potential to target not only hyperglycaemia but also multiple pathophysiological processes and tissues involved in the progression of diabetes and of its complications (Abu-Amara et al, 2012; Aston-Mourney et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2013; Picatoste et al., 2013; Satoh-Asahara et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the precise protective mechanisms sitagliptin might exert in the pancreas and other tissues targeted by T2DM, specifically the kidney, have not yet been fully elucidated and need further research.

Thus, the main objective of our study was to evaluate the effects (and possible underlying mechanisms) of sitagliptin treatment, during 6 weeks, in ZDF rats, as a model of obese T2DM. In the first part of the study we evaluated the effects of sitagliptin treatment on glycaemic, lipidic and insulinaemic profiles and investigated some of the possible protective underlying pathways in the pancreas of ZDF rats, focusing on histopathological lesions and mediators of apoptosis, inflammation, angiogenesis and proliferation. In the second part, we assessed the effects of sitagliptin on renal lesions evolution and evaluated oxidative stress, apoptosis and inflammatory pathways as possible mechanisms underlying the putative renoprotective effects of this drug.

Concerning the ZDF rat model of T2DM, our results have demonstrated the key features encountered in diabetic patients. Hence, at the beginning of the study (20 weeks of age) the diabetic rats presented hyperglycaemia, hypercholesterolaemia,

hypertriglyceridaemia, increased HbA1c and hyperinsulinaemia, accompanied by insulin resistance (HOMA-IR). Furthermore, the diabetic rats lost weight, evident at 20 weeks of age, which was considered a sign of diabetic pathophysiological progression. At the end of the study protocol, when animals were 26 weeks old, the diabetic rats aggravated their disease state, displaying higher hyperglycaemia, accompanied by increased HbA1c, insulin resistance and reduced plasma concentration of insulin, suggesting a state of relative insulinopaenia. Moreover, the diabetic rats continued to lose weight and showed aggravated hypercholesterolaemia and hypertriglyceridaemia. During the course of the study, diabetic rats treated once a day with sitagliptin showed a remarkable beneficial effect on several important parameters, such as a reduction of glucose and HbA1c levels, jointly with a partial correction of insulin reduction and an improvement in insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), which is in agreement with other reports (Mu et al., 2009; Verspohl et al., 2009; Ahrén, 2010; Ji et al., 2016; Kondo et al., 2016). Furthermore, reduction of BW was prevented and hypertriglyceridaemia corrected, in agreement with others studies (Moritoh et al., 2009; Verspohl et al., 2009; Van Genugten et al., 2012; Gallwitz, 2014; Ji et al., 2016). The amelioration of serum TGs levels are in accordance with a recent meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials, which reveal that sitagliptin alone, or added to other antihyperglycaemic agents, significantly improve serum TGs concentration (Fan et al., 2016).

In order to establish a baseline for the study of the histopathological lesions in the diabetic pancreas, we relied mostly on prior descriptions of animal models of diabetes (Butler et al., 2003; Nugent et al., 2008), as detailed descriptions for the human pancreas (Bonner-Weir et al., 2008) were (and still are) lacking in T2DM bibliography, probably due to the scarcity of human diabetic pancreas for research. Moreover, we could not find a pre-existing semiquantitive histopathological classification for any pancreatic lesions, which we required for our comparative evaluation. Therefore, we adopted the semiquantitive scoring of the Banff classification for renal allograft histopathology (Soleza et al., 2008) and adapted it to diabetic pancreas pathology.

In our study, the ZDF rat presented altered morphological islet architecture, the presence of inflammation, fibrosis, and congestion in the endocrine and exocrine pancreas, as well as islet cell vacuolization. These lesions exhibited significant

aggravation from the initial to the final observational time. Sitagliptin treatment of diabetic rats was able to prevent the aggravation of both endocrine and exocrine pancreatic histopathological lesions. Diabetic lesion improvement was also documented by Yeom et al. (2011), using the TUNNEL assay and Ki-67 staining in the Akita mice. The authors reported beneficial effects of sitagliptin on the islets via reduced apoptosis and increased proliferation. In other two studies using des-fluorositagliptin, DPP-4 inhibition protected islet morphology, reduced the number of apoptotic cells increased β -cell mass in the streptozotocin (STZ)-induced and in the db/db diabetic mouse models (Shirakawa et al. 2016; Takeda et al., 2012). These results were further corroborated by other authors (Shirakawa et al. 2011a; Takeda et al. 2012; Pappachan et al., 2015). In fact, our studies on pancreatic apoptosis confirmed the previously mentioned studies by revealing, in the diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment, a net reduction in the Bax/Bcl-2 ratio. Others studies have also described that activation of incretin receptors in pancreatic β -cells promotes resistance to apoptosis through activation of several pathways leading to an increase in the expression of Bcl-2 and to a decrease in the expression of Bax (Wang et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2005; Natalicchio et al., 2010; Hou et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2016; Chon et al., 2016).

In our work, sitagliptin promoted an increased expression of PCNA (a marker of proliferation) in the pancreas, which is in line with the β -cell mass expansion. In addition, sitagliptin-treated rats presented overexpression of VEGF, which appears to be accountable for the needed vascular support for tissue regeneration. The overexpression of pro-proliferative and pro-angiogenic mediators have also been alluded in other studies (Parnaud et al., 2011; Pascoe et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2015). A study with sitagliptin-treated Wistar rats reported significantly increased immunostaining of glucagon, GLP-1 and GLP-1R, when compared to the untreated diabetic animals (Karabulut et al., 2015). These beneficial effects seem to be GLP-1dependent (Van Genugten et al., 2012; Gallwitz et al., 2014) and mediated by the transcriptional activation of anti-apoptotic and pro-survival genes, as well as, by the suppression of pro-apoptotic genes in the β -cells (Mu et al. 2006; Duttaroy et al. 2011; Han et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2016). Other DPP-4 inhibitors, like linagliptin, were found to protect isolated human islets from gluco-, lipo-, and cytokine toxicity, which are crucial

diabetogenic mechanisms, via promotion of oxidative stress and inflammation (Shah et al. 2013). Vildagliptin, another DPP-4 inhibitor, also preserved β -cell mass in diabetic HFD-induced obese mice through induction of β -cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis, as well as, by reduction of islet inflammation (Omar et al. 2013). Our results show a significant decrease in IL-1 β , one of the main inflammatory cytokines, which have been corroborated by others that have suggested anti-inflammatory properties of gliptins in distinct animal models and tissues, as well as, in T2DM patients (Gonçalves et al., 2012; Joo et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2013; Satoh-Asahara et al., 2013; Derosa et al., 2013; Dai et al., 2014; Röhrborn et al., 2015).

Insulin resistance is recognized as a key factor in the pathogenesis of T2DM (Prudente et al., 2009; Beguinot et al., 2010; Yagihashi et al., 2016), resulting from anomalies in the insulin cascade, which is regulated by many biochemical mechanisms (Prudente et al., 2012; De Lorenzo et al., 2013; Marinho et al., 2015). In our study, sitagliptin treatment was able to completely reduce pancreas TRIB3 expression. TRIB3 gene has been implicated in coding inhibitors of insulin signalling cascade. Reduction of TRIB3 expression might be an important mechanism for the decline of insulin resistance and improvement of insulin secretion found in the diabetic rats under sitagliptin treatment (Yagihashi et al., 2016; Beguinot et al., 2010; Prudente et al., 2009). In humans, TRIB3 has also been associated with insulin resistance and is found to be overexpressed in T2DM patients (Prudente et al., 2009; Prudente et al., 2012; Gong et al., 2009). Another aspect by which TRIB3 seems to be associated with the evolution of insulin resistance and pancreas degradation is its role as inductor of β-cell apoptosis and inhibitor of proliferation. Therefore, it is hypothesized that, by downregulating the expression of TRIB3, sitagliptin sponsored further anti-apoptotic effects and enhanced β -cell proliferation, thus contributing to the beneficial effects afforded by this DPP-4 inhibitor in this animal model (Humphrey et al., 2014).

Although gliptins have been suggested has having the ability to preserve both β -cell function and mass in animal models of diabetes, little is still known regarding their cytoprotective effects on the human pancreas (Shirakawa et al., 2016; Yeom et al., 2011; Ferreira et al., 2010; Matveyenko et al., 2009; Maida et al., 2009). DPP-4 inhibition in humans over an extended time period does not seem to confirm long-term cytoprotective properties in β -cells, as shortly after cessation of therapy the

improvement in β -cell function is not maintained, deeming this improvement as functional rather than structural (Van Genugten et al. 2012; Chon et al., 2016). This discrepancy might be due to variation of dosage and other protocol variants in preclinical studies, as well as, to the differing expression and localization of DPP-4 in different animal species. The pancreatic islets of rodents show an exclusive expression of DPP-4 in the β -cells, with little expression in the α -cells, while human and pig islets mostly express DPP-4 in the α -cells (Liu et al. 2014; Omar et al. 2014). The physiological implication of the inter-species differences in the localization of DPP-4 is still unclear.

Our histomorphological evaluation of the exocrine pancreas showed a notable improvement between untreated and sitagliptin-treated diabetic animals. However, our results are in contradiction with the data reported by Matveyenko et al. (2009) that used a DPP-4 inhibitor in human IAPP transgenic (HIP) rats and with the results of Nachnani et al. (2010) that used an injection of a GLP-1 agonist. Both studies have suggested that the enhancement of endogenous GLP-1 levels could induce undetected low grade asymptomatic chronic pancreatitis. The FDA, in 2009, emitted safety concerns regarding incretin-induced pancreatitis. These safety concerns have been recently deflated by research and cohort studies (Yabe et al., 2015; Egan et al., 2014; Aston-Mourney et al., 2013). The strongest evidence currently available came from three large cardiovascular safety studies with DPP-4 inhibitors and from meta-analysis recently published of non-randomized and randomized clinical trials: Trial Evaluating Cardiovascular Outcomes with Sitagliptin (TECOS), Saxagliptin Assessment of Vascular Outcomes Recorded in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus (SAVOR-TIMI 53) and Examination of Cardiovascular Outcomes with Alogliptin versus Standard of Care in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Acute Coronary Syndrome (EXAMINE). It was concluded that there was no significant difference between the placebo and the DPP-4 inhibitor treated groups with regard to pancreatitis or pancreatic cancer (Holman, 2015; Yabe et al., 2015; Egan et al., 2014; Aston-Mourney et al., 2013). In addition, FDA and European Medicines Agency (EMA) concluded that a causal association between incretin-based drugs and pancreatitis or pancreatic cancer cannot be established with the current data. However, both agencies have not reached a final conclusion so far regarding such a causal relationship and will continue to investigate this safety signal (Egan et al., 2014).

DN is the single most common cause of ESRD and is acknowledged as an independent risk factor for CVD, being one of the main causes of incapacity and of mortality in diabetic patients (Narres et al., 2016; Van den Brand, 2016). DN is primed by diabetic metabolic dysregulations and haemodynamic variations, through activation of the RAAS, which triggers a number of cell signalling cascades that mediate cellular responses by activation of key transcription factors. In reaction to such signals, renal cells (such as tubular epithelial cells, podocytes and mesangial cells) will produce chemokines, growth factors, and pro-fibrotic cytokines. These responses contribute to a cycle of inflammation, oxidative stress, cellular injury, progressive fibrosis, and loss of glomerular filtration. Podocyte loss, endothelial dysfunction, alterations in the glomerular basal membrane and tubular injury, all contribute to the increase in proteinuria during the development and progression of DN (Górriz et al., 2015, Kawasaki et al., 2015).

Our study reports the progression of renal disease in ZDF rats and demonstrates that a daily chronic administration of a low-dose of sitagliptin noticeably reduces renal function and injury in this model. In fact, we found significantly increased levels of serum BUN in the diabetic rats when compared to the lean control rats, suggesting a deficient kidney function. Sitagliptin treatment was able to decrease BUN levels to values identical to those observed in lean controls, suggesting an amelioration of renal function. Nevertheless, serum creatinine levels were unchanged between groups, which are in accordance with others using the ZDF rat as animal model (Schrijvers et al., 2006).

In order to achieve a better correlation between the lesions observed in our animal model with the human nephropathy profile, we adopted in our study the international histopathologic classification, currently approved for human DN (Taevert et al., 2010). It is noteworthy that until we published our work, previous research had only briefly alluded to tubulointerstitial lesions, as a secondary lesion in DN, such as Hoshi et al. (2002) and Gassler et al. (2001). The description of lesions in the major vessels of the kidney was absent in animal model studies and could only be found in scarce human DN reports. From 2010, the histopathological observation of these vessels has become mandatory for DN classification (Taevert et al., 2010).

Nephropathy in this model has previously been described as FSGS, now called nodular sclerosis that is associated with glomerulomegaly and mesangial expansion, which are features seen in T2DM patients (Chander et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2016). In our obese diabetic ZDF rats, the severity of lesions aggravated with diabetes progression, confirming a link between diabetes and the progressive renal injury. In patients with DN, the initial physiological change is glomerular hyperfiltration, while the initial morphological change is glomerular hypertrophy. At the final time of our experiment, the diabetic rats exhibited aggravation of the lesions described in our starting point, including mesangial expansion, glomerular basement membrane thickening, glomerular hypertrophy and glomerulosclerosis. We observed that tubulointerstitial lesions were linked to glomerulosclerosis, which was suggested by the aggravation of both the glomeruli and the interstitium. The diabetic metabolic environment and the prolonged interaction of albuminuria (and other substrates in the glomerular filtrate) with the tubular system, seems to incite renal oxidative stress and cortical interstitial inflammation, with subsequent hypoxia and tubulointerstitial fibrosis, contributing to DN progression (Tonolo et al., 2014). The pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF-κB regulates the gene expression of several molecules involved in inflammation, including IL-1 β and TNF- α (Guijarro et al., 2001; Hojs et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2015; Ozkok et al., 2016). This factor has been mainly detected in tubular cells of diabetic rats and humans with overt DN (Kumar et al., 2015; Morcos et al., 2002). Vascular pole hyalinization and arteriosclerosis also suffered aggravation with age in diabetic rats. All of these histological alterations were accompanied by an increment of kidney weight. In our study, the obese diabetic ZDF rats presented glomerular hypertrophy, expansion in the mesangial area related to the mesangial matrix, and renal hypertrophy. Although we were unable to evaluate the progression of proteinuria, which was well documented by others, we consider that the increase of hyaline cylinders in 26 weeks diabetic rats may be related to this phenomenon (Janiak et al., 2006; Espinel et al., 2015; Kawasaki et al., 2015; Garsen et al., 2016).

On histopathological evaluation, sitagliptin treatment ameliorated glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular lesions in diabetic rats. Other authors have shown similar results, with suppression of DPP-4 activity and/or protein expression, in which amelioration of kidney fibrosis was associated with the inhibition of endothelial-to-

mesenchymal transition (EndMT) and reduced levels of inflammatory and fibrotic markers (Panchapakesan et al.; 2013; Min et al., 2014; Panchapakesan et al.; 2015). These histopathological improvements have been disclosed by other studies (Tonolo et al., 2014; Vavrinec et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2016). Considering that sitagliptin was not able to completely normalize hyperglycaemia in the diabetic rats in our study, another key mechanism by which it can positively modulate kidney function and lesions might be through direct renal DPP-4 inhibition, via both GLP-1-dependent and GLP-1independent pathways. GLP-1-dependent activity is sanctioned by the expression of GLP1-receptors in the kidney. GLP-1 has been associated to the protection of mesangial cells and to an amelioration of Na⁺, acid-base, and fluid homeostasis, thus lowering BP, which collectively contributes to renoprotection (Ishibashi et al., 2012; Tanaka et al., 2014; Górriz et al., 2015). For the GLP-1-independent effects of DPP-4 inhibitors, in the kidney, several pathways have been suggested, including the other known substrates of DPP-4, such as high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), Meprin β , neuropeptide Y (NPY), and peptide YY (PYY) (Von Websky et al., 2014; Panchapakesan et al.; 2015).

Furthermore, it is known that DPP-4 exhibits its enzymatic activity in both membrane-anchored cell-surface peptidase and as a smaller soluble form in blood plasma (Silva Júnior et al., 2015; Shirakawa et al., 2016; Shi et al., 2016). In fact, there are some studies suggesting that microvascular endothelial cells are the main sources of endogenous DPP-4 (Matheeussen et al., 2011; Romacho et al., 2016). In addition, in vitro studies showed that both DPP-4 mRNA expression and enzyme activity were enhanced by exposure of human glomerular endothelial cells to high glucose concentrations (Yu et al., 2016; Ahmed et al., 2015; Röhrborn et al., 2015). In agreement, our group has recently demonstrated that diabetic rats present an increased protein expression of DPP-4 in the kidney, when compared to nondiabetic animals (Marques et al., 2014).

Our results clearly indicate that diabetes leads to increased inflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokines, specifically IL-1 β and TNF- α , in the kidney of diabetic ZDF rats. These results are corroborated by other authors that described an increased expression of those pro-inflammatory cytokines in the diabetic kidney (Navarro et al., 2006; Shi et al., 2016; Donate-Correa et al., 2015), leading to enhanced vascular

endothelial permeability, oxidative stress, renal hypertrophy, and tubulointerstitial lesions.

Using ZDF as animal model, we found that DPP-4 inhibition prevented the inflammatory profile and the pro-apoptotic state observed in the diabetic kidney, which might explain the improvement in renal dysfunction and injury (glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular damage). In fact, sitagliptin was able to prevent the increase in both mRNA and protein levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α in the diabetic kidneys of ZDF rats. Our current results, and studies by others, have shown that a decrease in inflammation promotes an amelioration of DN (Shi et al., 2016; Donate-Correa et al., 2015).

The activation of signalling pathways linked to cell death resulting from chronic hyperglycaemia and to a state of low-grade chronic inflammation contributes to an increase in apoptosis. In the present study, a pro-apoptotic state seems to be favoured in the kidney of the diabetic ZDF rats, which appears to be mediated by Bax and Bid. Sitagliptin prevented the Bax/Bcl-2 (mRNA and protein) ratio increase and reversed the increase in Bid and TUNEL-positive cells induced by chronic hyperglycaemia in the kidneys of our animal model. In addition, sitagliptin was able to ameliorate serum TGs contents, thus reducing lipotoxicity-evoked apoptosis in the kidney (Lee et al., 2011; Li et al., 2014; Martins et al., 2015; Glastras et al., 2016). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that glucose-induced ROS production initiates podocyte apoptosis and its depletion in vitro and in vivo, leading to DN (Susztak et al., 2006; Wagener et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2010). Therefore, the reduction of oxidative stress afforded by sitagliptin in this study could eventually reduce ROS production and the consequent risk of cell death. Other studies have demonstrated that GLP-1 receptor activation has also attenuated diabetic renal injury, including by reduction of kidney oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis (Hendarto et al., 2012; Kodera et al., 2014; Nakashima et al., 2014; Matsui et al; 2015; Mima, 2016).

Our findings clearly support that in diabetic ZDF rats the amelioration of hiperglycaemia with a therapeutic dose of sitagliptin confer independent renoprotective effects. These findings might contribute to the explanation of safety and efficacy profile of DPP-4 inhibitors in patients with T2DM and CKD and might aid to confirm the position of these new therapy classes in patients with CKD.

Supporting our results in both the pancreas and kidney, several reports have suggested that sitagliptin also confers cytoprotective effects on several tissues. Besides the present results, our group has also shown beneficial effects of sitagliptin in animal models of T2DM and T1DM in various organs. In fact, in the heart, a decrease in hypertension and in cardiometabolic disease parameters was observed, together with a decline in heart oxidative stress (Ferreira et al., 2010) and in the retina, an amelioration in the pro-apoptotic and inflammatory state was noted (Gonçalves et al., 2012; Gonçalves et al., 2014). Furthermore, during the recent years other authors also disclosed putative cytoprotective properties of sitagliptin and other DPP-4 inhibitors in the pancreas (Shirakawa et al. 2016; Pappachan et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2016; Chon et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2016) and in extrapancreatic tissues, including studies in the diabetic heart (Liu et al, 2015; McCormick et al., 2014; Apaijai et al., 2013; Picatoste et al., 2013; Read et al., 2010), related with vascular complications (Mima, 2016; Mita et al., 2016) and with endothelial dysfunction (Matsubara et al., 2013; Zhan et al., 2012), as well as, experiments performed in the diabetic liver (Ideta et al. 2015; Jung et al., 2014; Klein et al. 2014), adipose tissue (Shirakawa et al., 2016; Shirakawa et al., 2011a ; Shirakawa et al., 2011b) and kidney (Panchapakesan et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2012; Vaghasiya et al., 2011). Collectively, these parallel investigations have been reinforcing our own findings in the pancreas and kidney.

Nonetheless, further research is required to establish the exact key mechanisms by which these putative cytoprotective effects are stimulated in different tissues, if by an indirect action via insulin secretion increment or through direct tissular DPP-4 inhibition. If a direct action in tissues confirmed, then further research is needed to address whether protection is conferred via GLP-1-dependent (which is sustained by expression of DPP-4 and GLP-1R in tissues) and/or GLP-1-independent pathways (reinforced by the existence of multiple DPP-4 substrates).

To summarize, our study using an animal model of obese T2DM (the ZDF rat) has revealed that sitagliptin is able to ameliorate the glycaemic, insulinaemic and lipidic profiles and prevent aggravation of pancreatic and renal lesions, which were accompanied by cytoprotective properties related with anti-apoptotic, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory actions.

•

Chapter 8

Main conclusions

The results obtained throughout this work allow for the delineation of the following main conclusions:

- During the experimental period, the ZDF diabetic rat model displayed similar features to human T2DM, with aggravation of dysmetabolism (hyperglycaemia, hyperlipidaemia and insulin resistance), oxidative stress, inflammation and development of lesions in the pancreas and in the kidney.

- Sitagliptin treatment during 6 weeks was able to partially ameliorate the evolution of T2DM dysmetabolism in the obese diabetic ZDF rats, viewed by the reduction of hyperglycaemia, hypertriglyceridemia and insulin resistance.

- In addition, sitagliptin treatment prevented the evolution of all histopathological diabetic lesions in the endocrine pancreas, with special incidence in inflammation, as well as, exocrine pancreatic damage.

- Sitagliptin showed pancreatic cytoprotective properties, suggested by the antiapoptotic (reduced Bax/Bcl2 ratio) and anti-inflammatory (reduced IL-1β expression) effects, as well as, by decreased insulin resistance (reduced TRIB3 expression) and proproliferative (increased PCNA expression) and angiogenic (increased VEGF expression) actions.

- Regarding the kidney, sitagliptin treatment during 6 weeks was able to prevent evolution of histopathological lesions (glomerular, tubulointerstitial and vascular) in the obese diabetic ZDF rats, thus delaying aggravation of DN.

- Concomitantly, sitagliptin showed ability to promote renoprotection, involving antioxidant (decreased MDA), anti-inflammatory (reduced IL-1β expression) and anti-apoptotic (reduced Bax/Bcl-2 ratio, Bid expression and TUNEL positive cells) properties.

These pleiotropic effects reinforce the status of sitagliptin as a promising antidiabetic drug to sustain natural disease progress. Sitagliptin showed potential to avert the decline of insulin secreting capacity in pancreatic islets through tissuecytoprotective properties, thus suggesting a role in the prevention of T2DM evolution. Furthermore, the protective actions on the diabetic kidney open-up the possibility of using sitagliptin as a renoprotective therapeutic strategy against the development and/or delay of DN.

REFERENCES

Abdul-Ghani M, De Fronzo RA. Inhibition of renal glucose reabsorption: a novel strategy for achieving glucose control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Endocrine Practice* 2008; 14(6):782-90.

Abel T, Fehér J. A new therapeutic possibility for type 2 diabetes: DPP-4 inhibitors (sitagliptin). *Orvosi Hetilap* 2010; 151(25):1012-1016.

Abu-Amara TMM, Gebaly ZM. Effect of Sitagliptin "a Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) Inhibitor" on the Endocrine Part of the Pancreas in Experimentally induced Diabetes in Adult Albino Rat; A Light Microscopic and Biochemical Studies. *The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine* 2012; 49: 932–944.

Ahmed RH, Huri HZ, Al-Hamodi Z, Salem SD, Muniandy S. Serum Levels of Soluble CD26/Dipeptidyl Peptidase-IV in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Its Association with Metabolic Syndrome and Therapy with Antidiabetic Agents in Malaysian Subjects. *PLoS ONE* 2015; 10(10): e0140618.

Ahrén B. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors: clinical data and clinical implications. *Diabetes Care*. 2007; 30(6):1344–50.

Ahrén B, Landin-Olsson M, Jansson PA, Svensson M, Holmes D, Schweizer A. Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 reduces glycemia, sustains insulin levels and reduces glucagon levels in type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2004; 89: 2078–84.

Ahrén B, Simonsson E, Larsson H, et al. Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase IV improves metabolic control over a 4-week study period in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2002; 25(5):869-75.

Ahrén B. Use of DPP-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes: focus on sitagliptin. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy* 2010; 3 31–41.

Ahrén B. Insulin plus incretin: A glucose-lowering strategy for type 2-diabetes. *World Journal of Diabetes*. 2014; 5(1):40-51.

American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) Resource Center Retrieved 16th November from: <u>http://outpatient.aace.com/type-2-diabetes/clinical-presentation-of-type-2-diabetes-mellitus</u>

American Diabetes Association (ADA). Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2016; 39(Supplement 1): S13-S22.

American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2014. *Diabetes Care* 2014; 37:S14–80.

American Diabetes Association (ADA). Diabetes Care 2016; 39(S1): S6-S12.

American Diabetes Association (ADA). 2016. Retrieved 20th Setember from: <u>http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/genetics-of</u><u>diabetes.html?referrer=https://www.google.pt/</u>

American Diabetes Association. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2017. *Diabetes Care* 2017; 40(Supplement 1).

American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology (AACE/ACE). Consensus Statement by the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology on the Comprehensive Type 2 Diabetes Management Algorithm – 2016 Executive Summary. *Endocrine Practice* 2016; 22.1: 84-102.

Amori RE, Lau J, Pittas. Efficacy and safety of incretin therapy in type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2007; 298(2):194-206, 2007.

Apaijai N, Pintana H, Chattipakorn SC, et al. Effects of vildagliptin versus sitagliptin, on cardiac function, heart rate variability and mitochondrial function in obese insulinresistant rats. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2013; 169(5):1048–1057.

Arechavaleta R, Seck T, Chen Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of treatment with sitagliptin or glimepiride in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin monotherapy: a randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2011;13(2):160–8.

Arjona Ferreira JC, Marre M, Barzilai N, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin versus glipizide in patients with type 2 diabetes and moderate-to-severe chronic renal insufficiency. *Diabetes Care* 2013; 36(5):1067–73.

Aronoff SL, Berhowitz K, Shreiner B, Want L. Glucose metabolism and regulation: beyond insulin and glucagon. *Diabetes Spectrum* 2004; 17(3):183-189.

Atkin AJ, Foley L, Corder K, Ekelund U, van Sluijs EMF. Determinants of Three-Year Change in Children's Objectively Measured Sedentary Time. *PLoS ONE* 2016; 11(12): e0167826.

Aston-Mourney K, Subramanian SL, Zraika S, Samarasekera T, Meier DT, Goldstein LC, Hull RL. One year of sitagliptin treatment protects against islet amyloid-associated β-cell loss and does not induce pancreatitis or pancreatic neoplasia in mice. *American Journal of Physiology* -*Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2013; 15;305(4):E475-84.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare Type 2 diabetes in Australia's children and young people: a working paper. DIABETES SERIES NO. 21. *Australian Institute of Health and Welfare* (AIHW), 2014.

Aviv V, Meivar-Levy I, Rachmut IH, Rubinek T, Mor E, Ferber S. Exendin-4 promotes liver cell proliferation and enhances the PDX-1-induced liver to pancreas transdifferentiation process. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2009; 284:33509–33520.

Avogaro A, Fadini GP. The effects of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibition on microvascular diabetes complications. *Diabetes Care* 2014; 37(10):2884-94.

Ayadurai S, Hattingh HL, Tee LBG, Md Said SN. A Narrative Review of Diabetes Intervention Studies to Explore Diabetes Care Opportunities for Pharmacists. *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2016; 2016:5897452.

Bae EJ. DPP-4 inhibitors in diabetic complications: role of DPP-4 beyond glucose control. Arch *Pharm Res* 2016 Aug; 39(8):1114-28.

Baelde HJ, Eikmans M, Lappin DW et al. Reduction of VEGF-A and CTGF expression in diabetic nephropathy is associated with podocyte loss. *Kidney International* 2007; 71: 637–645.

Baggio LL, Drucker DJ. Biology of incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. *Gastroenterology* 2007; vol. 132(6):2131-57.

Baig S. Genetics of Diabetes: Concepts of Risk Rather Than Cause. *Journal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan* 2008; 18 (12): 733-735.

Balakumar P, Arora MK, Reddy J, Anand-Srivastava MB. Pathophysiology of diabetic nephropathy: involvement of multifaceted signalling mechanism. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2009; 54(2): 129-38.

Barzilai N, Guo H, Mahoney EM, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of sitagliptin monotherapy in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 2011; 27(5):1049–58.

Bastard JP, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, Capeau J, Feve B. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *European Cytokine Network* 2006; 17:4-12.

Bays H, Mandarino L, De Fronzo RA. Role of the adipocytes, FFA, and ectopic fat in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus: PPAR agonists provide a rational therapeutic approach. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2004; 89:463–478.

Beck B, Max JP. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide enhancement of the insulin effect on fatty acid incorporation into adipose tissue in the rat. *Regulatory Peptides* 1983; 7:3–8.

Becker-Zimmermann K, Berger M, Berchtold P, Gries FA, Herberg L and Schwenen M. Treadmill training improves intravenous glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in fatty Zucker rats. *Diabetologia* 1982; 22: 468-474, 1982.

Beguinot F. Tribbles homologue 3 (TRIB3) and the insulin-resistance genes in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2010; 53:1831–1834.

Belfort R, Mandarino L, Kashyap S, Wirfel K, Pratipanawatr T, Berria R, Cusi K, De Fronzo RA. Dose response effect of elevated plasma FFA on insulin signaling. *Diabetes* 2005; 54:1640–1648.

Bergenstal RM, Wysham C, Macconell L, et al. Efficacy and safety of exenatide once weekly versus sitagliptin or pioglitazone as an adjunct to metformin for treatment of type 2 diabetes (DURATION-2): a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2010; 376(9739): 431–9.

Bergman AJ, Cote J, Yi B, et al. Effect of renal insufficiency on the pharmacokinetics of sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor. *Diabetes Care* 2007; 30(7):1862–4.

Bergman AJ, Stevens C, Zhou Y, et al. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of multiple oral doses of sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibitor: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study in healthy male volunteers. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2006;28(1):55–72.

Betônico CCR, Titan SMO, Correa-Giannella MLC, Nery M, Queiroz M. Management of diabetes mellitus in individuals with chronic kidney disease: therapeutic perspectives and glycemic control. *Clinics* 2016; 71(1):47-53.

Bi XP, Tan HW, Xing SS, Wang ZH, Tang MX, Zhang Y, Zhang W. Overexpression of TRB3 gene in adipose tissue of rats with high fructose-induced metabolic syndrome *Endocrine Journal* 2008; 55:747–752.

Bilous R. The prevalence and management of cardiorenal risk factors in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Nature Clinical Practice Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2006; 2(10): 548-9.

Bjorntorp P, Rosmond R. Obesity and cortisol. Nutrition 2000a; 16: 924-936b.

Bocker D, Verspohl EJ. Role of protein kinase C, PI3-kinase and tyrosine kinase in activation of MAP kinase by glucose and agonists of G-protein coupled receptors in INS-1 cells. *International Journal of Diabetes Research* 2001; 2: 233–244.

Bonner-Weir S, Timothy D, O'Brien T. Islets in Type 2 Diabetes: In Honor of Dr. Robert C. Turner. *Diabetes* 2008; 57: 2899- 2904.

Bonner-Weir S, Guo L, Li W-C, et al. Islet Neogenesis: A Possible Pathway for Beta-Cell Replenishment. *The Review of Diabetic Studies : RDS* 2012; 9(4):407-416.

Bonora E. Protection of pancreatic beta-cells: Is it feasible? *Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases* 2008; 18, 74-83.

Boonacker E, Van Noorden CJF. Themultifunctional or moonlighting protein CD26/DPPIV," *European Journal of Cell Biology* 2003; 82(2): 53–73, 2003.

Bortoloso E, Del Prete D, Dalla Vestra M et al. Quantitative and qualitative changes in vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in glomeruli of patients with type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 2004; 150: 799–807.

Bose AK, Mocanu MM, Carr RD, Brand CL, Yellon DM. Glucagon-like peptide 1 can directly protect the heart against ischemia/reperfusion injury," *Diabetes* 2005; 54(1): 146–151.

Bouattar T, Ahid S, Benasila S, Mattous M, Rhou H, Ouzeddoun N, Abouqal R, Bayahia R, Benamar L. [The factors for progression of the diabetic nephropathy: management and evolution]. *Nephrology & Therapeutics* 2009; 5(3): 181-7.

Brown JC. A gastric inhibitory polypeptide. The amino acid composition and the tryptic peptides. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry* 1971; 49(2):255-61.

Brown JC. Otte SC. Gastrointestinal hormones and the control of insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 1978; 27(7)782-7.

Brownlee M: A radical explanation for glucose-induced beta cell dysfunction. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2003, 112:1788–1790.

Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2003; 52:102–110.

Campbell JE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, Physiology, and Mechanisms of Incretin Hormone Action. *Cell Metabolismolism* 2013; 17(6): 819–837.

Campbell RK. Rationale for dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors: a new class of oral agents for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*. 2007; 41(1):51–60.

Cao Z, Cooper ME. Pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*. 2011; 2(4):243-247.

Carr RD, Larsen MO, Winzell MS, et al. Incretin and islet hormonal responses to fat and protein ingestion in healthy men. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 2008; 295: E779–E784.

Cefalu WT. The Physiologic Role of Incretin Hormones: Clinical Applications. *Journal of the American Osteopathic Association* 2010; 110(3)suppl: 2 S8-S14.

Cerf ME. Beta Cell Dysfunction and Insulin Resistance. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 2013; 4:37.

Ceriello A, Esposito K, Piconi L, et al. Oscillating glucose is more deleterious to endothelial function and oxidative stress than mean glucose in normal and type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 2008; 57(5):1349–1354.

Ceriello A. New insights on oxidative stress and diabetic complications may lead to a "causal" antioxidant therapy. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26(5): 1589–1596.

Cernea S, Dobreanu M. Diabetes and beta cell function: from mechanisms to evaluation and clinical implications. *Biochemia Medica* 2013; 23(3):266-80.

Chander PN, Gealekman O, Brodsky SV, Elitok S, Tojo A, Crabtree M, Gross SS, Goligorsky MS. Nephropathy in Zucker diabetic fat rat is associated with oxidative and nitrosative stress: prevention by chronic therapy with a peroxynitrite scavenger ebselen. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2004 ;15(9):2391-403.

Chang JM, Kuo MC, Kuo HT, Chiu YW, Chen HC. Increased glomerular and extracellular malondialdehyde levels in patients and rats with diabetic nephropathy. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* 2005; 146, (4):pp. 210–215.

Chang TJ, Tseng HC, Liu MW, Chang YC, Hsieh ML, Chuang L-M. Glucagon-like peptide-1 prevents methylglyoxal-induced apoptosis of beta cells through improving mitochondrial function and suppressing prolonged AMPK activation. *Scientific Reports*. 2016; 6:23403.

Chawla T, Sharma D, Singh A. Role of the renin angiotensin system in diabetic nephropathy. *World Journal of Diabetes*. 2010; 1(5): 141-5.

Chawla A, Chawla R, Jaggi S. Microvasular and macrovascular complications in diabetes mellitus: Distinct or continuum? *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2016; 20(4):546-551.

Chen L, Chen R, Wang H, Liang F. Mechanisms Linking Inflammation to Insulin Resistance. *International Journal of Endocrinology*. 2015; 2015:508409.

Chen X, Ren Z, Liang W, et al. c-Abl mediates angiotensin II-induced apoptosis in podocytes. *Journal of molecular histology* 2013; 44(5):597-608.

Chon S, Gautier JF. An Update on the Effect of Incretin-Based Therapies on β -Cell Function and Mass. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal* 2016; 40(2):99-114.

Chow F, Ozols E, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Atkins RC, Tesch GH. Macrophages in mouse type 2 diabetic nephropathy: correlation with diabetic state and progressive renal injury. *Kidney International* 2004; 65(1):116–128.

Chow FY, Nikolic-Paterson, Ozols E, Atkins RC, Rollin BJ, Tesch GH. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 promotes the development of diabetic renal injury in streptozotocin-treated mice. *Kidney International* 2006; 69(1): 73–80.

Chung S, Azar KM, Baek M, Lauderdale DS, Palaniappan LP. Reconsidering the age thresholds for type II diabetes screening in the U.S. *Am J Prev Med* 2014; 47(4):375-81.

Cornell S. Continual evolution of type 2 diabetes: an update on pathophysiology and emerging treatment options. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*. 2015;11:621-632.

Crawford MH. Diabetes, the kidney, and cardiovascular risk. *Foreword. Cardiol Clin.* 2010; 28(3):ix.

Creutzfeldt W, Ebert R, Willms B, et al. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) and insulin in obesity: Increased response to stimulation and defective feedback control of serum levels. *Diabetologia* 1978; 14: 15–24.

Creutzfeldt W, Ebert R. New developments in the incretin concept, *Diabetologia* 1985; 28 (8):565-73.

Creutzfeldt W, The [pre-] history of the incretin concept. *Regulatory Peptides* 2005; 128 (2): 87-91.

Creutzfeldt W. Entero-insular axis and diabetes mellitus. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 1992; 26:13-8.

Creutzfeldt W. The incretin concept today. *Diabetologia* 1979; 16(2):75-85.

Cushman SW, Cooney GJ, Atcheson B, White MF, Kraegen EW, Shulman GI. Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2002; 277:50230–50236.

Dai Y, Dai D, Wang X, Ding Z, Mehta JL. DPP-4 inhibitors repress NLRP3 inflammasome and interleukin-1beta via GLP-1 receptor in macrophages through protein kinase C pathway. *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy* 2014; 28(5):425-32.

Dalla Vestra M, Mussap M, Gallina P, Bruseghin M, Cernigoi AM, Saller A, Plebani M, Fioretto P. Acute-phase markers of inflammation and glomerular structure in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2005; 16(S1):S78-82.

Darnell D, Davis T, GilFillan C, Karrasch J, Lowy A, Bantwal G, Basavanagowdappa H, Chandalia H, Kumar H, Modi K, Paturi V, Seshaiah V, Sethi B, Shah S, Yajnik C, De Mattia G, Ghirlanda G, Hussein Z, Natkunam SK, Ramanathan GR, Sarvar MM, Tan HS, Benatar J, Leikis R, Scott R, Arciszewska M, Babol I, Gabryel A, Krzyczkowska-Bokwa E, Kula M, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin when added to ongoing metformin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2008; 10(10):959–969.

Allen DA, Muhammad M. Yaqoob, Steven M. Harwood. Mechanisms of high glucose-induced apoptosis and its relationship to diabetic complications. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 2005; 16(12):705–713.

De Fronzo RA, Davidson JA, Del Prato S. The role of the kidneys in glucose homeostasis: a new path towards normalizing glycaemia. *Diabetes Obesity and Metabolism Metab* 2012; 14(1):5-14.

De Fronzo RA. Diabetes: pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Med Clin N Am.* 2004; 88: 787-835.

De Fronzo RA. From the triumvirate to the ominous octet: A new paradigm for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus (Banting Lecture). *Diabetes*. 2009; 58:773-795.

De Fronzo RA. Insulin resistance, lipotoxicity, type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis: the missing links. The Claude Bernard Lecture 2009. *Diabetologia* 2010; 53:1270–1287.

De Fronzo RA. Lilly Lecture: The triumvirate: β -cell, muscle, liver: a collusion responsible for NIDDM. *Diabetes* 1988; 37:667–687.

De Lorenzo C, Greco A, Fiorentino TV, Mannino GC, Hribal ML. Variants of Insulin Signaling Inhibitor Genes in Type 2 Diabetes and Related Metabolic Abnormalities. *International Journal of Genomics*. 2013; 2013:376454.

De Marinis YZ, Salehi A, Ward CE, Zhang Q, Abdulkader F, Bengtsson M, Braha O, Braun M, Ramracheya R, Amisten S, Habib AM, Moritoh Y, Zang E, Reimann F, Rosengren AH, Shibasaki T, Gribble F, Renström E, Seino S, Eliasson L, Rorsman P. GLP-1 inhibits and adrenaline stimulates glucagon release by differential modulation of N- and L-type Ca2+ channel-dependent exocytosis. *Cell Metabolism* 2010, 11:543–553.

Deacon CF, Ahrén B. Physiology of incretins in health and disease. *Review of Diabetic Studies* 2011; 8(3):293-306.

Deacon CF, Danielsen P, Klarskov L, Olesen M, Holst JJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibition reduces the degradation and clearance of GIP and potentiates its insulinotropic and antihyperglycemic effects in anesthetized pigs. *Diabetes* 2001; 50(7):1588-97.

Deacon CF, Holst JJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibition as an approach to the treatment and prevention of type 2 diabetes: a historical perspective. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*2002; 294:1–4.

Deacon CF, Holst JJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors for the treatment of type 2 diabetes: comparison, efficacy and safety. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* 2013; 14(15):2047-58, 2013.

Deacon CF, Mannucci E, Ahrén B. Glycaemic efficacy of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors as add-on therapy to metformin in subjects with type 2 diabetes-a review and meta analysis. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2012; 14(8):762-7.

Deacon CF, Nauck MA, Toft-Nielsen M, et al. Both subcutaneously and intravenously administered glucagon-like peptide-1 are rapidly degraded from the NH2-terminus in type II diabetic patients and healthy subjects. *Diabetes* 1995, 44(9):1126–31.

Deacon CF. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a comparative review. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2011; 13: 7–18.

Del Prato S. Role of glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity in the pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes mellitus and emerging treatment strategies. *Diabetic Medicine*2009; 26(12):1185–1192.

Derosa G, Carbone A, D'Angelo A, Querci F, Fogari E, Cicero AF, Maffioli P. Variations in inflammatory biomarkers following the addition of sitagliptin in patients with type 2 diabetes not controlled with metformin. *Internal Medicine*2013; 52(19):2179–2187.

Detre S, Saccani Jotti G, Dowsett M. A quickscore method for immunohistochemical semiquantitation: validation for oestrogen receptor in breast carcinomas. *Journal of Clinical Pathology* 1995; 48:876–878.

Dhillon S. Sitagliptin: a review of its use in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Drugs* 2010; 70(4):489-512.

Dicker D. DPP-4 inhibitors: impact on glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors. *Diabetes Care* 2011; 34(S2):S276-S278.

Dobrian AD, Ma Q, Lindsay JW et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor sitagliptin reduces local inflammation in adipose tissue and in pancreatic islets of obese mice. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2011; 300(2):E410–E421.

Dominguez JH, Camp K, Maianu L, Feister H, Garvey WT. Molecular adaptations of GLUT1 and GLUT2 in renal proximal tubules of diabetic rats. *American Journal of Physiology* 1994; 266: F283–F290.

Dominguez JH, Tang N, Xu W, et al. Studies of renal injury III: lipid-induced nephropathy in type II diabetes. *Kidney International* 2000; 57(1):92–104.

Donate-Correa J, Martín-Núñez E, Muros-de-Fuentes M, Mora-Fernández C, Navarro-González JF. Inflammatory Cytokines in Diabetic Nephropathy. *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2015; 2015.

Donath MY, Ehses JA, Maedler K, Schumann DM, Ellingsgaard H, Eppler E, Reinecke M. Mechanisms of β -Cell Death in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 2005; 54(2): S108-S113.

Donath MY, Schumann DM, Faulenbach M, Ellingsgaard H, Perren A, Ehses JA, Islet inflammation in type 2 diabetes: from metabolic stress to therapy. *Diabetes care* 2008; 31(2):S161–S164.

Dore DD, Seeger JD, Arnold Chan K. Use of a claims-based active drug safety surveillance system to assess the risk of acute pancreatitis with exenatide or sitagliptin compared with metformin or glyburide. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 2009; 25:1019–1027.

Drucker DJ, Nauck MA. The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes, *Lancet* 2006b; 368(9548):1696-705.

Drucker DJ, The biology of incretin hormones. *Cell Metabolism* 2006a; 3(3):153-65.

Drucker DJ. Enhancing incretin action for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26(10):2929-40, 2003.

Drucker DJ. Glucagon-like peptides: regulators of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. *Molecular Endocrinology*2003; 17(2): 161-71.

Drucker DJ. The role of gut hormones in glucose homeostasis*Journal of Clinical Investigation*2007; 117(1):24-32.

Dungan K, DeSantis A. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4) inhibitors for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. In: *UpToDate* Basow 2015, DS (Ed), Waltham, MA.

Dungan K, DeSantis A. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus In: *UpToDate* 2016, DS (Ed), Waltham, MA.

Duran-Salgado MB, Rubio-Guerra AF. Diabetic nephropathy and inflammation. *World Journal of Diabetes*. 2014; 5(3):393-398.

Durinx, C, Lambeir, AM, Bosmans E, Falmagne JB, Berghmans R, Haemers A, Scharpé S, De Meester I.Molecular characterization of dipeptidyl peptidase activity in serum. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 2000; 267: 5608–5613.

Duttaroy A, Voelker F, Merriam K, Zhang X, Ren X, Subramanian K, et al. The DPP-4 inhibitor vildagliptin increases pancreatic beta cell mass in neonatal rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*2011; 650(2–3):703–7.

Duvillié B, Currie C, Chrones T, Bucchini D, Jami J, Joshi RL, Hill DJ. Increased islet cell proliferation, decreased apoptosis, and greater vascularization leading to beta-cell hyperplasia in mutant mice lacking insulin. *Endocrinology* 2002, 143(4):1530–1537.

Eddy AA. Serine proteases, inhibitors and receptors in renal fibrosis *Thromb Haemost*. 2009; 101(4): 656–664.

Egan AG, Blind E, Dunder K, de Graeff PA, Hummer BT, Bourcier T, Rosebraugh C. Pancreatic Safety of Incretin-Based Drugs — FDA and EMA Assessment. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2014 Feb 27; 370(9):794-7.

El-Assaad W, Buteau J, Peyot ML, Nolan C, Roduit R, Hardy S, Joly E, Dbaibo G, Rosenberg L, Prentki M. Saturated fatty acids synergize with elevated glucose to cause pancreatic beta-cell death. *Endocrinology* 2003; 144:4154 – 4163.

Engel SS, Round E, Golm GT, et al. Safety and tolerability of sitagliptin in type 2 diabetes: pooled analysis of 25 clinical studies. *Diabetes Therapy* 2013; 4(1):119–45.

Espinel E, Agraz I, Ibernon M, Ramos N, Fort J, Serón D. Renal Biopsy in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2015; 4:998-1009.

Esposito K, Chiodini P, Maiorino MI, Bellastella G, Capuano A, Giugliano D. Glycaemic durability with dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis of long-term randomised controlled trials. *BMJ Open* 2014; 4:e005442

Eurich DT, Simpson S, Senthilselvan A, et al. Comparative safety and effectiveness of sitagliptin in patients with type 2 diabetes: retrospective population based cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 2013;346:f2267.

European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). ESC Guidelines on diabetes, prediabetes, and cardiovascular diseases developed in collaboration with the EASD. *European Heart Journal* 2013; 34, 3035–3087.

Fadini GP, Albiero M, Kreutzenberg SV, et al. Diabetes impairs stem cell and proangiogenic cell mobilization in humans. *Diabetes Care* 2012; 36(4):943-9, 2012.

Fadini GP, Boscaro E, Albiero M, et al. The oral dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with type 2 diabetes: possible role of stromal-derived factor-1alpha. *Diabetes Care* 2010; 33:1607–1609.

Fan M, Li Y, Zhang S. Effects of Sitagliptin on Lipid Profiles in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. *Medicine* 2016; 95 (2):1-9.

Farilla L, Hui H, Bertolotto C, Kang E, Bulotta A, Di Mario U, Perfetti R. Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes islet cell growth and inhibits apoptosis in Zucker diabetic rats. *Endocrinology* 2002; 143:4397–4408.

FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA warns that SGLT2 inhibitors for diabetes may result in a serious condition of too much acid in the blood. May 15, 2015. Retrieved 18th June from: <u>http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm446845.htm</u>.

Ferreira L, Teixeira-de-Lemos E, Pinto F, Parada B, Mega C, Vala H, Pinto R, Garrido P, Sereno J, Fernandes R, Santos P, Velada I, Melo A, Nunes S, Teixeira F, Reis F: Effects of sitagliptin treatment on dysmetabolism, inflammation, and oxidative stress in an animal model of type 2 diabetes (ZDF rat). *Mediators of Inflamm* 2010, 2010:592760.

Filla LA, Edwards JL. Metabolomics in diabetic complications. *Molecular BioSystems* 2016; 12:1090-1105

Flock G, Baggio LL, Longuet C, Drucker DJ. Incretin receptors for glucagon-like peptide 1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide are essential for the sustained metabolic actions of vildagliptin in mice. *Diabetes* 2007; 56:3006–3013.

Fonseca VA. Defining and characterizing the progression of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2009 Nov; 32(S2):S151-6.

Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Canagliflozin (Invokana, Invokamet): Drug Safety Communication - Clinical Trial Results Find Increased Risk of Leg and Foot Amputations. Posted 05/18/2016. Retrieved 18th June from:

http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProd ucts/ucm501565.htm

Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Information for Healthcare Professionals - Acute pancreatitis and sitagliptin (marketed as Januvia and Janumet). Postmarket Drug Safety Information for Patients and Providers 2009. Retrieved 19th June from:

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/DrugSafetyInformationforHeathcareProfessionals/ucm183764.htm

Forbes JM, Coughlan MT, Cooper ME. Oxidative stress as amajor culprit in kidney disease in diabetes. *Diabetes* 2008; 57(6):1446–1454.

Forbes JM, Cooper ME. Mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Physiological Reviews* 2013; 93(1):137-88.

Foresight Programme. Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Project report. UK Government 2007. Retrieved 18th July from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices</u>

Foresight Programme. Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Summary of Key Messages. UK Government 2007. Retrieved 18th July from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices

Frias JP, Edelman SV. Incretins and their role in the management of diabetes. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology Diabetes and Obesity* 2007; 14(4):269-276.

Fridlyand LE, Philipson LH. Reactive species and early manifestation of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes; Obesity and Metabolism* 2006; 8(29):136–145.

Fu Z, Gilbert ER, Liu D. Regulation of Insulin Synthesis and Secretion and Pancreatic Beta-Cell Dysfunction in Diabetes. *Current diabetes reviews*. 2013; 9(1):25-53.

Furler SM, Gan SK, Poynten AM, Chisholm DJ, Campbell LV, Kriketos AD. Relationship of adiponectin with insulin sensitivity in humans, independent of lipid availability. *Obesity* 2006; 14(2): 228–234.

Furuta T, Saito T, Ootaka T et al. The role of macrophages in diabetic glomerulosclerosis. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases* 1993; 21(5): 480–485.

Gaetaniello L, Fiore M, de Filippo S, Pozzi N, Tamasi S, Pignata C. Occupancy of dipeptidyl peptidase IV activates na associated tyrosine kinase and triggers an apoptotic signal in human hepatocarcinoma cells. *Hepatology* 1998; 27:934–942.

Gallwitz B. Extra-pancreatic effects of incretin-based therapies *Endocrine* 2014; ISSN: 1559-0100

Gallwitz B. New therapeutic strategies for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus based on incretins. *Review of Diabetic Studie* 2005; 2(2):61–69.

Garber AJ. Incretin Effects on β -Cell Function, Replication, and Mass: The human perspective. *Diabetes Care* 201; 34(S2):S258-S263.

Garg K, Tripathi CD, Kumar S. Clinical Review of Sitagliptin : A DPP-4 Inhibitor. *Journal of the Association of Physicians of India* 2013; 61:57-61.

Garg R, Chen W, Pendergrass M. Acute Pancreatitis in Type 2 Diabetes Treated With Exenatide or Sitagliptin. A retrospective observational pharmacy claims analysis. *Diabetes Care* 2010; 33(11): 2349-2354.

Garsen M, Lenoir O, Rops ALWMM, DijkmanHB, Willemsen B, van Kuppevelt TH, Rabelink TJ, Berden JHM, Tharaux PL, van der Vlag J. Endothelin-1 Induces Proteinuria by Heparanase-Mediated Disruption of the Glomerular Glycocalyx. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2016; 2016.

Gassler N, Elger M, KrÖnzlin B, et al. Podocyte injury underlies the progression of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in the fa/fa Zucker rat. *Kidney International* 2001; 60(1):106–116.

Gautier JF, Choukem SP, Girard J. Physiology of incretins (GIP and GLP-1) and abnormalities in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & Metabolismolism* 2008; 34(S2):S65-72, 2008

Geelhoed-Duijvestijn PH. Incretins: a new treatment option for type 2 diabetes?, *Netherlands Journal of Medicine* 2007; 65(2):60-4.

Gerich JE. Role of the kidney in normal glucose homeostasis and in the hyperglycaemia of diabetes mellitus: therapeutic implications. *Diabetic Medicine* 2010; 27(2):136-42.

Giacco F, Brownlee M. Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circulation Research* 2010; 107(9):1058–1070.

Ginsberg HN. Insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2000; 106: 453-458.

Girard J. The incretins: from the concept to their use in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Part A: incretins: concept and physiological functions. *Diabetes andMetabolism* 2008; 34(6):550–559.

Girardi AAC, Fukuda LE, Rossoni LV, .Malnic G, Rebouças NA. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibition downregulates Na+-H + exchanger NHE3 in rat renal proximal tubule. *American Journal of Physiology* 2008; 294 (2):F414–F422.

Glastras SJ, Chen H, McGrath RT, et al. Effect of GLP-1 Receptor Activation on Offspring Kidney Health in a Rat Model of Maternal Obesity. *Scientific Reports* 2016; 6:23525.

Gleason CE, Gonzalez M, Harmon JS and Robertson RP. Determinants of glucose toxicity and its reversibility in the pancreatic islet beta-cell line, HIT-T15. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 279: E997-1002, 2000.

Godoy-Matos AF, The role of glucagon on type 2 diabetes at a glance. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome* 2014; 6:91. doi:10.1186/1758-5996-6-91

Gonçalves A, Leal E, Paiva A, Teixeira Lemos E, Teixeira F, Ribeiro CF, Reis F, Ambrósio AF, Fernandes R. Protective effects of the dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor sitagliptin in the blood-retinal barrier in a type 2 diabetes animal model. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2012; 14(5):454–463.

Gonçalves A, Marques C, Leal E, Ribeiro CF, Reis F, Ambrósio AF, Fernandes R. Dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibition prevents blood-retinal barrier breakdown, inflammation and neuronal cell death in the retina of type 1 diabetic rats. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 2014; 1842(9):1454-63.

Gong HP, Wang ZH, Jiang H, Fang NN, Li JS, Shang YY, Zhang Y, Zhong M, Zhang W. TRIB3 functional Q84R polymorphism is a risk factor for metabolic syndrome and carotid atherosclerosis. *Diabetes Care* 2009; 32:1311–1313.

Gorrell MD. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV and related enzymes in cell biology and liver disorders. *Clinical Science* 2005 Apr; 108(4):277-92.

Górriz JL, Nieto J, Navarro-González JF, Molina P, Martínez-Castelao A, Pallardó LM. Nephroprotection by Hypoglycemic Agents: Do We Have Supporting Data? *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2015; 4(10):1866-89.

Gray SP, Cooper ME. Diabetic nephropathy in 2010: Alleviating the burden of diabetic nephropathy. *Nature Reviews Nephrology* 2011; 7(2): 71-3.

Gray SP, Jandeleit-Dahm K. The pathobiology of diabetic vascular complications-cardiovascular and kidney disease. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berl)* 2014; 92(5):441-52.

Green BD, Flatt PR, Bailey CJ. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP IV) inhibitors: A newly emerging drug class for the treatment of type 2 diabetes Diabetes & Vascular Disease Research 2006; 3(3):159–165.

Gögebakan Ö, Osterhoff MA, Schüler R, Pivovarova O, Kruse M, Seltmann AC, Mosig AS, Rudovich N, Nauck M, Pfeiffer AF. GIP increases adipose tissue expression and blood levels of MCP-1 in humans and links high energy diets to inflammation: a randomised trial. *Diabetologia*. 2015;58(8):1759-68.

Guijarro C; Egido J. Transcription factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and renal disease. *Kidney International* 2001; 59(2): 415–424.

Guo S. Insulin signaling, resistance, and metabolic syndrome: insights from mouse models into disease mechanisms. *Journal of Endocrinology* 2014; 220:T1–T23.

Gupta V, Kalra S. Choosing a Gliptin. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2011; 15(4):298-308.

Hamamoto S, Kanda Y, Shimoda M, Tatsumi F, Kohara K, Tawaramoto K, Hashiramoto M, Kaku K. Vildagliptin preserves the mass and function of pancreatic β cells via the developmental regulation and suppression of oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress in a mouse model of diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2013; 15(2):153–163.

Han SJ, Choi SE, Kang Y, Jung JG, Yi SA, Kim HJ, et al. Effect of sitagliptin plus metformin on beta-cell function, islet integrity and islet gene expression in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2011; 92(2):213–22.

Hare KJ, Vilsboll T, Asmar M, et al. The glucagononostatic and insulinotropic effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 contribute equally to its glucose-lowering action. *Diabetes* 2010; 59(7): 1765-70.

Hauge-Evans AC, King AJ, Carmignac D, et al. Somatostatin Secreted by Islet δ -Cells Fulfills Multiple Roles as a Paracrine Regulator of Islet Function. *Diabetes*. 2009; 58(2):403-411.

Hayes MR, Mietlicki-Baase EG, Kanoski SE, De Jonghe BC. Incretins and Amylin: Neuroendocrine Communication between the Gut, Pancreas, and Brain in Control of Food Intake and Blood Glucose. *Annual review of nutrition* 2014; 34:237-260.

Hendarto H, Inoguchi T, Maeda Y et al. GLP-1 analog liraglutide protects against oxidative stress and albuminuria in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats via protein kinase A mediated inhibition of renal NAD(P)H oxidases. *Metabolism* 2012; 61(10):1422–1434.

Herbach N, Bergmayr M, Göke B, Wolf E, Wanke R. Postnatal development of numbers and mean sizes of pancreatic islets and beta-cells in healthy mice and giprdn transgenic diabetic mice. *PLoS ONE* 2011;6(7)e22814.

Herman GA, Stevens C, Van Dyck K, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of sitagliptin, an inhibitor of dipeptidyl peptidase IV, in healthy subjects: results from two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies with single oral doses. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2005; 78(6):675-88.

Herman GA, Bergman A, Liu F, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic effects of the oral DPP-4 inhibitor sitagliptin in middle-aged obese subjects. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2006a;46(8):876–86.

Herman GA, Bergman A, Stevens C, et al. Effect of single oral doses of sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, on incretin and plasma glucose levels after an oral glucose tolerance test in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2006b;91(11):4612–9.

Hocher B, Reichetzeder C, Alter ML. Renal and cardiac effects of DPP-4 inhibitors – from preclinical development to clinical research. *Kidney Blood Press Res* 2012; 36:65–84.

Hojs R, Ekart R, Bevc S, Hojs N. Biomarkers of Renal Disease and Progression in Patients with Diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2015; 4(5)1010-1024

Holman RR. Cardiovascular outcome studies and glucose-lowering therapies. World Diabetes Congress 2015. Presented December 2, 2015. *Medscape Diabetes & Endocrinology* 2015.

Holst JJ, Gromada J. Role of incretin hormones in the regulation of insulin secretion in diabetic and nondiabetic humans. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 2007; 287(2):E199–E206.

Holst JJ, Vilsbøll T, Deacon CF. The incretin system and its role in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 2009; 297:127–136.

Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide-1, a gastrointestinal hormone with a pharmaceutical potential. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 1999; 6(11):1005-17.

Holst JJ. On the physiology of GIP and GLP-1. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 2004; 36(11-12):747-54.

Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physioloical Reviews* 2007; 87(4): 1409-39.

Hoshi S, Shu Y, Yoshida F et al. Podocyte injury promotes progressive nephropathy in zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Laboratory Investigation* 2002; 82(1):25–35, 2002.

Hotamisligil GS. The role of TNF-and TNF receptors in obesity and insulin resistance. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 1999; 245:621–625.

Hou S, Li C, Huan Y, et al. Effects of E2HSA, a Long-Acting Glucagon Like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist, on Glycemic Control and Beta Cell Function in Spontaneous Diabetic db/db Mice. *Journal of Diabetes Research*. 2015; 2015:817839.

Huang CJ, Lin CY, Haataja L, Gurlo T, Butler AE, Rizza RA, Butler PC. High expression rates of human islet amyloid polypeptide induce endoplasmic reticulum stress mediated beta-cell apoptosis, a characteristic of humans with type 2 but not type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2007; 56:2016–2027.

Humphrey RK, Ray A, Gonuguntla S, Hao E, Jhala US. Loss of TRB3 alters dynamics of MLK3-JNK signaling and inhibits cytokine-activated pancreatic beta cell death. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*2014; 24; 289(43):29994-30004.

Hussain MA, Porras DL, Rowe MH, West JR, Song WJ, Schreiber WE, Wondisford FE. Increased Pancreatic β -Cell Proliferation Mediated by CREB Binding Protein Gene Activation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 2006: 26(20): 7747-7759.

Ideta T, Shirakami Y, Miyazaki T, Kochi T, Sakai H, Moriwaki H, Shimizu M. The dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor teneligliptin attenuates hepatic lipogenesis via AMPK activation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease model mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2015; 16:29207–29218

International Diabetes Federation (IDF). Diabetes Atlas, 5th edition, 2011. Retrieved 9th April from: file:///C:/Users/Utilizador/Downloads/21991_diabAtlas_5thEd.pdf

International Diabetes Federation (IDF), 2014. Retrieved 9th April from: http://www.idf.org/about-diabetes/risk-factors

International Diabetes Federation (IDF). IDF DIABETES ATLAS 2015; Seventh Edition. 2016. Retrieved 9th April from: <u>http://www.diabetesatlas.org/</u>

International Diabetes Federation (IDF). IDF DIABETES ATLAS 2014; Sixth Edition. 2015. Retrieved 9th April from: <u>https://www.idf.org/sites/default/files/Atlas-poster-2014_EN.pdf</u>

International Diabetes Federation (IDF). 2006. The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome. Retrieved 11th June from: http://www.idf.org/metabolic-syndrome

Inzucchi SE, Bergenstal RM, Buse JB, Diamant M, Ferrannini E, Nauck M, Peters AL, Tsapas A, Wender R, Matthews DR, American Diabetes Association (ADA), European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes: a patient-centered approach: position statement of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). *Diabetes Care*. 2012; 35(6):1364-79.

Inzucchi SE, Bergenstal RM, Buse JB, et al. Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2015: a patient- centered approach. Update to a position statement of the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2015; 38:140-149.

Inzucchi SE, McGuire DK. New drugs for the treatment of diabetes: part II. Incretin-based therapy and beyond. *Circulation* 2008; 117(4):574–84.

Ishibashi Y, Yamagishi S, Matsui T, Ohta K, Tanoue R, Takeuchi M, Ueda S, Nakamura K, Okuda S. Pravastatin inhibits advanced glycation end products (AGEs)-induced proximal tubular cell apoptosis and injury by reducing receptor for AGEs (RAGE) level. *Metabolism* 2012;61:1067–1072.

Ishibashi , Nishino Y, Matsui T, Takeuchi M, Yamagishi SI. Glucagon-like peptide-1 suppresses advanced glycation end product-induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in mesangial cells by reducing advanced glycation end product receptor level. *Metabolism* 2011; 60(9):1271–1277.

Janiak P, Bidouard JP, Cadrouvele C et al. Long-term blockade of angiotensin AT1 receptors increases survival of obese Zucker rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2006; 534(1–3):271–279.

Janssen U, Phillips AO, Floege J. Rodent models of nephropathy associated with type II diabetes. *Journal ofNephrology* 1999;12:159–172.

Jefferson JA, Shankland SJ, Pichler RH. Proteinuria in diabetic kidney disease: a mechanistic viewpoint. *Kidney International*, 2008;(1):22 36.

Jerant A, Bertakis KD, Franks P. Body mass index and health status in diabetic and non-diabetic individuals. *Nutrition & Diabetes* 2015; 5(4):e152-. doi:10.1038/nutd.2015.2.

Ji M, Xia L, Cao J, Zou D. Sitagliptin/Metformin Versus Insulin Glargine Combined With Metformin in Obese Subjects With Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes. *Medicine* 2016; 95(11):e2961.

Jin HY, Liu WJ, Park JH, Baek HS, Park TS. Effect of dipeptidyl peptidase-IV (DPP-IV) inhibitor (Vildagliptin) on peripheral nerves in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Archives of Medical Research s* 2009; 40:536–544.

Jones AG, Hattersley AT. The clinical utility of C-peptide measurement in the care of patients with diabetes. Diabetic Medicine. 2013;30(7):803-817.

Joo KW, Kim S, Ahn SY, Chin HJ, Chae DW, Lee J, Han JS, Na KY. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor attenuates kidney injury in rat remnant kidney. *BMC Nephrology* 2013 14:98.

Jost MM, Lamerz J, Tammen H et al. In vivo profiling of DPP4 inhibitors reveals alterations in collagen metabolism and accumulation of an amyloid peptide in rat plasma. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2009; 77: 228–237.

Jung UJ, Choi M-S. Obesity and Its Metabolic Complications: The Role of Adipokines and the Relationship between Obesity, Inflammation, Insulin Resistance, Dyslipidemia and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2014; 15(4):6184-6223.

Jung YA, Choi YK, Jung GS, Seo HY, Kim HS, Jang BK, Kim JG, Lee IK, Kim MK, Park KG. Sitagliptin attenuates methionine/choline-deficient diet-induced steatohepatitis. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2014; 105:47–57.

Kadowaki T, Tajima N, Odawara M, et al. Addition of sitagliptin to ongoing metformin monotherapy improves glycemic control in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes over 52 weeks. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation* 2013; 4(2):174–81.

Kahn SE. The Importance of the β -cell in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Medicine* 2000; 108:25–85.

Kahn SE, Cooper ME, Del Prato S. Pathophysiology and treatment of type 2 diabetes: perspectives on the past, present, and future. *The Lancet* 2014; 383: 1068-1083.

Kambham N, Markowitz GS, Valeri AM, Lin J, D'Agati VD. Obesity-related glomerulopathy: an emerging epidemic. *Kidney International* 2001; 59(4):1498–1509.

Kamran M, Peterson RG, Dominguez JH. Overexpression of GLUT2 gene in renal proximal tubules of diabetic Zucker rats. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 1997;8:943–948.

Kanasaki K, Taduri G, Koya D. Diabetic nephropathy: the role of inflammation in fibroblast activation and kidney fibrosis. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 2013; 4:7.

Kang BPS, Frencher S, Reddy V, Kessler A, Malhorta A, Meggs LG. High glucose promotes mesangial cell apoptosis by oxidant-dependent mechanism. *American Journal of Physiology: Renal Physiology* 2003; 284(3):F455–F466.

Kanwar YS, Wada J, Sun L, et al. Diabetic nephropathy: mechanisms of renal disease progression. *Experimental Biology and Medicine (Maywood NJ)* 2008; 233:4–11.

Karabulut S, Coskunb ZM, Bolkent S. Immunohistochemical, apoptotic and biochemical changes by dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor-sitagliptin in type-2 diabetic rats. *Pharmacological Reports* 2015; 67(5): 846–853.

Karaca M, Magnan C, Kargar C. Functional pancreatic beta-cell mass: involvement in type 2 diabetes and therapeutic intervention. *Diabetes & Metabolism* 2009; 35:77-84.

Kato S, Nazneen A, Nakashima Y et al. Pathological influence of obesity on renal structural changes in chronic kidney disease. *Clinical and Experimental Nephrology* 2009; 13(4):332–340.

Katsurada K, Yada T. Neural effects of gut- and brain-derived glucagon-like peptide-1 and its receptor agonist. Kieffer TJ, Seino Y. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*. 2016; 7(S1):64-69.

Kawasaki I, Hiura Y, Tamai A, et al. Sitagliptin reduces the urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio in type 2 diabetes through decreasing both blood pressure and estimated glomerular filtration rate. *Journal of Diabetes* 2015; 7(1):41-6, 2015.

Keane KN, Cruzat VF, Carlessi R, de Bittencourt PIH, Newsholme P. Molecular Events Linking Oxidative Stress and Inflammation to Insulin Resistance and β -Cell Dysfunction. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2015; 2015:181643. doi:10.1155/2015/181643.

Kern TS. Contributions of inflammatory processes to the development of the early stages of diabetic retinopathy. *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2007;2007: 95103.

Kim D, Wang L, Beconi M, et al. (2R)-4-oxo-4-[3-(trifluoromethyl)-5,6-dihydro[1, 2, 4]triazolo[4,3-a]pyrazin-7(8H)- yl]-1-(2,4,5-trifluorophenyl)butan-2-amine: a potent, orally active dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor for the treatment of type 2 diabetes *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2005; 48(1):141–51.

Kim JS, Han BG, Choi SO, Cha SK. Secondary Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis: From Podocyte Injury to Glomerulosclerosis. *BioMed Research International* 2016; 2016:1630365.

Kim SJ, Nian C, Doudet DJ, et al. Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase IV with sitagliptin (MK0431) prolongs islet graft survival in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 2008; 57(5):1331-9.

Kim SJ, Nian C, McIntosh CH. Activation of lipoprotein lipase by glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide in adipocytes. A role for a protein kinase B, LKB1, and AMP activated protein kinase cascade. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2007b; 282:8557–8567.

Kim SJ, Nian C, McIntosh CH. Resistin is a key mediator of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) stimulation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity in adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2007a; 282: 34139–34147.

Kim W, Hudson BI, Moser B, Guo J, Rong LL, et al. Receptor for advanced glycation end products and its ligands: a journey from the complications of diabetes to its pathogenesis. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 2005; 1043:553–561.

King GL. The Role of Inflammatory Cytokines in Diabetes and Its Complications. *Journal of Periodontology* 2008; 79:1527-1534.

Kirino Y, Sato Y, Kamimoto T, Kawazoe K, Minakuchi, K, Nakahori Y. Interrelationship of dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP4) with the development of diabetes, dyslipidaemia and nephropathy: A streptozotocin-induced model using wild-type and DPP4-deficient rats. *Journal of Endocrinology* 2009; 200(1):53–61.

Klein T, Fujii M, Sandel J, Shibazaki Y, Wakamatsu K, Mark M, Yoneyama H. Linagliptin alleviates hepatic steatosis and inflammation in a mouse model of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Medical Molecular Morphology* 2014; 47:137–149.

Knøp FK, Vilsbøll T, Højberg PV, Larsen S, Madsbad S, Vølund A, Holst JJ, Krarup T. Reduced incretin effect in type 2 diabetes: cause or consequence of the diabetic state? *Diabetes* 2007; 56(8):1951–1959.
Kodera R, Shikata K, Takasuta T et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase- 4 inhibitor ameliorates early renal injury through its antiinflammatory action in a rat model of type 1 diabetes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2014; 443(3):828–833.

Kondo Y, Harada N, Hamasaki A, Kaneko S, Yasuda K, Ogawa E, Harashima S, Yoneda H, Fujita Y, Kitano N, Nakamura Y, Matsuo F, Shinji M, Hinotsu S, Nakayama T, Inagaki N. Sitagliptin monotherapy has better effect on insulinogenic index than glimepiride monotherapy in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 52-week, multicenter, parallel-group randomized controlled trial. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome* 2016; 8:15.

Krentz AJ, Clough G, Byrne CD. Vascular disease in the metabolic syndrome: do we need to target the microcirculation to treat large vessel disease Journal of Vascular Research 2009; 46: 515–526.

Kulkarni RN, Jhala US, Winnay JN, Krajewski S, Montminy M, Kahn CR. PDX-1 haploinsufficiency limits the compensatory islet hyperplasia that occurs in response to insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2004; 114:828-836.

Kumar D, Singla SK, Puri V, Puri S. The Restrained Expression of NF-kB in Renal Tissue Ameliorates Folic Acid Induced Acute Kidney Injury in Mice. *PLoS ONE*. 2015; 10(1):e115947.

Laakso M, Cardiovascular Disease in Type 2 Diabetes from Population to Man to Mechanisms. *Diabetes Care* 2010; 33(2): 442–449.

Laakso M. Heart in diabetes: A microvascular disease. *Diabetes Care* 2011; 34(S2):S145–9.

Laron Z. Insulin and the brain. Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry 2009; 115: 112-6.

Lassila M, Seah KK, Allen TJ, et al. Accelerated nephropathy in diabetic apolipoprotein E-knockout mouse: role of advanced glycation end products. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2004; 15(8):2125–2138.

Laybutt DR, Preston AM, Akerfeldt MC, Kench JG, Busch AK, Biankin AV, Biden TJ. Endoplasmic reticulum stress contributes to beta cell apoptosis in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2007; 50:752–763.

Le Lay S, Simard G, Martinez MC, Andriantsitohaina R. Oxidative Stress and Metabolic Pathologies: From an Adipocentric Point of View. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2014; 2014:908539.

Lee HS. Mechanisms and consequences of hypertriglyceridemia and cellular lipid accumulation in chronic kidney disease and metabolic syndrome. *Histology and Histopathology* 2011; 26(12):1599–1610.

Lee R, Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. Epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy, diabetic macular edema and related vision loss. *Eye and Vision* 2015; 2:17.

Lee TI, Kao YH, Chen YC, Huang JH, HsuMI, Chen YJ. The dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitorsitagliptin modulates calcium dysregulation, inflammation, and PPARs in hypertensive cardiomyocytes. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2013; 168(6):5390–5395. Lee YS, Shin S, Shigihara T, Hahm E, Liu MJ, Han J, Yoon JW, Jun HS. Glucagon-like peptide-1 gene therapy in obese diabetic mice results in long-term cure of diabetes by improving insulin sensitivity and reducing hepatic gluconeogenesis. *Diabetes* 2007; 56:1671–1679.

Leech CA, Chepurny OG, Holz GG. Epac2-Dependent Rap1 Activation and the Control of Islet Insulin Secretion by Glucagon-Like Peptide-1. *Vitamins and hormones*. 2010;84:279-302.

Lemos ET, Reis F, Baptista S, Pinto R, Sepodes B, Vala H, Rocha-Pereira P, Silva GC, Teixeira N, Silva AS, Carvalho L, Teixeira F, Das UN. Exercise training decreases proinflammatory profile in Zucker diabetic (type 2) fatty rats.*Nutrition.* 2008; 4.

Li J, Guan M, Li C, Lyv F, Zeng Y, Zheng Z, Wang C, Xue Y. The dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin protects against dyslipidemia-related kidney injury in Apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2014; 15: 11416–11434.

Li JJ, Kwak SJ, Jung DS et al. Podocyte biology in diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney International* 2007; 106: S36–S42.

Li L, El-Kholy W, Rhodes CJ, Brubaker PL. Glucagon-like peptide-1 protects beta cells from cytokine-induced apoptosis and necrosis: role of protein kinase B. *Diabetologia* 2005; 48(7):1339–1349.

Li X, Zhang L, Meshinchi S, Dias-Leme C, et al. Islet Microvasculature in Islet Hyperplasia and Failure in a Model of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 2006; 55:2965–2973.

Li Y, Hansotia T, Yusta B, Ris F, Halban PA, Drucker DJ. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor signaling modulates β cell apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003; 278:471–478.

Lim AK, Tesch GH. Inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2012; 2012: 146154.

Lin Y, Rajala MW, Berger JP, Moller DE, Barzilai N, Scherer PE. Hyperglycemia-induced production of acute phase reactants in adipose tissue. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*2001, 276:42077–42083.

Liu J, Wu X, Franklin JL, Messina JL, Hill HS, Moellering DR, Walton RG, Martin M, Garvey WT. Mammalian Tribbles homolog 3 impairs insulin action in skeletal muscle: role in glucoseinduced insulin resistance. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2010; 298:E565–E576.

Liu JH, Yin F, Guo LX, Deng XH, Hu YH. Neuroprotection of geniposide against hydrogen peroxide induced PC12 cells injury: involvement of PI3 kinase signal pathway. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica* 2009; 30(2):159–165.

Liu WJ, Xie SH, Liu YN et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor attenuates kidney injury in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Journal of Pharmacology and ExperimentalTherapeutics* 2012; 340(2):248–255.

Liu WJ, Jin HY, Lee KA, Xie SH, Baek HS, Park TS. Neuroprotective effect of the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist, synthetic exendin-4, in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2011; 164:1410–1420.

Liu L, Omar B, Marchetti P, Ahren B. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4): localization and activity in human and rodent islets. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2014; 453(3):398–404.

Liu YS, Huang ZW, Wang L, Liu XX, Wang YM, Zhang Y, Zhang M. Sitagliptin alleviated myocardial remodeling of the left ventricle and improved cardiac diastolic dysfunction in diabetic rats. *Journal of Pharmacological Science*. 2015; 127(3):260-74.

Lorenzo C, Nath SD, Hanley AJ, Abboud HE, Haffner SM. Relation of low glomerular filtration rate to metabolic disorders in individuals without diabetes and with normoalbuminuria. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2008 May;3(3):783-9.

Lund PK. The discovery of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Regulatory Peptides* 2005; 128(2):93-6.

Lyssenko V, Laakso M. Genetic Screening for the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2013; 36 (2):s120-126.

Maedler K, Dharmadhikari G, Schumann DM, Størling J. Interleukin-targeted therapy for metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* 2011; 203:257–278.

Maedler K, Oberholzer J, Bucher P, Spinas GA, Donath MY. Monounsaturated fatty acids prevent the deleterious effects of palmitate and high glucose on human pancreatic beta-cell turnover and function. *Diabetes* 2003; 52:726–733.

Maedler K, Sergeev P, Ris F, Oberholzer J, Joller-Jemelka HI, Spinas GA, Kaiser N, Halban PA, Donath MY. Glucose-induced beta-cell production of interleukin-1beta contributes to glucotoxicity in human pancreatic islets. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2002; 110:851–860.

Maedler K, Spinas GA, Dyntar D, Moritz W, Kaiser N, Donath MY. Distinct effects of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids on β -cell turnover and function. *Diabetes* 2001; 50(1)69–76.

Mahmoud Ibrahim; Megahed Abu Al Magd; Firas A Annabi; Samir Assaad-Khalil; Ebtesam M Ba-Essa; Ibtihal Fahdil; Sehnaz Karadeniz; Terry Meriden; Aly A Misha'; Paolo Pozzilli; Samad Shera; Abraham Thomas; Suhad Bahijri; Jaakko Tuomilehto; Temel Yilmaz; Guillermo E Umpierrez. Recommendations for Management of Diabetes during Ramadan. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research Care* 2015; 3:e000108.

Maida A, Hansotia T, Longuet C, Seino T, Drucker DJ. Differential importance of glucosedependent insulinotropic polypeptide vs glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor signaling for β cell survival in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2009; 137:2146–2157.

Maiztegui B, Borelli MI, Madrid VG, Del Zotto H, Raschia MA, Francini F, Massa ML, Flores LE, Rebolledo OR, Gagliardino JJ. Sitagliptin prevents the development of metabolic and hormonal disturbances, increased β -cell apoptosis and liver steatosis induced by a fructose-rich diet in normal rats. *Clinical Science* 2011; 120:73–80.

Mannucci E, Pala L, Ciani S, et al. Hyperglycaemia increases dipeptidyl peptidase IV activity in diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 2005; 48(6):1168-72.

Mantel C, Messina-Graham SV, Broxmeyer HE. Superoxide flashes, reactive oxygen species, and the mitochondrial permeability transition pore: potential implications for hematopoietic stem cell function. *Current Opinion in Hematology* 2011; 18(4):208–213.

Marchant K. Diabetes and chronic kidney disease: a complex combination. *British Journal of Nursing* 2008; 17(6): 356-361.

Marchetti P, Lupi R, Del Guerra S, Bugliani M, Marselli L, Boggi U. The beta-cell in human type 2 diabetes. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 2010; 654:501–514.

Marinho R, Mekary RA, Muñoz VR, Gomes RJ, Pauli JR, de Moura LP. Regulation of hepatic TRB3/Akt interaction induced by physical exercise and its effect on the hepatic glucose production in an insulin resistance state. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome* 2015; 7:67.

Marsenic O. Glucose control by the kidney: an emerging target in diabetes. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases* 2009; 53(5):875-883.

Marshall S M. Recent advances in diabetic nephropathy. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 2004; 80:624-633

Martins AR, Mas, S. Lipotoxicity and kidney. *Portuguese Journal of Nephrology & Hypertension* 2015; *29*(4), 306-315.

Marzioni M, Alpini G, Saccomanno S, et al. Exendin-4, a glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonist, protects cholangiocytes from apoptosis. *Gut* 2009; 58(7):990–997.

Mata-Cases, M., Mauricio, D., and Franch-Nadal, J. Clinical characteristics of type 2 diabetic patients on basal insulin therapy with adequate fasting glucose control who do not achieve HbA1c targets. *Journal of Diabetes* 2017; 9(1):34-44.

Matough FA, Budin SB, Hamid ZA, Alwahaibi N, Mohamed J. The Role of Oxidative Stress and Antioxidants in Diabetic Complications. *Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal* 2012; 12(1):5-18.

Matheeussen V, Baerts L, de Meyer G et al. Expression and spatial heterogeneity of dipeptidyl peptidases in endothelial cells of conduct vessels and capillaries. *The Biological Chemistry* 2011; 392(3):189–198.

Matsubara J, Sugiyama S, Akiyama E, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, sitagliptin, improves endothelial dysfunction in association with its anti-inflammatory effects in patients with coronary artery disease and uncontrolled diabetes. *Circulation Journal* 2013; 77(5)1337–1344.

Matsui T, Nakashima S, Nishino Y, Ojima A, Nakamura N, Arima K, Fukami K, Okuda S, Yamagishi S. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 deficiency protects against experimental diabetic nephropathy partly by blocking the advanced glycation end products-receptor axis. *Laboratory Investigation* 2015; 95(5):525-33.

Matsui T, Nishino Y, Takeuchi M, Yamagishi SI. Vildagliptin blocks vascular injury in thoracic aorta of diabetic rats by suppressing advanced glycation end product-receptor axis. *Pharmacological Research* 2011; 63(5):383–388.

Matveyenko AV, Dry S, Cox HI, Moshtaghian A, Gurlo T, Galasso R, et al. Beneficial endocrine but adverse exocrine effects of sitagliptin in the human islet amyloid polypeptide transgenic rat model of type 2 diabetes: interactions with metformin. *Diabetes* 2009; 58(7): 1604-15.

McCormick LM, Kydd AC, Read PA, Ring LS, Bond SJ, Hoole SP, Dutka DP.Chronic dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibition with sitagliptin is associated with sustained protection against ischemic left ventricular dysfunction in a pilot study of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. *Circulation Cardiovascular Imaging* 2014; 7(2):274-81.

McGuire DK, Van de Werf F, Armstrong PW, et al. Association Between Sitagliptin Use and Heart Failure Hospitalization and Related Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Cardiology* 2016; 1(2):126-135.

McIntyre, N., Holdsworth, C. D., and Turner, D. S. (1964). New interpretation of oral glucose tolerance. *Lancet* 2, 20–21.

McIntosh CHS. Incretin-based Therapies for Type 2 Diabetes. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes* 2008; 32(2):131-139.

Meda P. Protein-Mediated Interactions of Pancreatic Islet Cells. *Scientifica* 2013; 2013: 621249.

Meier JJ, Gallwitz B, Siepmann N, et al. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) dose-dependently stimulates glucagon secretion in healthy human subjects at euglycaemia. *Diabetologia* 2003; 46: 798–801.

Meier JJ, Gallwitz B, Salmen S, Goetze O, Holst JJ, SchmidtWE, Nauck MA. Normalization of glucose concentrations and deceleration of gastric emptying after solid meals during intravenous glucagon-like peptide 1 in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2003; 88:2719–2725.

Menon S, Rajesh G, Balakrishnan V. Pancreas and Diabetes Mellitus: The Relationship between the Organ and the Disease. *Journal of the Association of Physicians of India* 2015; 63: 51 – 58.

Mezzano S, Droguett A, Eugenia Burgos M, et al. Reninangiotensin system activation and interstitial inflammation in human diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney International* 2003; 64(86):S64–S70.

Migoya EM, Stevens CH, Bergman AJ, et al. Effect of moderate hepatic insufficiency on the pharmacokinetics of sitagliptin. *Canadian Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2009; 16(1):165–70.

Mima A. Incretin-Based Therapy for Prevention of Diabetic Vascular Complications. *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2016; 2016: 1379274.

Min HS, Kim JE, Lee MH, Song HK, Kang YS, Lee MJ, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor protects against renal interstitial fibrosis in a mouse model of ureteral obstruction. *Laboratory Investigation* 2014; 94(6):598–607.

Mistry GC, Maes AL, Lasseter KC, et al. Effect of sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, on blood pressure in nondiabetic patients with mild to moderate hypertension. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2008; 48(5):592-8.

Mita T, Katakami N, , Shiraiwa T, Yoshii T, Onuma T, Kuribayashi N, Osonoi T, Kaneto H, Kosugi K, Umayahara Y, Yamamoto T, Matsumoto K, Yokoyama H,Tsugawa M, Gosho M, Shimomura I, Watada I. Sitagliptin Attenuates the Progression of Carotid Intima-Media Thickening in InsulinTreated Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: The Sitagliptin Preventive Study of Intima-Media Thickness Evaluation (SPIKE): A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Diabetes Care* 2016; 39(3):455-64.

Mitic B, Lazarevic G, Vlahovic P, et al. Diagnostic value of the aminopeptidase N, N-acetyl-beta-D-glucosaminidase and dipeptidyl peptidase IV in evaluating tubular dysfunction in patients with glomerulopathies. *Renal Failure* 2008; 30:896–903.

Miyawaki K, Yamada Y, Ban N, et al. Inhibition of gastric inhibitory polypeptide signaling prevents obesity. *Nature Medicine* 2002; 8: 738–742.

Mizuno CS, Chittiboyina AG, Kurtz TW, Pershadsingh HA, Avery MA. Type 2 diabetes and oral antihyperglycemic drugs. *Current Medicinal Chemistry* 2008; 15(1):61-74.

Mohan V, Yang W, Son HY, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes in China, India, and Korea. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2009; 83(1): 106–16.

Monami M, Ahren B, Dicembrini I, Mannucci E. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2013; 15(2): 112–20.

Moran A, Zhang HJ, Olson LK, Harmon JS, Poitout V and Robertson RP. Differentiation of glucose toxicity from beta cell exhaustion during the evolution of defective insulin gene expression in the pancreatic islet cell line, HIT-T15. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1997; 99: 534-539.

Morano S, Cipriani R, Santangelo C, Fallarino M, Carnovale A, Mandosi E, Gatti A, Sensi M, Di Mario U. Angiotensin blockade and matrix synthesis by glomerular epithelial cells in high glucose: a further experimental insight into the pathophysiology of diabetic nephropathy. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2008; 159(3): 151-4.

Morcos M, Sayed AAR, Bierhaus A et al. Activation of tubular epithelial cells in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes* 2002; 51(12):3532–3544.

Moritoh Y, Takeuchi K, Asakawa T, Kataoka O, Odaka H. The dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor alogliptin in combination with pioglitazone improves glycemic control, lipid profiles, and increases pancreatic insulin content in ob/ob mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2009; 602: 448–54.

Mu J, Petrov A, Eiermann GJ, Woods J, Zhou YP, Li Z, et al. Inhibition of DPP-4 with sitagliptin improves glycemic control and restores islet cell mass and function in a rodent model of type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2009; 623: 148–54.

Mu J, Woods J, Zhou YP, Roy RS, Li Z, Zycband E, Feng Y, Zhu L, Li C, Howard AD, Moller DE, Thornberry NA, Zhang BB. Chronic inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 with a sitagliptin analog preserves pancreatic beta-cell mass and function in a rodent model of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2006; 55(6):1695-704.

Mulvihill EE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, physiology, and mechanisms of action of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors. *Endocrine Reviews* 2014; 35(6):992-1019.

Muskiet MHA, Smits MM, Morsink LM, Diamant M. The gut–renal axis: do incretin-based agents confer renoprotection in diabetes? *Nature Reviews Nephrology* 2014; 10, 88–103.

Nachnani JS, Bulchandani DG, Nookala A, Herndon B, Molteni A, Pandya P, Taylor R, Quinn T, Weide L, Alba LM. Biochemical and histological effects of exendin-4 (exenatide) on the rat pancreas. *Diabetologia* 2010; 53(1):153–159.

Nakashima S, Matsui T, Takeuchi M, Yamagishi SI. Linagliptin blocks renal damage in type 1 diabetic rats by suppressing advanced glycation end products-receptor axis. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 2014; 46: 717–721.

Nangaku M. Chronic hypoxia and tubulointerstitial injury: a final common pathway to endstage renal failure. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2006; 17:17–25.

Narres M, Claessen H, Droste S, Kvitkina T, Koch M, Kuss O, Icks A. The Incidence of End-Stage Renal Disease in the Diabetic (Compared to the Non-Diabetic) Population: A Systematic Review. *PLoS ONE* 2016; 11(1): e0147329.

Natalicchio A, de Stefano F, Orlando MR, et al. Exendin-4 prevents c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase activation by Tumor Necrosis Factor- α (TNF α) and inhibits TNF α -induced apoptosis in insulin-secreting cells. *Endocrinology* 2010; 151(5):2019–2029.

Nathan DM, McGee P, Steffes MW, Lachin JM, DCCT/EDIC Research Group. Relationship of glycated albumin to blood glucose and HbA1c values and to retinopathy, nephropathy, and cardiovascular outcomes in the DCCT/EDIC study. *Diabetes* 2014; 63:282–290.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Type 2 diabetes in adults: management. NICE guidelines [NG28] 2015. Retrieved 8th June from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng28/chapter/1-recommendations.

Nauck M, Smith U. Incretin-based therapy: how do incretin mimetics and DPP-4 inhibitors fit into treatment algorithms for type 2 diabetic patients? *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2009; 23: 513–23.

Nauck MA, Baller B, Meier JJ. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1 in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2004; 53:190–6.

Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Behle K, et al. Effects of glucagon- like peptide 1 on counterregulatory hormone responses, cognitive functions, and insulin secretion during hyperinsulinemic, stepped hypoglycemic clamp experiments in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2002; 87: 1239–1246.

Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W. Preserved incretin activity of glucagon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1993; 91(1):301-7.

Nauck MA, Homberger E, Siegel EG, et al. Incretin effects of increasing glucose loads in man calculated from venous insulin and C-peptide responses. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 1986; 63 (2): 492-8.

Nauck MA, Meininger G, Sheng D, et al. Efficacy and safety of the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, sitagliptin, compared with the sulfonylurea, glipizide, in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on metformin alone: a randomized, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2007; 9(2):194–205.

Nauck MA, Vilsbøll T, Gallwitz B, Garber A, Madsbad S. Incretin-Based Therapies: Viewpoints on the way to consensus. *Diabetes Care* 2009; 32(2):S223–S231.

Nauck MA. Update on developments with SGLT2 inhibitors in the management of type 2 diabetes. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*. 2014; 8:1335-1380.

Nauck MA. A critical analysis of the clinical use of incretin- based therapies: The benefits by far outweigh the potential risks.*Diabetes Care* 2013; 36: 2126–2132.

Navarro JF, Mora C. Diabetes, inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, and diabetic nephropathy. *TheScientific- WorldJOURNAL* 2006; (6):908–917.

Navarro-González JF, Mora-Fernández C. The role of inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2008; 19:433–442

Nelson CL, C. S. Karschimkus, G. Dragicevic et al. Systemic and vascular inflammation is elevated in early IgA and type 1 diabetic nephropathies and relates to vascular disease risk factors and renal function. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2005; 20(11):2420–2426.

Neumiller JJ. Incretin-Based Therapies. In: Hirsch IB, ed. *Diabetes Management, An Issue of Medical Clinics of North America*. Elsevier Inc., 2015.

Neumiller JJ; Hirsch IB. Management of Hyperglycemia in Diabetic Kidney Disease. Diabetes Spectrum 2015 Aug; 28(3): 214-219.

Nichols GA, Hillier TA, Brown JB. Progression From Newly Acquired Impaired Fasting Glusose to Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2007; 30 (2): 228–233.

Nikolova G, Jabs N, Konstantinova I, et al. The vascular basement membrane: a niche for insulin gene expression and beta cell proliferation. *Developmental Cell* 2006; 10:397–405.

Ninichuk V, Khandoga AG, Segerer S, Loetscher P, Schlapbach A, Revesz L, Feifel R, Khandoga A, Krombach F, Nelson PJ, Schlöndorff D, Anders HJ. The role of interstitial macrophages in nephropathy of type 2 diabetic db/db mice. *American Journal Of Pathology* 2007;170(4):1267-76.

Noh H, King GL. The role of protein kinase C activation in diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney International* 2007; 106:S49-53.

Nonaka K, Kakikawa T, Sato A, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin monotherapy in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2008; 79(2):291–8.

Noonan WT, Shaprio VM, Banks RO. Renal glucose reabsorption during hypertonic glucose infusion in female streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Life Sciencesl* 2001; 68:2967–2977.

Nugent DA, Smith DM, Jones HB. A Review of Islet of Langerhans Degeneration in Rodent Models of Type 2 Diabetes. *Toxicologic Pathology* 2008; 36(4): 529-551.

Observatório Nacional da Diabetes. Diabetes: Factos e Números – O Ano de 2014– Relatório Anual do Observatório Nacional da Diabetes. Retrieved 9th June from: http://unidospeladiabetes.pt/media/articles/files/Diabetes_Factos_e_Numeros_2015-1449249192.pdf

Ogawa S, Ishiki M, Nako K, Okamura M, Senda M, Mori T, Ito S. Sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, decreases systolic blood pressure in Japanese hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2011; 223(2):133-5, 2011.

Ohga S, Shikata K, Yozai K et al. Thiazolidinedione ameliorates renal injury in experimental diabetic rats through anti-inflammatory effects mediated by inhibition of NF-κB activation. *American Journal of Physiology: Renal Physiology* 2007; 292(4): F1141–F1150.

Omar BA, Liehua L, Yamada Y, Seino Y, Marchetti P, Ahren B. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4) is expressed in mouse and human islets and its activity is decreased in human islets from individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2014; 57(9):1876–83.

Omar BA, Vikman J, Winzell MS, Voss U, Ekblad E, Foley JE, Ahrén B. Enhanced beta cell function and anti-inflammatory effect after chronic treatment with the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor vildagliptin in an advanced-aged diet-induced obesity mouse model. *Diabetologia* 2013; 56(8):1752-60.

Ostertag A, Jones A, Rose AJ, Liebert M, Kleinsorg S, Reimann A, Vegiopoulos A, Berriel Diaz M, Strzoda D, Yamamoto M, Satoh T, Akira S, Herzig S. Control of adipose tissue inflammation through TRB. *Diabetes* 2010; 59:1991–2000.

Oyadomari S, Harding HP, Zhang Y, Oyadomari M, Ron D Dephosphorylation of translation initiation factor 2alpha enhances glucose tolerance and attenuates hepatosteatosis in mice. *Cell Metabolism* 2008; 7:520–532.

Ozkok A, Ravichandran K, Wang Q, Ljubanovic D, Edelstein CL. NF-κB transcriptional inhibition ameliorates cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury (AKI). *Toxicology Letters* 2016; 240(1):105-13.

Ozougwu JC, Obimba, KC, Belonwu CD, Unakalamba CB. The pathogenesis and pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Physiology and Pathophysiology* 2013; 4(4): 46-57.

Panchapakesan U, Pegg K, Gross S, Komala MG, Mudaliar H, Forbes J, Pollock C, Mather A. Effects of SGLT2 inhibition in human kidney proximal tubular cells--renoprotection in diabetic nephropathy? *PLoS One* 2013; 8(2):e54442.

Panchapakesan U, Pollock C. The Role of Dipeptidyl Peptidase – 4 Inhibitors in Diabetic Kidney Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2015; 6:443.

Gao P, He F-F, Tang H, et al. NADPH Oxidase-Induced NALP3 Inflammasome Activation Is Driven by Thioredoxin-Interacting Protein Which Contributes to Podocyte Injury in Hyperglycemia. *Journal of Diabetes Research* 2015; 2015: 504761.

Pappachan JM, Raveendran A, Sriraman R. Incretin manipulation in diabetes management. *World Journal of Diabetes*. 2015; 6(6):774-781.

Parnaud G, Hammar E, Ribaux P, Donath MY, Berney T, Halban PA. Signaling Pathways Implicated in the Stimulation of β -Cell Proliferation by Extracellular Matrix. *Molecular Endocrinology* 2011; 23(8): 1264–1271.

Pascoe J, Hollern D, Stamateris R, Abbasi M, Romano LC, Zou B, O'Donnell CP, Garcia-Ocana A, Alonso LC. Free Fatty Acids Block Glucose-Induced b-Cell Proliferation in Mice by Inducing Cell Cycle Inhibitors p16 and p18. *Diabetes* 2012; 61: 632- 641.

Pénicaud L, Fioramonti X, Lorsignol A, Bénani A, Leloup C. La sensibilité cérébrale au glucose. *Bulletin de l'Académie Nationale de Médecine* 2007; 191:923-31; discussion 932.

Pérez-Matute P, Zulet MA, Martínez JA. Reactive species and diabetes: counteracting oxidative stress to improve health. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology 2009*; 9(6):771–779.

Peterson RG, Neel MA, Little LA, Kincaid JC, Eichberg J. Zucker diabetic fatty rats as a model for non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *ILAR News 1990*; 32:16–19.

Phillips LK, Prins JB. Update on incretin hormones. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2011; 1243:E55-74.

Phillips AO, Janssen U, Floege J. Progression of diabetic nephropathy. Insights from cell culture studies and animal models. *Kidney and Blood Pressure Research* 1999; 22(1-2):81–97.

Picatoste B, Ramírez E, Caro-Vadillo A, et al. Sitagliptin reduces cardiac apoptosis, hypertrophy and fibrosis primarily by insulin-dependent mechanisms in experimental type-II diabetes. Potential roles of GLP-1 isoforms. *PLoS ONE* 2013; 8(10).

Pitman MR, Menz RI, Abbott CA. Hydrophilic residues surrounding the S1 and S2 pockets contribute to dimerisation and catalysis in human dipeptidyl peptidase 8 (DP8). *Biological Chemistry* 2010; 391(8).959-72.

Pitocco D, Zaccardi F, Di Stasio E et al. Oxidative stress, nitric oxide, and diabetes. *Review of Diabetic Studies* 2010; 7(1):15–25, 2010.

Piya MK, McTernan PG, Kumar S. Adipokine inflammation and insulin resistance: the role of glucose, lipids and endotoxin. *Journal of Endocrinology* 2013; 216:T1–T15.

Plosker GL. Sitagliptin: a review of its use in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Drugs* 2014; 74:223–242.

Poitout V, Robertson RP. Glucolipotoxicity: fuel excess and beta-cell dysfunction. *Endocrine Reviews* 2008; 29:351-66.

Poitout V, Robertson RP. Minireview: secondary β -cell failure in type 2 diabetes—a convergence of glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity. *Endocrinology* 2002; 143, (2):339–342.

Prié D. Familial renal glycosuria and modifications of glucose renal excretion. *Diabetes & Metabolism* 2014; 40(S1):S12-6.

Prudente S, Hribal ML, Flex E, Turchi F, Morini E, De Cosmo S, Bacci S, Tassi V, Cardellini M, Lauro R, Sesti G, Dallapiccola B, Trischitta V: The functional Q84R polymorphism of mammalian Tribbles homolog TRB3 is associated with insulin resistance and related cardiovascular risk in Caucasians from Italy. *Diabetes* 2005; 54:2807–2811.

Prudente S, Scarpelli D, Chandalia M, Zhang YY, Morini E, Del Guerra S, Perticone F, Li R, Powers C, Andreozzi F, Marchetti P, Dallapiccola B, Abate N, Doria A, Sesti G, Trischitta V. The TRIB3 Q84R Polymorphism and Risk of Early-Onset Type 2 Diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2009; 94(1):190–196.

Prudente S, Sesti G, Pandolfi A, Andreozzi F, Consoli A, Trischitta V. The mammalian tribbles homolog TRIB3, glucose homeostasis, and cardiovascular diseases. *Endocrine Reviews* 2012; 33(4):526–546.

Pulgaron ER, Delamater AM. Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes in Children: Epidemiology and Treatment. *Current diabetes reports* 2014; 14(8):508.

Qin Z, Sun Z, Huang J, Hu Y, Wu Z, Mei B. Mutated recombinant human glucagon-like peptide-1 protects SH-SY5Y cells from apoptosis induced by amyloid- β peptide (1-42). *Neuroscience Letters* 2008; 444(3):217–221.

Quesada I, Todorova MG & Soria B. Different metabolic responses in a-b-, and d-cells of the islet of Langerhans monitored by redox confocal microscopy. *Biophysical Journal* 2006; 90:2641–2650.

Quoyer J, LonguetC, Broca C, et al. GLP-1 mediates antiapoptotic effect by phosphorylating bad through a β -arrestin 1-mediated ERK1/2 activation in pancreatic β -cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2010; 285(3):1989–2002.

Rains LL, Jain SK. Oxidative stress, insulin signaling, and diabetes. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2011; 50(5):567–575.

Ranganath LR. The entero-insular axis: implications for human metabolism. *Clinical Chemical Laboratorial Medicine* 2008a; 46(1):43-56.

Ranganath LR. Incretins: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1. *Journal of Clinical Pathology* . 2008b; 61(4):401-9.

Rayman G. Glycaemic control, glucose variability and the Triangle of Diabetes Care. *British Journal of Diabetes* 2016; 16(S1):S3-S6.

Raz I, Chen Y, Wu M, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin added to ongoing metformin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 2008; 24(2):537–50.

Raz I, Hanefeld M, Xu L, et al. Efficacy and safety of the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin as monotherapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 2006; 49(11):2564–71.

Read PA, Khan FZ, Heck PM, Hoole SP, Dutka DP. DPP-4 inhibition by sitagliptin improves the myocardial response to dobutamine stress and mitigates stunning in a pilot study of patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation Cardiovascular Imaging* 2010; 3(2):195-201.

Rejeski WJ, Ip EH, Bertoni AG, et al. Lifestyle change and mobility in obese adults with type 2 diabetes. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2012; 366(13):1209–17.

Riddle MC. Glycemic management of type 2 diabetes: an emerging strategy with oral agents, insulins, and combinations. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America* 2005; 34:77-98.

Rivero A, Mora C, Muros M, García J, Herrera H, Navarro-González JF. Pathogenic perspectives for the role of inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. *Clinical Science* 2009; 116(6):479-92.

Röder PV, Wu B, Liu Y, Han W. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*. 2016; 48(3):e219-.

Robertson RP. Oxidative stress and impaired insulin secretion in type 2 diabetes. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 2006; 6:615-619.

Robertson RP: Chronic oxidative stress as a central mechanism for glucose toxicity in pancreatic islet beta cells in diabetes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004, 279:42351–42354.

Rodriguez EM, et al. The design of barriers in the hypothalamus allows the median eminence and the arcuate nucleus to enjoy private milieus: the former opens to the portal blood and the latter to the cerebrospinal fluid. *Peptides* 2010; 31:757–776.

Roehrich ME, Mooser V, Lenain V, Herz J, Nimpf J, Azhar S, Bideau M, Capponi A, Nicod P, Haefliger JA, Waeber G: Insulin secreting beta-cell dysfunction induced by human lipoproteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003; 278: 18368–18375.

Röhrborn D, Wronkowitz N, Eckel J. DPP4 in Diabetes. *Frontiers in Immunology* 2015; 6:386.

Rolo AP, Palmeira CM. Diabetes and mitochondrial function: role of hyperglycemia and oxidative stress. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 2006; 212(2):167–178, 2006.

Romacho T, Vallejo S, Villalobos LA, Wronkowitz N, Indrakusuma I, Sell H, Eckel J, Sánchez-Ferrer CF, Peiró C. Soluble dipeptidyl peptidase-4 induces microvascular endothelial dysfunction through proteinase-activated receptor-2 and thromboxane A2 release. *Journal of Hypertension*; 2016 May; 34(5):869-76.

Rosario RF, Prabhakar S. Lipids and diabetic nephropathy. *Current Diabetes Reports* 2006; (6)6:455–462.

Rosenstock J, Zinman B. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors and the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology Diabetes and Obesity* 2007; 14(2):98–107.

Rotz ME, Ganetsky VS, Sen S, Thomas TF. Implications of Incretin-based Therapies on Cardiovascular Disease. *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 2015; 69(5):531-549.

Round E, Shentu Y, Golm GT, et al. Safety and efficacy of sitagliptin added to the combination of sulfonylurea and metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and inadequate

glycemic control (Abstract). 73rd Annual Meeting of the American Diabetes Association; 21–25 June. 2013; Chicago (IL).

Russell-Jones D, Gough S. Recent Advances in Incretin-Based Therapies. *Clinical Endocrinology* 2012; 77(4):489-499.

Rütti S, Ehses JA, Rohrer L, Prazak R, von Eckardstein A, Donath MY: High density lipoprotein protects human and mouse pancreatic islets from high glucose and interleukin-1 beta induced apoptosis. *Diabetes* 2007; 56 (S1):A27.

Ryskjaer J, Deacon CF, Carr RD, et al. Plasma dipeptidyl peptidase-IV activity in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus correlates positively with HbAlc levels, but is not acutely affected by food intake. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 2006; 155(3).485-93.

Sahoo K, Sahoo B, Choudhury AK, Sofi NY, Kumar R, Bhadoria AS. Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care* 2015; 4(2):187-192.

Saha S, Li Y, Anand-Srivastava MB. Reduced levels of cyclic AMP contribute to the enhanced oxidative stress in vascular smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology* 2008; 86: 190–198.

Salles TA, dos Santos L, Barauna VG, Girardi ACC. Potential Role of Dipeptidyl Peptidase IV in the Pathophysiology of Heart Failure. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2015; 16(2):4226-4249.

Sanchez- Niño MD, Benito-Martin A, Ortiz A. New paradigms in cell death in human diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney International* 2010; 78(8):737–744.

Sanz AB, Santamaría B, Ruiz-Ortega M, Egido J, Ortiz A. Mechanisms of renal apoptosis in health and disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2008; 19(9):1634-42.

Saraheimo M, Teppo AM, Forsblom C, Fagerudd J, Groop PH. Diabetic nephropathy is associated with low-grade inflammation in Type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 2003; 46(10):1402-7.

Satoh-Asahara N, Sasaki Y, Wada H, Tochiya M, Iguchi A, Nakagawachi R, Odori S, Kono S, Hasegawa K, Shimatsu A. A dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, sitagliptin, exerts antiinflammatory effects in type 2 diabetic patients. *Metabolism* 2013; 62(3):347–351.

Sayed MR, Iman MM, Dawlat AS. Biochemical changes in experimental diabetes before and after treatment with mangifera indica and psidium guava extracts. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Sciences* 2011; 2:29–41,2011.

Scheen AJ. Pharmacokinetics of dipeptidylpeptidase-4 inhibitors," *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2010; 12(8):648-58.

Schlatter P, Beglinger C, Drewe J et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor expression in primary porcine proximal tubular cells. *Regulatory Peptides* 2007;141: 120–128.

Schrijvers BF, Flyvbjerg A, Tilton RG, Lameire NH, De Vriese AS. A neutralizing VEGF antibody prevents glomerular hypertrophy in a model of obese type 2 diabetes, the Zucker diabetic fatty rat. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*. 2006; 21(2):324-9.

Schöfer S, Schmidts HL, Bleich M, Busch AE, Linz W. Nephroprotection in Zucker diabetic fatty rats by vasopeptidase inhibition is partly bradykinin B2 receptor dependent. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2004; 143(1):27–32.

Sego S. Pathophysiology of diabetic nephropathy. *Nephrology Nursing Journal.* 2007; 34(6): 631-3.

Seino Y, Fukushima M, Yabe D. GIP and GLP-1, the two incretin hormones: Similarities and differences. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation* 2010; 1(1-2):8-23.

Seshadri KG, Kirubha MHB. A new class of oral antidiabetic agents. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2009; 71:608–614.

Shah Z, Kampfrath T, Deiuliis JA, Zhong J,,Pineda C, Ying,Z, Xu X, Lu B, Moffatt-Bruce S, Durairaj R, et al. Long-term dipeptidyl-peptidase 4 inhibition reduces atherosclerosis and inflammation via effects on monocyte recruitment and chemotaxis. *Circulation* 2011; 124:2338–2349.

Shah P, Ardestani A, Dharmadhikari G, Laue S, Schumann DM, Kerr-Conte J, Pattou F, Klein T, Maedler K. The DPP-4 inhibitor linagliptin restores beta-cell function and survival in human isolated islets through GLP-1 stabilization. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2013; 98:E1163–E1172.

Sharma RB, O'Donnell AC, Stamateris RE, et al. Insulin demand regulates β cell number via the unfolded protein response. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2015; 125(10):3831-3846.

Shi S, Koya D, Kanasaki K. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 and kidney fibrosis in diabetes. *Fibrogenesis & Tissue Repair* 2016; 9:1.

Shimoda M, Kanda Y, Hamamoto S, Tawaramoto K, Hashiramoto M, Matsuki M, Kaku K. The human glucagon-like peptide-1 analogue liraglutide preserves pancreatic beta cells via regulation of cell kinetics and suppression of oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress in a mouse model of diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2011; 54(5):1098–1108.

Shinosaki T, Kobayashi T, Kimura K et al. Involvement of dipeptidyl peptidase IV in immune complex-mediated glomerulonephritis. *Laboratory Investigation* 2002; 82: 505–513.

Shirakawa J, Okuyama T, Kyohara M, et al. DPP-4 inhibition improves early mortality, β cell function, and adipose tissue inflammation in db/db mice fed a diet containing sucrose and linoleic acid. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome*. 2016; 8:16.

Shirakawa J, Amo K, Ohminami H, Orime K, Togashi Y, Ito Y, Tajima K, Koganei M, Sasaki H, Takeda E, Terauchi Y. Protective effects of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor against increased beta cell apoptosis induced by dietary sucrose and linoleic acid in mice with diabetes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*2011a; 286:25467–25476.

Shirakawa J, Fujii H, Ohnuma K, Sato K, Ito Y, Kaji M, Sakamoto E, Koganei M, Sasaki H, Nagashima Y, Amo K, Aoki K, Morimoto C, Takeda E, Terauchi Y. Diet-induced adipose tissue inflammation and liver steatosis are prevented by DPP-4 inhibition in diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 2011b; 60:1246–1257.

Shoelson SE, Lee J, Goldfine AB. Inflammation and insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2006; 116:1793-801.

SIGN - *Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network*. Management of diabetes. A national clinical guideline 2010; Part of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland. ISBN 9781 905813 58 2

Silva Júnior WS, Godoy-Matos AF, Kraemer-Aguiar LG. Dipeptidyl Peptidase 4: A New Link between Diabetes Mellitus and Atherosclerosis? *Biomed Research International* 2015; 2015: 816164.

Singh DK, Winocour P, Farrington K. Oxidative stress in early diabetic nephropathy: fueling the fire. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 2011; 7(3): 176-84.

Singh VP, Bali A, Singh N, Jaggi AS. Advanced Glycation End Products and Diabetic Complications. *The Korean Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology : Official Journal of the Korean Physiological Society and the Korean Society of Pharmacology* 2014; 18(1):1-14.

Soleza K, Colvinb RB, Racusen LC, et al. Banff 07 Classification of Renal Allograft Pathology: Updates and Future Directions. Meeting Report *American Journal of Transplantation* 2008; 8: 753–760.

Srinivasan BT, Jarvis J, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Recent advances in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 2008; 84(996): 524-31.

Stefanovic V, Ardaillou N, Vlahovic P, et al. Interferon-gamma induces dipeptidyl peptidase IV expression in human glomerular epithelial cells. *Immunology* 1993; 80:465–470.

Stewart JH, McCredie MR, Williams SM, Jager KJ, Trpeski L, McDonald SP; ESRD Incidence Study Group. Trends in incidence of treated end-stage renal disease, overall and by primary renal disease, in persons aged 20-64 years in Europe, Canada and the Asia-Pacific region, 1998-2002. *Nephrology* 2007; 12(5):520-7.

Stumvoll M. Control of glycaemia: from molecules to men. *Diabetologia* 2004; 47: 770-781.

Subbarayan S, Kipnes M. Sitagliptin: a review. *Expert Opinion Pharmacotherapy* 2011,12(10):1613-22.

Suzaki Y, Ozawa Y, Kobori H. Intrarenal oxidative stress and augmented angiotensinogen are precedent to renal injury in zucker diabetic fatty rats. *International Journal of Biological Sciences* 2006; 3(1):40–46.

Susztak K, Raff AC, Schiffer M, Böttinger EP. Glucose-induced reactive oxygen species cause apoptosis of podocytes and podocyte depletion at the onset of diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes* 2006; 55(1):225-33.

Takeda Y, Fujita Y, Honjo J, Yanagimachi T, Sakagami H, Takiyama Y, Makino Y, Abiko A, Kieffer TJ, Haneda M. Reduction of both beta cell death and alpha cell proliferation by dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibition in a streptozotocin-induced model of diabetes in mice. *Diabetologia* 2012; 55(2):404-12.

Talior I, Yarkoni M, Bashan N, Eldar-Finkelman H: Increased glucose uptake promotes oxidative stress and PKC-delta activation in adipocytes of obese, insulin-resistant mice. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 2003, 285(2):E295-E302.

Tan T, Bloom S. Gut hormones as therapeutic agents in treatment of diabetes and obesity. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* 2013; 13(6):996-1001.

Tanaka T, Higashijima Y, Wada T, Nangaku M. The potential for renoprotection with incretinbased drugs. *Kidney International* 2014; 86, 701–711.

Tambascia MA, Malerbi DAC, Eliaschewitz FG. Influence of gastric emptying on the control of postprandial glycemia: physiology and therapeutic implications. *Einstein*. 2014; 12(2):251-253.

Tangvarasittichai S. Oxidative stress, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *World Journal of Diabetes* 2015; 6(3):456-480.

Tanji N, Markowitz GS, Fu C, Kislinger T, Taguchi A, Pischetsrieder M, Stern D, Schmidt AM, D'Agati VD. Expression of advanced glycation end products and their cellular receptor RAGE in diabetic nephropathy and nondiabetic renal disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2000; 11(9):1656-66.

Tasyurek HM, Altunbas HA, Balci MK, Sanlioglu S. Incretins: their physiology and application in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 2014;30(5):354-71.

Teixeira de Lemos E, Oliveira J, Páscoa Pinheiro J, Reis F. Regular Physical Exercise as a Strategy to Improve Antioxidant and Anti-Inflammatory Status: Benefits in Type 2 DiabetesMellitus. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2012; 2012:741545.

Teixeira de Lemos E, Reis F Baptista S, Garrido AP, Pinto R, Sepodes B, Vala H, Rocha-Pereira P, Santos Silva A, Teixeira F. Exercise training is associated with improved levels of C-reactive protein and adiponectin in ZDF (type 2) diabetic rats. *Medical Science Monitor* 2007; 13:168-174.

Teixeira-Lemos E, Nunes S, Teixeira F, Reis F. Regular physical exercise training assists in preventing type 2 diabetes development: focus on its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 2011; 10:12.

Tervaert TWC, Mooyaart AL, Amann K, Cohen AH, Cook HT, Drachenberg CB, Ferrario F, Fogo AB, Haas M, de Heer E, Joh K, Noel LH, Radhakrishnan J, Seshan SV, Bajema IM, Bruijn JA, on behalf of the RenalPathology Society. Pathologic Classification of Diabetic Nephropathy. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2010; 2010: 10.1681.

Tews D, Lehr S, Hartwig A, Osmers A, Paslack W, Eckel J. Anti-apoptotic action of exendin-4 in INS-1 beta cells: comparative protein pattern analysis of isolated mitochondria. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 2009; 41(4):294–301.

Thangarajaha H, Yaob D, Changa EI, Shia Y, Jazayeria L, Viala IN, Galianoa RD, Dub XL, Grogana R, Galveza MG, Januszyka M, Brownleeb M, Gurtnera GC. The molecular basis for impaired hypoxia-induced VEGF expression in diabetic tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2009; 106 (32):13505–13510.

Toft-Nielsen MB, Damholt MB, Madsbad S, Hilsted LM, Hughes TE, Michelsen BK, Holst JJ. Determinants of the impaired secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 in type 2 diabetic patients. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2001; 86(8):3717–3723.

Tone A, Shikata K, Sasaki M et al. Erythromycin ameliorates renal injury via anti-inflammatory effects in experimental diabetic rats. *Diabetologia* 2005; 48(11):2402–2411.

Tonolo G, Cherchi S. Tubulointerstitial disease in diabetic nephropathy. *International Journal of Nephrology and Renovascular Disease*. 2014;7:107-115.

Tramonti G, Kanwar YS.. Tubular biomarkers to assess progression of diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney International* 2011; 79(10):1042-4.

Triplitt CL. Examining the mechanisms of glucose regulation. *American Journal of Managed Care* 2012a; 18(1):S4-10.

Triplitt CL. Understanding the kidneys' role in blood glucose regulation. *American Journal of Managed Care* 2012 b Jan; 18(1 Suppl):S11-6.

Troke RC, Tan TM, Bloom SR. The future role of gut hormones in the treatment of obesity. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis* 2014; 5(1):4-14.

Trumper A, Trumper K, Trusheim H, et al. Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide is a growth factor for beta (INS-1) cells by pleiotropic signaling. *Molecular Endocrinology* 2001; 15:1559–1570.

Unger J. Incretins: clinical perspectives, relevance, and applications for the primary care physician in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 2010; 85(S12):S38-49.

Vaghasiya J, Sheth N, Bhalodia Y, Manek R. Sitagliptin protects renal ischemia reperfusion induced renal damage in diabetes. *Regulatory Peptides* 2011; 166(1–3): 48–54.

Van den Brand JAJG. Diabetes mellitus as a cause of end-stage renal disease in Europe: signs of improvement. *Clinical Kidney Journal* 2016; 2016: 101093.

Van Genugten RE, van Raalte DH, Diamant M. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors and preservation of pancreatic islet-cell function: a critical appraisal of the evidence. *Diabetes Obesity and Metabolism* 2012; 14:101–111.

Van Poppel PCM, Netea MG, Smits P, Tack C. Vildagliptin improves endothelium-dependent vasodilatation in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2011; 34(9):2072–2077.

Vavrinec P, Henning RH, Landheer SW, Wang Y, Deelman LE, Dokkum RP, Buikema H. Vildagliptin restores renal myogenic function and attenuates renal sclerosis independently of effects on blood glucose or proteinuria in Zucker diabetic fatty rat. *Current Vascular Pharmacology* 2014; 12: 836–844.

Verspohl EJ. Novel therapeutics for type 2 diabetes: Incretin hormone mimetics (glucagon-like-peptide-1 receptor agonists) and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 2009; 124:113–38.

Verzola D, Bertolotto MB, Villaggio B, et al. Taurine prevents apoptosis induced by high ambient glucose in human tubule renal cells. *Journal of Investigative Medicine* 2002; 50(6): 443–451, 2002.

Vilsboll T, Krarup T, Madsbad S, et al. Defective amplification of the late phase insulin response to glucose by GIP in obese type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 2002; 45: 1111–1119.

Vilsboll T, Rosenstock J, Yki-Jarvinen H, et al. Efficacy and safety of sitagliptin when added to insulin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2010; 12(2): 167–77.

Vincent AM, Callaghan BC, Smith AL, Feldman EL. Diabetic neuropathy: cellular mechanisms as therapeutic targets. *Nature Reviews Neurology* 2011; 7:573–583.

Virally M, Blicklé JF, Girard J, Halimi S, Simon D, Guillausseau PJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: epidemiology, pathophysiology, unmet needs and therapeutical perspectives. *Diabetic Medicine* 2007; 33:231–244.

Von Websky K, Reichetzedera C, Hochera B. Physiology and pathophysiology of incretins in the kidney *Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension* 2014; 23(1):54-60

Vora JP, Zimsen SM, Houghton DC, Anderson S. Evolution of metabolic and renal changes in the ZDF/Drt-fa ratmodel of type II diabetes. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 1996; 7(1):113–117.

Wagener FADTG, Dekker D, Berden JH, Scharstuhl A, van der Vlag J. The role of reactive oxygen species in apoptosis of the diabetic kidney. *Apoptosis* 2009; 14(12):1451-1458.

Wajchenberg BL. β-Cell Failure in Diabetes and Preservation by Clinical Treatment. *Endocrine Reviews* 2013; 2013:10.1210.

Wakai K, Nakai S, Kikuchi K, Iseki K, Miwa N, Masakane I, Wada A, Shinzato T, Nagura Y, Akiba T. Trends in incidence of end-stage renal disease in Japan, 1983-2000: age-adjusted and age-specific rates by gender and cause. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2004; 19(8): 2044-52.

Walker JN, Ramracheya R, Zhang Q, Johnson PR, Braun M, Rorsman P: Regulation of glucagon secretion by glucose: paracrine, intrinsic or both? *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2011, 13(S1):95–105.

Wang Q, Brubaker P. Glucagon-like peptide-1 treatment delays the onset of diabetes in 8 week-old db/db mice. *Diabetologia* 2002; 45(9):1263–1273.

Wang Y, Landheer S, van Gilst WH et al., Attenuation of renovascular damage in Zucker diabetic fatty rat by NWT-03, an egg protein hydrolysate with ACE- and DPP4-inhibitory Activity. *PLoS ONE* 2012; 7(10).

Wang YG, Shi M, Wang T, Shi T, Wei J, Wang N, Chen XM; Signal transduction mechanism of TRB3 in rats with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 2009; 15(19):2329–2335.

Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Obesity-induced inflammatory changes in adipose tissue. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2003; 112(12):1785–1788.

Whaley-Connell A, Sowers JR. Implications for Glucose Measures in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Study. *Diabetes* 2014;63:45–47.

White K. Histological appearance of Diabetic Nephropathy. *Diapedia* 2014; 5:1014496.

Wideman RD, Kieffer TJ. Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide as a regulator of beta cell function and fate. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 2004; 36(11-12): 782-6.

Wilcox G. Insulin and Insulin Resistance. *Clinical Biochemist Reviews*. 2005; 26(2):19-39.

Williams-Herman D, Johnson J, Teng R, et al. Efficacy and safety of initial combination therapy with sitagliptin and metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes: a 54-week study. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 2009;25(3):569–83.

World Health Organization (WHO). Global Health Observatory Data Repository. Geneva, Switzerland; 2013.

World Health Organization WHO. Fact sheet nº 312, 2008. Retrieved 12th June from: http://www.who.int/mediacenter/factssheet/fs312/en/print.html

WHO - World Health Organization. Prevention of blindness from diabetes mellitus. Report of a WHO Consultation.2006. World health Organization. Retrieved 12th June from: http://www.int/blindness/Prevention%200%f20from%20Mellitus-with-cover-small.pdf

WHO/ IDF. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia Report of a WHO/ IDF Consultation 2006. Retrieved 12th June from: http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/Definition%20and%20diagnosis%20of%20diabetes _new.pdf

World Health Organization: Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020. 2013, Geneva: WHO.

Wu YG, Lin H, Qi XM et al. Prevention of early renal injury by mycophenolate mofetil and its mechanism in experimental diabetes. *International Immunopharmacology* 2006; 6(3):445–453, 2006.

Xiao X, Guo P, Chen Z, et al. Hypoglycemia reduces vascular endothelial growth factor A production by pancreatic beta cells as a regulator of beta cell mass. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*2013; 288:8636–8646.

Xu G, Stoffers DA, Habener JF, et al. Exendin-4 stimulates both beta-cell replication and neogenesis, resulting in increased beta-cell mass and improved glucose tolerance in diabetic rats. *Diabetes* 1999; 48: 2270–2276.

Yabe D, Kuwata H, Kaneko M, Ito C, Nishikino R, Murorani K, Kurose T, Seino Y. Use of the Japanese health insurance claims database to assess the risk of acute pancreatitis in patients with diabetes: comparison of DPP-4 inhibitors with other oral antidiabetic drugs. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2015; 17(4):430–4.

Yabe D, Seino Y. Two incretin hormones GLP-1 and GIP: comparison of their actions in insulin secretion and β cell preservation. *Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology* 2011; 107(2):248-56.

Yagihashi S, Inaba W, Mizukami. H.Dynamic pathology of islet endocrine cells in type 2 diabetes: b-Cell growth, death, regeneration and their clinical implications. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation* 2016; 7: 155–165.

Yang J, Campitelli J, Hu G, et al. Increase in DPP-IV in the intestine, liver and kidney of the rat treated with high fat diet and streptozotocin. *Life Sciencesl* 2007; 81:272–279.

Yang BT, Dayeh TA,Kirkpatrick CL, et al. Insulin promoter DNA methylation correlates negatively with insulin gene expression and positively with HbA(1c) levels in human pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 2011; 54:360–367.

Yano Y, Gabazza EC, Kitagawa N et al. Tumor necrosis, factor- α is associated with increased protein C activation in nonobese type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care* 2004; 27(3):844–845.

Yeom JA, Kim ES, Park HS, Ham DS, Sun C, Kim JW, Cho JH, Yoon KH. Both sitagliptin analogue & pioglitazone preserve the beta-cell proportion in the islets with different mechanism in nonobese and obese diabetic mice. *BMB Reports* 2011; 44(11):713–718.

Yip RG, Boylan MO, Kieffer TJ, et al. Functional GIP receptors are present on adipocytes. *Endocrinology* 1998; 139: 4004–4007.

Yoon JS, Lee HW. Understanding the cardiovascular effects of incretin. *Diabetes and Metabolism Journal* 2011; 35(5): 437–443.

Yozai K, Shikata K, Sasaki M et al. Methotrexate prevents renal injury in experimental diabetic rats via anti-inflammatory actions. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2005; 16(11):3326–3338.

Yu CG, Zhang N, Yuan SS, et al. Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Diabetic Microvascular Complications: Friends or Foes? *Stem Cells International* 2016; 2016:1803989.

Yu M, Moreno C, Hoagland KM, et al. Antihypertensive effect of glucagonlike peptide 1 in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *Journal of Hypertension* 2003; 21:1125–1135.

Zhan Y, Sun HL, Chen H, et al. Glucagon-like peptide- 1 (GLP-1) protects vascular endothelial cells against advanced glycation end products (AGEs)-induced apoptosis. *Medical Science Monitor* 2012; 18(7):BR286–BR291.

Zhang N, Richter A, Suriawinata J, et al. Elevated vascular endothelial growth factor production in islets improves islet graft vascularization. *Diabetes* 2004; 53:963–970.

Zhang X, Wang X, Huang Y, Wang J. Effects of chronic administration of alogliptin on the development of diabetes and β -cell function in high fat diet/streptozotocin diabetic mice. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2011; 13(4)337–347.

Zhou XY, Shibusawa N, Naik K, Porras D, Temple K, Ou H, Kaihara K, Roe MW, Brady MJ, Wondisford FE. Insulin regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis through phosphorylation of CREB-binding protein. *Nature Medicine* 2004;10:633-637.

Zinman B. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: magnitude of the problem and failure to achieve glycaemic control. *Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America* 2006; 35:3-5.